International Agency for Research on Cancer



SC/51/2 GC/57/2 10 December 2014

IARC Interim Annual Report 2014

Contents

Foreword 3
Section of Cancer Surveillance (CSU) 4
Section of IARC Monographs (IMO) 10
Section of Mechanisms of Carcinogenesis (MCA)
Section of Molecular Pathology (MPA) 19
Section of Infections (INF) 23 Infections and Cancer Biology Group (ICB) 23 Infections and Cancer Epidemiology Group (ICE) 24
Section of Environment and Radiation (ENV)
Section of Nutrition and Metabolism (NME) 32 Biomarkers Group (BMA) 32 Dietary Exposure Assessment Group (DEX) 33 Nutritional Epidemiology Group (NEP) 35
Section of Genetics (GEN)41Genetic Epidemiology Group (GEP)41Genetic Cancer Susceptibility Group (GCS)42Biostatistics Group (BST)43
Section of Early Detection and Prevention (EDP)45Prevention and Implementation Group (PRI)45Quality Assurance Group (QAS)46Screening Group (SCR)48
Office of the Director
Section of Support to Research (SSR) 53
Communications Group (COM)
Education and Training Group (ETR) 56
The Gambia Hepatitis Intervention Study (GHIS) 58
Laboratory Services and Biobank Group (LSB) 59
IARC Governing Council and Scientific Council
IARC Publications 2014 70

Foreword

I am pleased to present this Interim Annual Report, which provides a summary of the activities at IARC during the past year. This short report is in one sense historic as it marks the completion of 50 years since the creation of IARC in 1965. The research activity of IARC took form over the subsequent two years or so as budgets were decided, people were recruited, and buildings were provided. As those familiar resource requirements were debated, the Agency got down to the business of shaping its activities around the priorities outlined in its Statute. In doing so it began to develop the types of collaboration that have characterized its approach over the ensuing decades.

IARC is now an internationally recognized centre of excellence, respected and appreciated for its mission, its research, its independence, its leadership, and its cooperation. While some core commitments have remained, as testified for example by the hundreds of scientists who have now benefited from the enduring IARC training experience, the Agency has constantly adapted to the changing knowledge about cancer and the evolving international cancer research landscape. This dynamism at an organizational level is driven in large part by the creativity and dedication of the personnel, representing the heart of IARC's success and further illustrated in the project descriptions that follow.

The current report entails a spectrum of research contributing in different ways to cancer control – from describing the occurrence, through identifying causes, to evaluating and implementing prevention and early detection. It is an ambitious programme. The growing world cancer burden demands that of us. But the depth and breadth of the activities in turn reveal the secret of how IARC is able to achieve so much with so little – by catalysing collaboration and joining with the international cancer research community to achieve common goals. The collaborative projects described in this snapshot report illustrate just how wide the influence of the Agency stretches and how strong is the desire of partners across the world to work with IARC in a partnership of equals. This is a powerful model for success, through cooperation rather than competition, through emphasis on the group rather than the individual.

I commend the work of all IARC personnel to you and trust that the contents of this Interim Annual Report provide a clear illustration of the value of the Agency's research as it seeks to fulfil its mission to reduce the global burden of cancer.

Dr Christopher Wild IARC Director

Section of Cancer Surveillance (CSU)

The Section of Cancer Surveillance (CSU) focuses on global cancer surveillance and the systematic and ongoing pursuit of global cancer data and statistics for cancer control action. CSU collects, analyses, interprets, and disseminates indicators that capture the changing scale and profile of the disease via three essential and complementary areas of activity:

- **Cancer registry support and development.** The long-standing collaborative relationship of CSU with population-based cancer registries (PBCRs) worldwide, members of the International Association of Cancer Registries (IACR), remains vital in improving the availability, validity, and timeliness of cancer data at the national, regional, and global levels. Through the Global Initiative for Cancer Registry Development (GICR), CSU aims to radically increase the quality and availability of cancer incidence data in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs). Advocating for the central role of PBCRs in national cancer control planning, reference centres (IARC Regional Hubs) are operating in six regions to provide targeted support to countries wishing to plan and develop their PBCR programmes.
- Global cancer indicators: development and dissemination. The compilation, estimation, and reporting of cancer statistics are performed through CSU's flagship projects and databases *Cancer Incidence in Five Continents* and GLOBOCAN, international compendiums of high-quality registry data and of national estimates of incidence, mortality, and prevalence, respectively. A greater focus is now being placed on the development of interactive and user-friendly web-based tools to better inform cancer control and cancer research.
- Descriptive epidemiology of cancer: core activities and innovation. An increasingly diverse and comprehensive set of collaborative studies describe and interpret the changing magnitude and transitional nature of the cancer profile, via the observation of variations by geography and time. A novel additional research area aims to develop indicators that underscore cancer as a major cause of premature death, as a barrier to old age, and as a chronic condition linked to social and economic development.

Cancer registry support and development

The cancer incidence burden is projected to increase from 14.1 million in 2012 to 21.6 million by 2030, with increases of 60–70% forecast in Latin America, Asia, and Africa. The development and implementation of national cancer control plans is imperative in every country, yet planning is impossible without first identifying the scale and the profile of cancer in the community. It is of acute concern that currently only 68 countries (mainly high-income countries) are equipped with high-quality PBCR data for such purposes, while in 62 countries (mainly LMICs), no reliable data are available.

Bolstered by the high-level efforts to combat noncommunicable diseases (NCDs) and by countries agreeing to collect cancer incidence data as a marker of progress, the IARC-led GICR partnership (<u>http://gicr.iarc.fr</u>) aims to change the surveillance landscape, aiding and accelerating the availability of PBCRs for national cancer control. The key instrument through which these ambitions are realized is the formation of six IARC Regional Hubs for Cancer Registration, which provide localized programmes of training, support, and advocacy to targeted countries within defined regions.

The infrastructure and governance of GICR have evolved in 2014 to embrace the dedicated surveillance activities of the international organizations represented (the GICR Partners Group) to provide strategic advice on integrating efforts in fully operationalizing the Hubs. Membership of the GICR Partners Group includes the American Cancer Society (ACS), IACR, the International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) Programme of Action for Cancer Therapy (PACT), the Public

Health Agency of Canada, the Union for International Cancer Control (UICC), the United States National Cancer Institute (NCI), the United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), and WHO.

The Hub model is a connected system arranged to link country-level needs with regional support mechanisms. Four Hubs are operational: a Regional Hub for South, East, and South-Eastern Asia, in Mumbai, India (based at Tata Memorial Centre); a Regional Network Hub for Sub-Saharan Africa (in collaboration with the African Cancer Registry Network [AFCRN]); a Regional Hub for North Africa, Central and West Asia, in Izmir, Turkey (based at the Izmir Cancer Registry); and a Regional Network Hub for Latin America, in Buenos Aires (coordinated by the National Cancer Institute, Argentina). Two more Hubs are being implemented: Regional Hubs supporting countries in the Pacific Islands and in the Caribbean. Global coordination and technical development across Hubs is provided through the Hub Executive Group, comprising IARC staff and the Hub Principal Investigators.

An important milestone in 2014 was the definition of a goal and explicit objectives that will provide measurable improvements in PBCRs in 50 countries during the period 2014–2018. The selection of countries is a dynamic process requiring regular strategic input from the GICR Partners Group and regular review as to the technical requirements of Hubs by the Hub Executive Group. Three-year operational plans for each Hub are close to completion, including the identification of priority countries. In concert, a significant area of advocacy and fundraising work is creating a sustainable global fund to advance the Hub and country activities.

Fundamental to GICR are site visits, recommendations, and follow-up. Eight consultancies were undertaken in 2014, and nine more are planned. Several agreements between IARC and individual countries are being implemented. Targeted registries in Asia are working with IARC and the Mumbai Hub to produce first reports of the cancer burden in Indonesia, Mongolia, and Sri Lanka. Training remains a core component, and 11 GICR-led or affiliated Hub regional courses were held in 2014. Highlights include the first Russian-language course, involving participants from 10 countries in central Asia and Europe, held in Astana, Kazakhstan. Priority areas identified in the action plan with the WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean led to a registry training workshop being held in Cairo, which included a future needs assessment of 17 Eastern Mediterranean countries. Exploratory workshops in conjunction with the United States NCI in China and with the IACR 2014 conference in Ottawa and in El Salvador have brought together registry-affiliated participants in support of building registration in different regions.

Online training and the development of e-learning modules is being assessed for possible delivery in 2015. To supplement training and provide a reference source for health planners, an IARC Technical Publication has been disseminated and is available online in PDF and e-Pub formats (Bray et al., 2014). Given shared goals, a mutual programme of activities is being developed with IACR via ongoing discussions with the IACR President and Executive Board.

Global cancer indicators: development and dissemination

CSU aims to retain its remit as the definitive reference source and provider of global cancer statistics in adults, children, and adolescents. After the launch of the GLOBOCAN 2012 website, a companion paper described the rationale, data sources, and methods of estimation of the global cancer burden, and introduced an alphanumeric scoring system that indicates the robustness of the national estimates (Ferlay et al., 2014b). A global snapshot of the cancer-specific patterns brought focus to regional and national prioritization of cancer control efforts as well as the need for better surveillance systems in many LMICs. A more formal modelling

framework for estimation, incorporating uncertainty estimates, is being evaluated in collaboration with the University of Washington and the Section of Infections (INF).

Through the online publication of Volume X of *Cancer Incidence in Five Continents* (CI5, <u>http://ci5.iarc.fr</u>) – jointly with IACR – results from all 10 published volumes have been made available through two additional public domain websites and databases: CI5 I–X and CI5*plus*. The CI5 I–X application contains the original data published in each volume. To enable temporal comparisons, the CI5*plus* database (Ferlay et al., 2014a) contains long-term annual data for 118 selected populations from 102 cancer registries published in CI5 for 28 major cancer sites.

Preparation of the third volume of *International Incidence of Childhood Cancer* (<u>http://iicc.iarc.fr</u>) is in its final stages. Data on cancer incidence in children and adolescents (ages, 0–19 years) are being compiled in collaboration with more than 350 cancer registries worldwide. The European Cancer Observatory (<u>http://eco.iarc.fr</u>) estimates national incidence, mortality, and prevalence in 40 major countries of Europe (EUCAN), complemented by recorded incidence, mortality, and survival series from 130 registries (EUREG). With the provision of such data via collaboration with members of the European Network of Cancer Registries (ENCR), geographical and temporal patterns can be elucidated to inform cancer control policies in Europe (Steliarova-Foucher et al., 2014).

The WHO Mortality Database and NORDCAN database (<u>http://www-dep.iarc.fr</u>) have been updated to 2012. The latest version of the NORDCAN database, co-developed with the Association of the Nordic Cancer Registries (ANCR, <u>http://ancr.nu</u>), now includes cancer survival statistics for 2009–2011. In response to growing demand, a new cancer dictionary based on tumour–node–metastasis (TNM) groupings (replacing the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems, 10th Revision [ICD-10] codes) is being implemented for the next NORDCAN release, and may be adapted for implementation within future CSU projects.

The above-mentioned websites will be superseded by the planned Global Cancer Observatory – a database of global and national cancer statistics and a suite of interactive and user-friendly tools to provide instructive and timely information on a broad range of indicators.

Descriptive epidemiology of cancer: core activities and innovation

Descriptive epidemiological research remains a major component of CSU's activities and has two main areas of focus. First, numerous descriptive studies of the key patterns and trends by cancer type, region, and so on are undertaken, often as ad hoc collaborative efforts with internal or external colleagues; many make direct use of the GLOBOCAN and CI5 data described above. In terms of cancer-specific assessments, articles have described the global patterns and trends of urological cancers as part of a Platinum Priority series in European Urology, and in partnership with ACS. Global reports of the incidence and mortality patterns and trends of testicular cancer (Znaor et al., 2014a), bladder cancer (Chavan et al, 2014), and renal cell carcinoma (Znaor et al., 2014c) have been published, as well as a series of testicular cancer incidence papers quantifying the future burden in Europe (Le Cornet et al., 2014), generational trends in 38 countries worldwide (Znaor et al., 2014b), and international variations in seminoma and non-seminoma (Trabert et al., 2014). An international study of bone cancer incidence has examined the descriptive epidemiology of osteosarcoma, Ewing sarcoma, and chondrosarcoma, while lung cancer trends and current oesophageal cancer rates have been explored by histological subtype (Lortet-Tieulent et al., 2014; Arnold et al., 2014c). The latter study estimated 398 000 squamous cell carcinomas and 52 000 adenocarcinomas of the oesophagus in 2012, reporting a relatively high proportion of adenocarcinoma in high-income countries and an excess risk among men, linked to shifts in the tobacco smoking and obesity epidemics.

In terms of regional assessments, a study in Colombia assessed cancer mortality by socioeconomic level, part of the IARC Expertise Transfer Fellowship of Esther de Vries during 2013–2014. In collaboration with Tata Memorial Centre, a study of incidence trends in six Indian registry populations revealed a clear transition from cervical to breast cancer in urban but not rural settings within the country (Badwe et al., 2014). Some studies have explored patterns in subpopulations, linking cancer transition to socioeconomic change. For example, considerable work is under way to highlight and contrast the cancer disparities among Indigenous peoples worldwide (Arnold et al., 2014a; Moore et al., 2014a; Moore et al., 2014b; Moore et al., 2014c; Valery et al., 2014). Another paper provides an appraisal of the cancer situation in Africa in 2012, with comparison of the incidence and mortality profiles in North Africa and sub-Saharan Africa, and the prospects for cancer control on the continent (Parkin et al., 2014).

CSU also aims to provide evidence of the effectiveness of cancer control programmes using population-based data. In collaboration with INF, CSU has assessed the impact of cervical cancer screening in four Nordic countries; up to 49% of the expected cases may have been prevented by screening introduced from the late 1960s (Vaccarella et al., 2014). A novel report with the New South Wales Cancer Council evaluated the long-term impact of the phenacetin ban on upper urinary tract cancer rates in Australia; a significant reduction in renal pelvis cancer incidence was observed (particularly among women) after the widely used analgesic was banned in 1979 (Antoni et al., 2014).

CSU has published several books and chapters in 2014. As well as Volume X of CI5 (Forman et al., 2014) and co-development of the second edition of *The Cancer Atlas* with ACS (Jemal et al., 2014), introductory chapters were written for IARC's *World Cancer Report 2014* and a chapter assessing implications for cancer control of developmental transition was prepared as part of the third edition of Disease Control Priorities (Bray and Soerjomataram, 2014).

A second theme of innovation is emerging, linking cancer with other NCDs and efforts to combat the rising burden. Several studies are assessing the public health utility of measures from a societal burden perspective. One example is a European study of costs related to premature mortality from cancer (Hanly et al., 2014). Overall costs were high (almost 0.6% of European gross domestic product in 2008), with losses greater in the least wealthy European nations. Another major project is quantification of the cancer burden according to major risk factors. A recent report has estimated that 3.6% of cancers worldwide are related to excess weight, with a larger attributable fraction in countries with a higher Human Development Index (HDI) than in countries with a lower HDI (5.3% vs 1.0%) (Arnold et al., 2014b). The impact of tobacco smoking on cancer and other NCDs over the past 30 years indicates that smoking is related to approximately 20% of total adult mortality (work in progress); cardiovascular disease is the most important disease related to smoking, followed by lung cancer. While the share of cardiovascular disease among all smoking-related deaths has decreased over the past 30 years, the proportion of smoking-related lung cancer deaths has grown.

References

- Antoni S, Soerjomataram I, Moore S, Ferlay J, Sitas F, Smith DP, et al. (2014). The ban on phenacetin is associated with changes in the incidence trends of upper-urinary tract cancers in Australia. Aust N Z J Public Health. 38(5):455–8. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/1753-6405.12252</u> PMID:25169832
- Arnold M, Moore SP, Hassler S, Ellison-Loschmann L, Forman D, Bray F (2014a). The burden of stomach cancer in indigenous populations: a systematic review and global assessment. Gut. 63(1):64–71. http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/gutinl-2013-305033 PMID:24153248
- Arnold M, Pandeya N, Byrnes G, Renehan AG, Stevens GA, Ezzati M, et al. (2014b). Global burden of cancer attributable to high body-mass index in 2012: a population-based study. Lancet Oncol. [Epub ahead of print] <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(14)71123-4</u>

- Arnold M, Soerjomataram I, Ferlay J, Forman D (2014c). Global incidence of oesophageal cancer by histological subtype in 2012. Gut. [Epub ahead of print] <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2014-308124</u> <u>PMID:25320104</u>
- Badwe RA, Dikshit R, Laversanne M, Bray F (2014). Cancer incidence trends in India. Jpn J Clin Oncol. 44(5):401–7. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/jjco/hyu040</u> PMID:24755545
- Bray F, Soerjomataram I (2014). The changing global burden of cancer: transitions in human development and implications for cancer prevention and control. In: Gelband H, Jha P, Sankaranarayanan R, Horton S, editors. Disease Control Priorities, 3rd ed., Vol. 6: Cancer.
- Bray F, Znaor A, Cueva P, Korir A, Swaminathan R, Ullrich A, et al. (2014). Planning and Developing Population-Based Cancer Registration in Low- and Middle-Income Settings. Lyon, France: IARC (IARC Technical Publication No. 43). Available from: <u>http://www.iarc.fr/en/publications/pdfs-online/treportpub/treport-pub43/index.php</u>
- Chavan S, Bray F, Lortet-Tieulent J, Goodman M, Jemal A (2014). International variations in bladder cancer incidence and mortality. Eur Urol. 66(1):59–73. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.eururo.2013.10.001 PMID:24451595
- Ferlay J, Bray F, Steliarova-Foucher E, Forman D (2014a). Cancer Incidence in Five Continents, CI5*plus*: IARC CancerBase No. 9 [Internet]. Lyon, France: IARC. Available from: <u>http://ci5.iarc.fr</u>
- Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Dikshit R, Eser S, Mathers C, Rebelo M, et al. (2014b). Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: sources, methods and major patterns in GLOBOCAN 2012. Int J Cancer. [Epub ahead of print] <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.29210 PMID:25220842</u>
- Forman D, Bray F, Brewster DH, Gombe Mbalawa C, Kohler B, Piñeros M, et al., editors (2013). Cancer Incidence in Five Continents, Vol. X [electronic version]. Lyon, France: IARC. Available from: <u>http://ci5.iarc.fr</u>
- Forman D, Bray F, Brewster DH, Gombe Mbalawa C, Kohler B, Piñeros M, et al., editors (2014). Cancer Incidence in Five Continents, Vol. X. Lyon, France: IARC (IARC Scientific Publication No. 164).
- Hanly P, Soerjomataram I, Sharp L (2014). Measuring the societal burden of cancer: the cost of lost productivity due to premature cancer-related mortality in Europe. Int J Cancer. [Epub ahead of print] <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.29105</u> PMID:25066804
- Jemal A, Vineis P, Bray F, Torre L, Forman D, editors (2014). The Cancer Atlas, 2nd ed. Atlanta, GA: American Cancer Society. Available from: <u>http://www.cancer.org</u>
- Le Cornet C, Lortet-Tieulent J, Forman D, Béranger R, Flechon A, Fervers B, et al. (2014). Testicular cancer incidence to rise by 25% by 2025 in Europe? Model-based predictions in 40 countries using population-based registry data. Eur J Cancer. 50(4):831–9. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2013.11.035 PMID:24369860
- Lortet-Tieulent J, Soerjomataram I, Ferlay J, Rutherford M, Weiderpass E, Bray F (2014). International trends in lung cancer incidence by histological subtype: adenocarcinoma stabilizing in men but still increasing in women. Lung Cancer. 84(1):13–22. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.lungcan.2014.01.009</u> PMID:24524818
- Moore SP, Forman D, Piñeros M, Fernández SM, de Oliveira Santos M, Bray F (2014a). Cancer in indigenous people in Latin America and the Caribbean: a review. Cancer Med. 3(1):70–80. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/cam4.134 PMID:24403278
- Moore SP, Green AC, Bray F, Coory M, Garvey G, Sabesan S, et al. (2014b). Colorectal cancer among Indigenous and non-Indigenous people in Queensland, Australia: toward survival equality. Asia Pac J Clin Oncol. [Epub ahead of print] <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/ajco.12164</u>
- Moore SP, Green AC, Bray F, Garvey G, Coory M, Martin J, et al. (2014c). Survival disparities in Australia: an analysis of patterns of care and comorbidities among indigenous and non-indigenous cancer patients. BMC Cancer. 14(1):517. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2407-14-517</u> <u>PMID:25037075</u>
- Parkin DM, Bray F, Ferlay J, Jemal A (2014). Cancer in Africa 2012. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 23(6):953–66. http://dx.doi.org/10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-14-0281 PMID:24700176
- Steliarova-Foucher E, O'Callaghan M, Ferlay J, Masuyer E, Forman D, Bray F, et al. (2014). The European Cancer Observatory: a new data resource. Eur J Cancer. [Epub ahead of print] http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2014.01.027 PMID:24569102
- Trabert B, Chen J, Devesa SS, Bray F, McGlynn KA (2014). International patterns and trends in testicular cancer incidence, overall and by histologic subtype, 1973–2007. Andrology. [Epub ahead of print] <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/andr.293</u>

- Vaccarella S, Franceschi S, Engholm G, Lönnberg S, Khan S, Bray F (2014). 50 years of screening in the Nordic countries: quantifying the effects on cervical cancer incidence. Br J Cancer. 111(5):965–9. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2014.362</u> PMID:24992581
- Valery PC, Moore SP, Meiklejohn J, Bray F (2014). International variations in childhood cancer in indigenous populations: a systematic review. Lancet Oncol. 15(2):e90–103. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(13)70553-9 PMID:24480559</u>
- Znaor A, Lortet-Tieulent J, Jemal A, Bray F (2014a). International variations and trends in testicular cancer incidence and mortality. Eur Urol. 65(6):1095–106. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.eururo.2013.11.004 PMID:24268506
- Znaor A, Lortet-Tieulent J, Laversanne M, Jemal A, Bray F (2014b). International testicular cancer incidence trends: generational transitions in 38 countries 1900–1990. Cancer Causes Control. [Epub ahead of print] <u>PMID:25388800</u>
- Znaor A, Lortet-Tieulent J, Laversanne M, Jemal A, Bray F (2014c). International variations and trends in renal cell carcinoma incidence and mortality. Eur Urol. [Epub ahead of print] <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.eururo.2014.10.002</u>

Section of IARC Monographs (IMO)

The first step in cancer prevention is to identify the causes of human cancer. The IARC Monographs Programme is an international, interdisciplinary approach to carcinogenic hazard identification. Its principal product is the serial publication of the IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans, which began in 1971 in accordance with one of the fundamental missions of the Agency: to prepare and distribute authoritative information on human cancer and especially on its causes and prevention.

Each Monograph consists of a comprehensive, critical summary and review of the published scientific literature and – since 1987 – an evaluation of the overall evidence of carcinogenicity to humans. The IARC Monographs are a worldwide endeavour that has involved more than 1300 scientists from more than 50 countries. Reviews and evaluations of nominated agents and exposures are carried out by Working Groups of scientific experts who are invited to participate on the basis of their expertise in the topic. Since 1971, more than 950 chemicals, complex mixtures, occupational exposures, physical agents, biological agents, personal habits, and household exposures have been reviewed, some of them several times as new information has become available. More than 100 of these agents have been identified as carcinogenic to humans (Group 1), and more than 300 as probably carcinogenic or possibly carcinogenic to humans (Groups 2A and 2B).

The IARC Monographs have evolved into the World Health Organization's encyclopaedia on the roles of environmental agents in human cancer causation. National and international health agencies use the Monographs as a source of scientific information, and as scientific support for their actions to prevent exposure to these agents. A recent example was the reference to the Monographs in developing the fourth edition of the European Code Against Cancer. Individuals, too, use the conclusions from the Monographs to inform their choices to reduce their exposure to potential carcinogens. In this way, the IARC Monographs contribute to cancer prevention and the improvement of public health.

In 1995, the IARC Handbooks of Cancer Prevention were launched to complement the IARC Monographs by providing evaluations of approaches to cancer prevention. The same rigorous procedures of critical review and evaluation as for the IARC Monographs are used. The Handbooks of Cancer Prevention also include public health and research recommendations, thus facilitating translation of evidence into policy. Evaluations have included chemo-preventive agents, preventive actions, effectiveness of screening, and effectiveness of tobacco control. The IARC Handbooks of Cancer Prevention programme has now been relaunched, with a focus on primary and secondary prevention.

Advisory Group to recommend priorities for the IARC Monographs during 2015–2019 (7–9 April 2014)

An Advisory Group of 21 scientists from 13 countries met at IARC in April 2014 to recommend evaluation topics for 2015–2019 and to discuss strategic matters for the IARC Monographs Programme. The Advisory Group considered responses to a call for nominations on the IARC website and recommended a broad range of agents and exposures with high or medium priority; IARC will use this advice in making decisions on agents for future evaluations.

In addition, the Advisory Group endorsed the current system of expert reviews with strict management of conflict of interests; encouraged the Secretariat to explore the use of systematic review tools to further increase transparency and efficiency; supported recent recommendations of a separate Advisory Group on Quantitative Risk Characterization that the Monographs could progressively include exposure–response relationships, particularly from epidemiological studies,

as a basis for estimates of global cancer burden by IARC; recognized the need for systematic identification of mechanistic data, with transparent selection of publications and inclusion of high-throughput and high-content data streams, to focus on clear elucidation of mechanistic processes; and recommended exploration of additional opportunities to address cancer risk within low- and middle-income countries, including enhanced retrieval of relevant exposure data for Monographs and increased dissemination of pertinent evaluations (Straif et al., 2014).

Agents recommended for evaluation by the IARC Advisory Group with high priority
Acrylamide, Furan, 5-Hydroxymethyl-2-furfural
2-Amino-4-chlorophenol, 2-Chloronitrobenzene, 4-Chloronitrobenzene, 1,4-Dichloro-2-
nitrobenzene, 2,4-Dichloro-1-nitrobenzene
Aspartame and sucralose
Bisphenol A
1-Bromopropane
Carbon nanotubes, multi-walled
Beta-Carotene
3-Chloro-2-methylpropene
Coffee
Dietary iron and iron used as supplements or for medical purposes
Dimethylformamide
<i>N</i> , <i>N</i> -Dimethyl- <i>p</i> -toluidine
Disinfected water used for drinking, showering, bathing, or swimming
Electronic cigarettes and nicotine
Ethyl acrylate
Ethyl tertiary butyl ether (ETBE), Methyl tertiary butyl ether (MTBE), tert-Butyl alcohol (TBA)
Hot mate drinking
Human cytomegalovirus (HCMV)
Indium-tin oxide
Isobutyl nitrite
2-Mercaptobenzothiazole
Obesity and overweight
Opium
Pesticides (including Carbaryl, Diazinon, Lindane, Malathion, Pendimethalin, Permethrin)
Phenyl and octyl tin compounds
ortho-Phenylenediamine dihydrochloride
Physical inactivity and sedentary work
Red and processed meats
Shiftwork
Styrene
Tetrabromobisphenol A (TBBPA)
Tungsten
Welding and welding fumes

Volume 110: Perfluoro-octanoic acid, tetrafluoroethylene, dichloromethane, 1,2dichloropropane, and 1,3-propane sultone (3–10 June 2014)

In June 2014, 20 experts from 9 countries met at IARC to assess the carcinogenicity of perfluoro-octanoic acid (PFOA), tetrafluoroethylene (TFE), dichloromethane (DCM), 1,2-dichloropropane (1,2-DCP), and 1,3-propane sultone (1,3-PS). 1,2-DCP was classified as *carcinogenic to humans* (Group 1), based on *sufficient evidence* in humans that exposure to

1,2-DCP causes cancer of the biliary tract in exposed workers and sufficient evidence in experimental animals. The most important human evidence about the carcinogenicity of 1,2-DCP came from studies of workers in a small offset printing plant in Osaka, Japan, where a very high risk of cholangiocarcinoma was reported. The Working Group classified DCM as probably carcinogenic to humans (Group 2A), based on limited evidence in humans that its use is associated with biliary tract cancer and non-Hodgkin lymphoma and sufficient evidence in experimental animals. TFE was upgraded from possibly carcinogenic to humans (Group 2B) to probably carcinogenic to humans (Group 2A). The Working Group based its classification on inadequate evidence in humans and sufficient evidence in experimental animals with unusual results (neoplasms at multiple sites and with very high incidence observed in exposed rodents of both sexes, including liver haemangiosarcoma, hepatocellular carcinoma, and histiocytic sarcoma, in mice; renal cell adenoma or carcinoma (combined), hepatocellular carcinoma, mononuclear cell leukaemia, and the rare liver haemangiosarcoma in female rats). 1,3-PS was classified as probably carcinogenic to humans (Group 2A), based on inadequate evidence in humans and sufficient evidence in experimental animals with a mechanistic upgrade supported by strong evidence for genotoxicity. PFOA was classified as possibly carcinogenic to humans (Group 2B), based on *limited evidence* in humans that exposure to PFOA is associated with testes and kidney cancer and *limited evidence* in experimental animals (Benbrahim-Tallaa et al., 2014).

Volume 111: Fluoro-edenite, silicon carbide fibres and whiskers, and carbon nanotubes (30 September-7 October 2014)

In October 2014, 21 experts from 10 countries met at IARC to assess the carcinogenicity of fluoro-edenite, silicon carbide (SiC) fibres and whiskers, and carbon nanotubes (CNTs), including single-walled and multi-walled types (SWCNTs and MWCNTs). Fluoro-edenite fibrous amphibole was classified as *carcinogenic to humans* (Group 1), based on *sufficient evidence* in humans that environmental exposure to fluoro-edenite causes mesothelioma and sufficient evidence in experimental animals. The human evidence came from surveillance studies reporting an excess of mesothelioma incidence and mortality in the regional population of Biancavilla, Italy. SiC fibres are unwanted by-products of the manufacture of SiC particles by the Acheson process. SiC whiskers are intentionally produced by other processes. Excesses of lung cancer mortality and incidence were observed in two cohort studies of Acheson process workers. Occupational exposures associated with the Acheson process were classified as carcinogenic to humans (Group 1), based on *sufficient evidence* that they cause lung cancer. Fibrous SiC was classified as possibly carcinogenic to humans (Group 2B), based on limited evidence in humans that it causes lung cancer and *inadequate evidence* in experimental animals. SiC whiskers were upgraded from possibly carcinogenic to humans (Group 2B) to probably carcinogenic to humans (Group 2A), based on *inadequate evidence* in humans, *sufficient evidence* in experimental animals (mesotheliomas were observed in exposed rats), and consideration of their physical properties resembling those of asbestos and erionite.

There was no epidemiological study on CNTs in exposed humans. Regarding carcinogenicity in experimental animals, there was *sufficient evidence* for MWCNT-7, *limited evidence* for two types of MWCNTs with dimensions similar to MWCNT-7, and *inadequate evidence* for SWCNTs. MWCNT-7 caused peritoneal mesotheliomas in rats and $p53^{+/-}$ mice after non-inhalation routes of exposure, and promoted bronchioloalveolar carcinoma in mice. Both types of MWCNTs with dimensions similar to MWCNT-7 caused mesotheliomas in rats in one intraperitoneal study. MWCNT-7 was classified as *possibly carcinogenic to humans* (Group 2B), and SWCNTs and MWCNTs excluding MWCNT-7 were categorized as *not classifiable as to their carcinogenicity to humans* (Group 3) (Grosse et al., 2014).

Handbook Volume 15: Breast cancer screening (11–18 November 2014)

Breast cancer is the leading cancer in women worldwide, in both developed and developing countries, and the potential role of primary prevention is limited because most risk factors for breast cancer are directly linked with endogenous hormone levels and choices of childbearing. Therefore, secondary prevention encompassing all forms of screening for breast cancer is a priority.

In 2002, an IARC Working Group developed IARC Handbook Volume 7 on breast cancer screening. Recent improvements in treatment outcomes for late-stage breast cancer and concerns about overdiagnosis called for reconsideration. Therefore, an up-to-date, objective, and independent evaluation of the benefits and harms of mammography screening in different age groups was urgently needed. In addition, new studies on clinical breast examination and breast self-examination warranted a re-evaluation of the efficacy and effectiveness of such screening programmes.

Furthermore, new modalities have become available and needed rigorous scientific evaluation. These include magnetic resonance imaging (contrast-enhanced and non-contrast-enhanced), digital breast tomosynthesis (or 3D mammography), breast-specific positron emission tomography, ultrasound in conjunction with mammography for women with dense breasts, and computer-assisted diagnosis in combination with digital mammography.

Finally, the effectiveness of screening women at increased risk of breast cancer was evaluated, particularly in the context of new data being available on alternative screening modalities. This increased risk may be attributed to the presence of a familial predisposition for breast cancer, with or without a genetic mutation, to a personal history of invasive breast cancer or ductal carcinoma in situ, or to the presence of lobular atypical proliferations.

References

- Benbrahim-Tallaa L, Lauby-Secretan B, Loomis D, Guyton KZ, Grosse Y, El Ghissassi F, et al.; International Agency for Research on Cancer Monograph Working Group (2014). Carcinogenicity of perfluorooctanoic acid, tetrafluoroethylene, dichloromethane, 1,2-dichloropropane, and 1,3-propane sultone. Lancet Oncol. 15(9):924–5. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(14)70316-X</u> <u>PMID:25225686</u>
- Grosse Y, Loomis D, Guyton KZ, Lauby-Secretan B, El Ghissassi F, Bouvard V, et al.; International Agency for Research on Cancer Monograph Working Group (2014). Carcinogenicity of fluoro-edenite, silicon carbide fibres and whiskers, and carbon nanotubes. Lancet Oncol. 15(13):1427–8. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(14)71109-X
- Straif K, Loomis D, Guyton K, Grosse Y, Lauby-Secretan, El Ghissassi F, et al.; International Agency for Research on Cancer Monographs Advisory Group (2014). Future priorities for the IARC Monographs. Lancet Oncol. 15(7): 683–4. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(14)70168-8</u>

Section of Mechanisms of Carcinogenesis (MCA)

The Section of Mechanisms of Carcinogenesis (MCA) conducts studies aimed at elucidating molecular mechanisms by which environmental and lifestyle exposures induce genetic and epigenetic alterations and deregulate molecular pathways critical for cancer development and progression, thus enhancing the evidence base directly relevant to studies of cancer causation and prevention. Emphasis is placed on relevant events that precede or drive tumour initiation and progression. Key MCA strategies include innovative research and the development of genomic/epigenomic and screening methodologies and bioinformatics resources that are applicable to experimental models and biobanks associated with population-based and epidemiological studies. MCA also contributes to translational studies, through the discovery of mechanism-based biomarkers of exposure, early detection, and risk stratification. MCA studies are interdisciplinary in nature, and the synergistic collaborations with other IARC laboratory-based scientists and epidemiologists as well as external groups advance major IARC programmes. The Section comprises two groups, the Epigenetics Group (EGE) and the Molecular Mechanisms and Biomarkers Group (MMB), which work in close collaboration to create synergies and better exploit and further expand unique research tools and expertise.

Epigenetics Group (EGE)

Advances in epigenomics have dramatically accelerated research on mechanisms of carcinogenesis and biomarker discovery, and have opened up new perspectives in cancer research (Herceg et al., 2013; Nogueira da Costa and Herceg, 2012; Umer and Herceg, 2013; Wild et al., 2013). EGE conducts studies aimed at providing critical insights into epigenetic mechanisms of carcinogenesis through the identification of epigenome alterations and molecular pathways deregulated by environmental exposures. Another focus of EGE is identifying epigenetic biomarkers of exposure and cancer risk and contributing to the characterization of key components of the exposome. This is achieved through mechanistic studies of functionally important epigenetic "driver" genes and molecular pathways altered by specific carcinogens and by the application of cutting-edge epigenomics in conjunction with unique biospecimens from population-based cohorts. EGE also develops epigenomic methodologies, profiling strategies, and bioinformatics tools, applicable to population-based cohorts and molecular epidemiology studies coordinated by IARC researchers and external collaborators.

Accelerated epigenetic clock is a predictor of breast cancer in a prospective study

Recent studies on retrospectively collected blood samples in breast cancer patients have underlined the importance of assessing epigenetic (DNA methylation [DNAm]) patterns in peripheral blood of cancer patients and have provided new insights into the pathophysiology of the disease. Peripheral blood serves as a promising non-invasive biofluid of choice for cancer detection. However, there is a strong need to conduct prospective longitudinal epigenome-wide studies for identification of putative causal epigenetic alterations and risk markers. EGE developed a study aimed at testing the hypothesis that the methylome changes associated with breast cancer risk and dietary/lifestyle factors can be identified in peripheral blood cells and that methylation changes can serve as sensitive biomarkers in primary and secondary prevention of breast cancer. The potential of DNAm in peripheral blood as a marker of breast cancer risk was examined in a nested case-control cohort of the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) study (collaboration with NEP). The study cohort involved 480 female incident breast cancer cases and 480 matched controls (matched for centre, age, date of blood collection, and menopausal status). DNAm levels were measured across 485 777 CpG sites using the Illumina 450K BeadChip array. Methylation values for all the probes thus obtained were compared between cases and matched controls using logistic regression analysis, adjusting for potential confounders. Differential methylation was found across 185 probes (P < 0.0005), and these probes may serve as potentially useful surrogate markers for identification of individuals with a high risk of breast cancer development. Furthermore, EGE used a recently developed biomarker of ageing (the "epigenetic clock") based on DNAm levels (Horvath, 2013), which can be used as a proxy of epigenetic tissue age. Because DNAm age has a strong linear relationship with chronological age in our data, we were able to define age acceleration as the residual resulting from a linear model that regressed DNAm age on chronological age. By definition, this measure of age acceleration is not correlated with chronological age; therefore, these results suggest that perturbation of the epigenetic stability may underline age acceleration associated with breast cancer risk.

Exposure to aflatoxin B_1 in utero is associated with DNA methylation changes in white blood cells of infants in The Gambia

Exposure to environmental toxins during embryonic development may lead to epigenetic changes that influence disease risk in childhood and later life. Aflatoxin is a contaminant of staple foods in sub-Saharan Africa and is a known human liver carcinogen that has been associated with impairment of growth and development and susceptibility to diseases and cancer. EGE investigated the consequences of early-life exposure to aflatoxin at the epigenome (DNAm) level. Aflatoxin exposure was measured in 115 pregnant women in The Gambia, and the DNAm status of white blood cells from their infants at age 2-8 months (mean, 3.6 ± 0.9 months) was examined. Aflatoxin exposure in women was assessed using an enzymelinked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) method to measure aflatoxin-albumin adducts in plasma taken at 1–16 weeks of pregnancy. Global DNAm of infant white blood cells was measured using the Illumina Infinium HumanMethylation450 BeadChip. Aflatoxin exposure in the mothers was found to be significantly correlated with DNAm in their infants for a subset of CpG sites. Aflatoxin-associated differential methylation was observed in growth factor genes such as FGF12 and IGF1, in immune-related genes such as CCL28, TLR2, and TGFBI, and in AKR7A3, which is involved in aflatoxin detoxification. Moreover, differential methylation was sex-dependent, with two differentially methylated regions (HOOK2 and FOSB) only present in male infants. This study shows that maternal exposure to aflatoxin during the early stages of pregnancy is associated with changes in epigenome patterns of infants. This reinforces the need for interventions to reduce aflatoxin exposure, especially during critical periods of fetal and infant development.

Development of epigenomic methodologies and bioinformatics tools applicable to population-based cohorts and molecular epidemiology

EGE has exploited improvements in the throughput and cost of methylation, histone modifications, and microRNA sequencing brought about by the recent establishment of a newgeneration array platform (Illumina Infinium) for methylome and transcriptome profiling, and next-generation sequencing (NGS)-based platforms (Illumina MiSeg, Illumina Genome Analyzer, and IonTorrent) at IARC and external collaborators. These methodologies enabled EGE to move from focused approaches to comprehensive epigenome-wide approaches and to develop several new and original topics in cancer epigenetics (Aury-Landas et al., 2013; Ghantous et al., 2014; Martin et al., 2014; Xu et al., 2012; Aushev et al., 2013). In addition, the diverse tasks of understanding mechanisms of carcinogenesis and their link to environmental exposures, or of defining epigenetic signatures of cancer risk, are all increasingly dependent on our capacity to handle and exploit such multidimensional data sets. The data produced with genome-wide techniques need to be properly processed and integrated with data sets from other assays or from available online repositories. EGE (together with MMB) takes the lead in the integration of different layers of genome-wide data, such as the DNA methylome, gene expression, mutations and genomic variants, and histone marks. To this end, EGE has been involved in the adaptation of available packages and in-house scripts for bioinformatics pipelines dedicated to such integration, with important considerations such as the power/sample size, dimension-reduction techniques, normalization across data sets, removal of batch effects, and statistical modelling. This includes the development of Galaxy pipelines for the analyses of DNA methylation (Illumina Infinium bead arrays and NGS-based reduced representation bisulfite sequencing [RRBS]), exome sequencing, RNA sequencing, and ChIP-seq. Furthermore, to allow non-developer users to analyse the omics data, pipelines are being developed into the open-source, web-based Galaxy platform and/or other suitable environments. In addition to integration, modularity will be built into the pipelines, which will permit individual users to select the required analytical modules according to the characteristics of their data set.

Molecular Mechanisms and Biomarkers Group (MMB)

The overarching objective of MMB is to establish an evidence base for cancer prevention by elucidating molecular mechanisms and biomarkers of carcinogenesis associated with specific environmental and lifestyle risk factors. MMB characterizes new biomarkers of exposure and tumorigenesis by mutation signature screens in experimental models of carcinogen effects in vitro, as well as in tumour tissues and circulating free DNA (cfDNA) from plasma, taking advantage of existing epidemiological studies and supporting new ones. MMB develops and validates new carcinogen screening methods as well as molecular profiling and bioinformatics tools applicable to population-based and mechanistic studies. Collectively, MMB's projects aim to advance the general understanding of mechanisms of carcinogenesis and to facilitate and strengthen evidence-based cancer prevention strategies.

Modelling mutational signatures of human carcinogens in vitro

MMB devised experimental models recapitulating mutational landscapes of human somatic mutation patterns from public genomics databases. In immortalized cell lines derived from primary murine embryonic fibroblasts, exposed in vitro to mutagenic carcinogens or expressing endogenous mutagenic activity, mutation patterns were shown to recapitulate key features of mutational signatures observed in human cancers, with high genome-wide concordance between human tumour mutation data and in vitro data (Olivier et al., 2014). Primary-cell clonal immortalization is thus a simple and powerful strategy for modelling mutation signatures that facilitates the interpretation of human cancer genome-wide sequencing data. The system is being used in support of IARC's programme on the evaluation and classification of chemicals for their carcinogenic effects.

Mutational signature of carcinogenic aristolochic acid identified in renal cell carcinomas of chronic kidney disease patients

Carcinogenic aristolochic acid (AA) is an established etiological agent underlying severe nephropathies and associated upper urinary tract urothelial cancers. Its genome-wide mutational signature, marked by predominant A:T > T:A transversions, has been identified in upper urinary tract urothelial carcinomas and in experimental systems (Olivier et al., 2014). MMB used whole-exome sequencing performed on DNA from formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded renal cell carcinomas (RCCs) arising in patients with chronic renal disease from endemic nephropathy regions in Croatia and Bosnia, where the disease results from the consumption of bread made from wheat contaminated by AA-containing seeds of Aristolochia clematitis. In 5 of 8 (62%) analysed RCCs, a mutational signature was observed that is consistent with exposure to AA (Jelaković et al., 2014). In addition, MMB contributed to a clear cell RCC whole-genome sequencing study (CAGEKID Consortium), which identified AA signature-containing RCC tumours in Romanian patients (Scelo et al., 2014). By identifying a new tumour type associated with the AA-driven mutagenic process, these results suggest new epidemiological and public health implications for RCC incidence worldwide. The putative causal role of AA in renal cortex carcinogenesis should be broadly addressed in high-risk regions marked by inadvertent exposure to AA or widespread use of AA-containing herbal remedies.

Non-invasive diagnosis of clinically relevant mutations by deep sequencing of cfDNA in lung cancer from never-smokers

Somatic mutation analysis is part of the standard management of metastatic lung cancer to identify mutations enabling gene-targeted therapies. Biopsy samples provide limited amounts of DNA for testing and may not be representative of the entire tumour mass. cfDNA from plasma has emerged as a promising surrogate tissue for accessing the tumour genome non-invasively. MMB used deep sequencing with the IonTorrent Personal Genome Machine (PGM) Sequencer for the detection of low-abundance tumour mutations in cfDNA from non-small cell lung cancers (NSCLC) in non-smokers. Non-smoker lung cancer patients have been chosen because their tumours are expected to be enriched in clinically relevant mutations. Multiplex polymerase chain reaction (PCR) assays covering hotspot mutations in the EGFR, KRAS, BRAF, HER2/ERBB2, and PIK3CA genes were used to analyse cfDNA samples extracted from plasma collected in the BioCAST/IFCT-1002 lung cancer study (never-smokers cohort). A set of 68 cfDNA samples and matched tumour DNA (tDNA) was sequenced at deep coverage. Mutations were identified by an in-house bioinformatics pipeline. A detection sensitivity of 58% and an estimated specificity of 87% were obtained, taking mutations found in tDNA as the reference and using a modified variant calling strategy (Couraud et al., 2014). NGS is thus a suitably sensitive and specific method for the detection of tumour mutations in cfDNA. This approach is promising both for the diagnosis and follow-up of lung cancer patients, and may be envisioned as a molecular diagnostic tool in cancer epidemiology studies for which only blood samples are available.

Etiology and biology of premenopausal breast cancer in Latin American women

In Latin America, there are a large number of incident breast cancer cases in premenopausal women. This high incidence rate is only partly explained by the population age structure. Behavioural, reproductive, and lifestyle risk factors typical of industrialized populations are becoming increasingly prevalent in Latin America, but their role in the increased breast cancer incidence is unknown. In-depth knowledge of the molecular and pathological characteristics of premenopausal breast cancer is lacking, with consequences for cancer etiology, treatment, and survival. IARC's PRECAMA epidemiological study investigates the molecular, pathological, and risk factor patterns of premenopausal breast cancer in Latin America in a multicentre casecontrol study. PRECAMA plans to recruit more than 800 women over the next 2 years, administering questionnaires on lifestyle, diet, and environmental factors and collecting blood, urine, and tumour samples. MMB has conducted a feasibility study on 41 PRECAMA formalinfixed, paraffin-embedded tumour samples and their matched blood pairs, and somatic mutations in genes frequently mutated in breast cancer were screened by targeted resequencing on the Ion Proton Sequencer. The rates of mutations found in the targeted genes (TP53, PIK3CA, CDH1, RB1, and ERBB2) matched those described in other populations. These results demonstrate the suitability of the samples for advanced genomic analyses. Providing characteristics of the molecular features of premenopausal breast cancer in Latin America and their link to risk factors should help to advance the prevention and management of breast cancer in this world region.

References

- Aury-Landas J, Bougeard G, Castel H, Hernandez-Vargas H, Drouet A, Latouche JB, et al. (2013). Germline copy number variation of genes involved in chromatin remodelling in families suggestive of Li-Fraumeni syndrome with brain tumours. Eur J Hum Genet. 21(12):1369–76. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ejhg.2013.68</u> PMID:23612572
- Aushev VN, Zborovskaya IB, Laktionov KK, Girard N, Cros MP, Herceg Z, et al. (2013). Comparisons of microRNA patterns in plasma before and after tumor removal reveal new biomarkers of lung squamous cell carcinoma. PLoS One. 8(10):e78649. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0078649</u> <u>PMID:24130905</u>

- Couraud S, Vaca-Paniagua F, Villar S, Oliver J, Schuster T, Blanché H, et al.; BioCAST/IFCT-1002 investigators (2014). Noninvasive diagnosis of actionable mutations by deep sequencing of circulating free DNA in lung cancer from never-smokers: a proof-of-concept study from BioCAST/IFCT-1002. Clin Cancer Res. 20(17):4613–24. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-3063</u> PMID:25013125
- Ghantous A, Saffery R, Cros MP, Ponsonby AL, Hirschfeld S, Kasten C, et al. (2014). Optimized DNA extraction from neonatal dried blood spots: application in methylome profiling. BMC Biotechnol. 14(1):60. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1472-6750-14-60</u> PMID:24980254
- Herceg Z, Lambert MP, van Veldhoven K, Demetriou C, Vineis P, Smith MT, et al. (2013). Towards incorporating epigenetic mechanisms into carcinogen identification and evaluation. Carcinogenesis. 34(9):1955–67. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/carcin/bgt212</u> <u>PMID:23749751</u>
- Horvath S (2013). DNA methylation age of human tissues and cell types. Genome Biol. 14(10):R115. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/gb-2013-14-10-r115 PMID:24138928
- Jelaković B, Castells X, Tomić K, Ardin M, Karanović S, Zavadil J (2014). Renal cell carcinomas of chronic kidney disease patients harbor the mutational signature of carcinogenic aristolochic acid. Int J Cancer. [Epub ahead of print] <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.29338 PMID:25403517</u>
- Martin M, Ancey PB, Cros MP, Durand G, Le Calvez-Kelm F, Hernandez-Vargas H, et al. (2014). Dynamic imbalance between cancer cell subpopulations induced by transforming growth factor beta (TGF-β) is associated with a DNA methylome switch. BMC Genomics. 15(1):435. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-15-435 PMID:24898317</u>
- Nogueira da Costa A, Herceg Z (2012). Detection of cancer-specific epigenomic changes in biofluids: powerful tools in biomarker discovery and application. Mol Oncol. 6(6):704–15. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.molonc.2012.07.005 PMID:22925902
- Olivier M, Weninger A, Ardin M, Huskova H, Castells X, Vallée MP, et al. (2014). Modelling mutational landscapes of human cancers in vitro. Sci Rep. 4:4482. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/srep04482</u> <u>PMID:24670820</u>
- Scelo G, Riazalhosseini Y, Greger L, Letourneau L, Gonzàlez-Porta M, Wozniak MB, et al. (2014). Variation in genomic landscape of clear cell renal cell carcinoma across Europe. Nat Commun. 5:5135. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ncomms6135</u> PMID:25351205
- Umer M, Herceg Z (2013). Deciphering the epigenetic code: an overview of DNA methylation analysis methods. Antioxid Redox Signal. 18(15):1972–86. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1089/ars.2012.4923</u> <u>PMID:23121567</u>
- Wild CP, Scalbert A, Herceg Z (2013). Measuring the exposome: a powerful basis for evaluating environmental exposures and cancer risk. Environ Mol Mutagen. 54(7):480–99. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/em.21777 PMID:23681765
- Xu X, Gammon MD, Hernandez-Vargas H, Herceg Z, Wetmur JG, Teitelbaum SL, et al. (2012). DNA methylation in peripheral blood measured by LUMA is associated with breast cancer in a population-based study. FASEB J. 26(6):2657–66. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1096/fj.11-197251</u> <u>PMID:22371529</u>

Section of Molecular Pathology (MPA)

The Section of Molecular Pathology (MPA) conducts original research to elucidate the molecular basis and genetic pathways of human neoplasms. The specific aims of MPA are to provide genetic information that will be used as the basis for future molecular diagnosis and classification of brain tumours, to identify genetic markers for prognosis and novel treatment strategies, and to use genetic data to identify new clues to understand the etiology of human tumours (Ohgaki et al., 2014; Kim et al., 2014; Louis et al., 2014). Genetic studies are carried out, using tumour samples from patients with excellent clinical data that have been collected at a population level, to provide unique data combining the pathology, genetics, clinical features, and epidemiology of tumours. MPA's research programme is a key element of IARC's goals of elucidating the mechanisms of carcinogenesis and understanding the etiology of cancer. MPA is also responsible for the publication of the WHO Classification of Tumours Series (WHO Blue Books). MPA works with internationally recognized pathologists from around the world to reach consensus regarding tumour classification. Most human tumours have been diagnosed and classified based on histological features; more recently, molecular markers are increasingly being used to define disease entities, taking advantage of rapid progress in the understanding of the genetics of human neoplasms.

TP53, *MSH4*, and *LATS1* germline mutations in a family with clustering of nervous system tumours

Exome DNA sequencing of blood samples from a Li–Fraumeni family with a *TP53* germline mutation and multiple nervous system tumours revealed additional germline mutations. Missense mutations in the *MSH4* DNA repair gene (c.2480T > A; p.1827N) were detected in three patients with gliomas. Two family members without a *TP53* germline mutation who developed peripheral schwannomas also carried the *MSH4* germline mutation and, in addition, a germline mutation of the *LATS1* gene (c.286C > T; p.R96W). LATS1 is a downstream mediator of NF2, but has not previously been found to be related to schwannomas. Therefore, the entire coding sequence of the *LATS1* gene in sporadic schwannoma. Mutational loss of LATS1 function may thus play a role in some inherited schwannomas, but only exceptionally in sporadic schwannomas. This is the first study reporting a germline *MSH4* mutation. Since it was present in all patients, it may have contributed to the subsequent acquisition of *TP53* and *LATS1* germline mutations (Kim et al., 2014).

Alterations of the *RRAS* and *ERCC1* genes at 19q13 in gemistocytic astrocytomas

Gemistocytic astrocytoma (WHO grade II) is a rare variant of diffuse astrocytoma, characterized by the presence of neoplastic gemistocytes and a poor prognosis. Other than frequent *TP53* mutations (> 80%), little has been known about their molecular profile. Exome sequencing was carried out in gemistocytic astrocytomas, and homozygous deletion of genes was identified at 19q13, i.e. *RRAS* and *ERCC1*. Further screening showed *RRAS* homozygous deletion in 7 of 42 (17%) gemistocytic astrocytomas and in 3 of 24 (13%) *IDH1*-mutated secondary glioblastomas. Patients with gemistocytic astrocytoma and secondary glioblastoma with *RRAS* deletion tended to have shorter survival times than those without deletion. Also, *ERCC1* homozygous deletion or promoter methylation was found in 10 of 42 (24%) gemistocytic astrocytomas and in 8 of 24 (33%) secondary glioblastomas. Homozygous deletion of *RRAS* and *ERCC1* were absent in other low-grade diffuse gliomas or in primary (de novo) glioblastomas (Ohta et al., 2014).

Loss of FUBP1 expression in gliomas predicts *FUBP1* mutation and is associated with oligodendroglial differentiation, *IDH1* mutation, and 1p/19q loss

Far upstream element-binding protein 1 (FUBP1) regulates several target genes, such as MYC and p21. FUBP1 is upregulated in a variety of tumours and acts as an oncoprotein by stimulating

proliferation and inhibiting apoptosis. FUBP1 expression profiles in gliomas were examined by immunohistochemistry and immunofluorescence. FUBP1 expression was higher in all glioma subtypes compared with normal brain tissue, and was associated with increased cell proliferation. Loss of FUBP1 expression predicted *FUBP1* mutation with a sensitivity of 100% and a specificity of 90%, and was associated with oligodendroglial differentiation, *IDH1* mutation, and 1p/19q loss. Thus, FUBP1 immunohistochemistry is useful for glioma diagnosis (Baumgarten et al., 2014).

The Olig2 labelling index is correlated with histological and molecular classifications in low-grade diffuse gliomas

Diagnosis of low-grade diffuse gliomas based on histology is highly subjective, with significant inter-observer variability. Olig2 expression was assessed by immunohistochemistry in WHO grade II diffuse astrocytomas, oligoastrocytomas, and oligodendrogliomas. The mean Olig2 labelling index was 44% in diffuse astrocytomas, 59% in oligoastrocytomas, and 76% in oligodendrogliomas. The Olig2 labelling index was significantly higher in gliomas with 1p/19q loss with or without *IDH1/2* mutation than in those carrying *TP53* mutation with or without *IDH1/2* mutation only (Suzuki et al., 2014).

Role of microRNAs in the pathogenesis and progression of medulloblastomas

Medulloblastoma is the most frequent malignant central nervous system tumour in children. MicroRNAs (miRs) are small, non-coding RNAs that target protein-coding and non-coding RNAs and play roles in a variety of cellular processes through regulation of multiple targets.

MPA assessed miR-22 expression and its effect on cell proliferation and apoptosis in medulloblastomas. Quantitative reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) revealed significantly lower expression of miR-22 in 19 of 27 (70%) medulloblastomas and three medulloblastoma cell lines, compared with normal cerebellum. Forced expression of miR-22 by lentiviral vector transfection reduced cell proliferation and induced apoptosis, while knockdown of miR-22 increased proliferative activity in DAOY and ONS-76 medulloblastoma cells. Microarray analysis in DAOY cells with forced miR-22 expression showed significant changes in expression profiles; *PAPST1* was the most significantly (10-fold) downregulated gene. Quantitative RT-PCR revealed PAPST1 mRNA upregulation in 18 of 27 (67%) medulloblastomas. In addition, a luciferase reporter assay suggested that miR-22 directly targets the *PAPST1* gene, and lentivirus-mediated knockdown of *PAPST1* suppressed proliferation of DAOY and ONS-76 medulloblastoma cells. These results suggest that frequently downregulated miR-22 expression is associated with cell proliferation in medulloblastomas, and this may be at least in part via *PAPST1*, which is a novel target of miR-22 (Xu et al., 2014).

miR-9, a key regulator of neuronal development, is aberrantly expressed in brain malignancies. MPA showed that miR-9 expression is frequently downregulated in medulloblastomas, and that this is at least in part due to promoter methylation. Low miR-9 expression correlated significantly with the diagnosis of unfavourable histopathological variants and with poor clinical outcome. Furthermore, HES1 was identified as a direct target of miR-9 in medulloblastoma. Restoration of miR-9 was shown to trigger cell cycle arrest, inhibit clonal growth, and promote cell differentiation. Re-expression of miR-9 may constitute a novel epigenetic regulation strategy against medulloblastomas (Fiaschetti et al., 2014).

WHO Classification of Tumours series

The objective of this project is to establish a histopathological and molecular classification and grading of human tumours that is accepted and used worldwide. Without clearly defined clinical and histopathological diagnostic criteria and, more recently, genetic and expression profiles, epidemiological studies and clinical trials are difficult to conduct. Therefore, this project has a

high impact not only for the pathology community but also for cancer registration, epidemiological studies, clinical trials, and cancer research in general. IARC has been responsible for this book project since the third edition (2000–2005; 10 volumes). The current (fourth) edition was initiated in 2006, with four new series editors (Dr Fred Bosman, University of Lausanne, Switzerland; Dr Elaine Jaffe, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, USA; Dr Sunil Lakhani, University of Queensland, Brisbane, Australia; and Dr Hiroko Ohgaki, IARC). So far, six volumes have been published, and for each volume, 20 000–50 000 copies were printed and distributed worldwide.

The sixth volume, Tumours of Female Reproductive Organs, was published in April 2014. The volume editors are Dr Robert J. Kurman, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, USA; Dr Maria Luisa Carcangiu, Fondazione IRCCS, Institute Nazionale dei Tumori, Milano, Italy; Dr Simon Herrington, Centre for Oncology and Molecular Medicine, Ninewells Hospital and Medical School, Dundee, United Kingdom; and Dr Robert H. Young, Massachusetts General Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, USA. More than 6000 copies have been distributed worldwide through book sales by WHO Press.

The seventh volume, Tumours of the Lung, Pleura, Thymus, and Heart, is currently being prepared. The volume editors are Dr William D. Travis, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, USA; Dr Elisabeth Brambilla, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire de Grenoble, Grenoble, France; Dr Allen Burke, University of Maryland, Baltimore, USA; Dr Alexander Marx, University Medical Centre Mannheim, University of Heidelberg, Mannheim, Germany; and Dr Andrew Nicholson, Royal Brompton Hospital, London, United Kingdom. The consensus and editorial meeting was held at IARC on 24–26 April 2014, and the book is scheduled to be published in the spring of 2015.

The eighth volume of the fourth edition, Tumours of the Urinary System and Male Genital Organs, is in preparation. The volume editors are Dr Holger Moch, University Hospital Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland; Dr Peter Humphrey, Yale University School of Medicine, New Haven, USA; Dr Thomas Ulbright, IU Health Pathology Laboratory, Indianapolis, USA; and Dr Victor Reuter, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, USA. The consensus and editorial meeting will be held in March 2015, and the book is scheduled to be published in the spring of 2016.

References

- Baumgarten P, Harter PN, Tönjes M, Capper D, Blank AE, Sahm F, et al. (2014). Loss of FUBP1 expression in gliomas predicts *FUBP1* mutation and is associated with oligodendroglial differentiation, *IDH1* mutation and 1p/19q loss of heterozygosity. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol. 40(2):205–16. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/nan.12088 PMID:24117486</u>
- Fiaschetti G, Abela L, Nonoguchi N, Dubuc AM, Remke M, Boro A, et al. (2014). Epigenetic silencing of miRNA-9 is associated with HES1 oncogenic activity and poor prognosis of medulloblastoma. Br J Cancer. 110(3):636–47. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2013.764</u> <u>PMID:24346283</u>
- Kim YH, Ohta T, Oh JE, Le Calvez-Kelm F, McKay J, Voegele C, et al. (2014). *TP53*, *MSH4*, and *LATS1* germline mutations in a family with clustering of nervous system tumors. Am J Pathol. 184(9):2374–81. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ajpath.2014.05.017</u> PMID:25041856
- Louis DN, Perry A, Burger P, Ellison DW, Reifenberger G, von Deimling A, et al. (2014). International Society of Neuropathology-Haarlem Consensus Guidelines for Nervous System Tumor Classification and Grading. Brain Pathol. 24(5):429–35. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/bpa.12171</u> <u>PMID:24990071</u>
- Ohgaki H, Burger P, Kleihues P (2014). Definition of primary and secondary glioblastoma–response. Clin Cancer Res. 20(7):2013. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-0238</u> PMID:24557936
- Ohta T, Kim YH, Oh JE, Satomi K, Nonoguchi N, Keyvani K, et al. (2014). Alterations of the *RRAS* and *ERCC1* genes at 19q13 in gemistocytic astrocytomas. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 73(10):908–15. http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/NEN.00000000000110 PMID:25192052

- Suzuki A, Nobusawa S, Natsume A, Suzuki H, Kim YH, Yokoo H, et al. (2014). Olig2 labeling index is correlated with histological and molecular classifications in low-grade diffuse gliomas. J Neurooncol. 120(2):283–91. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11060-014-1568-1</u> PMID:25085214
- Xu QF, Pan YW, Li LC, Zhou Z, Huang QL, Pang JC, et al. (2014). MiR-22 is frequently downregulated in medulloblastomas and inhibits cell proliferation via the novel target *PAPST1*. Brain Pathol. 24(6):586–83. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/bpa.12136 PMID:24576181</u>

Section of Infections (INF)

The Section of Infections (INF) includes the Infections and Cancer Biology Group (ICB) and the Infections and Cancer Epidemiology Group (ICE). The research of both Groups is focused on the role of infectious agents in human carcinogenesis, including: (i) range of tumours associated with infection, and strength of the association; (ii) monitoring of human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccination and cervical screening in selected countries; (iii) biological properties of different viruses in in vivo and in vitro experimental models; (iv) biological significance of viral variants; (v) role of innate and acquired immunity; and (vi) diagnostic assays for human viruses and bacteria to be used in epidemiological studies. Agents studied are mucosal and cutaneous HPV types; HIV, in combination with other cancer-associated viruses; *Helicobacter* species; hepatitis B and C virus; Epstein–Barr virus (EBV); and Merkel cell polyomavirus. Some topics are exclusive to ICB (e.g. biological properties of different viruses) or ICE (e.g. worldwide distribution trends); many research programmes are collaborations between the two Groups. In 2014, INF personnel published 60 articles.

Infections and Cancer Biology Group (ICB)

ICB's research is focused on establishing a causal role of specific infectious agents in human cancer. Two complementary strategies are currently followed: (i) characterization of biological properties of both well-established and potential oncogenic viruses; and (ii) development and validation of laboratory assays for the detection of infections in human specimens, which can be used in epidemiological studies. ICB's functional studies have been focused on characterizing the impact of viral proteins on key cellular events in carcinogenesis, such as regulation and inactivation of tumour suppressors and evasion of immune surveillance. ICB has established laboratory diagnostic assays for more than 100 infectious agents, which have been used in many collaborative epidemiological studies to evaluate the role of HPV types and other infectious agents in different types of cancers.

Biological studies

In 2014, ICB completed three collaborative studies on HPV16 and EBV (Leitz et al., 2014; Siouda et al., 2014; Bazot et al., 2014). In particular, an EBV mechanism of downregulation of the expression of the tumour suppressor DOK1 was recently dissected. EBV downregulates DOK1 expression in primary human B cells in two steps. The first step is mediated by LMP1, which induces recruitment of two independent inhibitory complexes to the DOK1 promoter, one complex containing E2F1/pRB/DNMT1 and another containing at least EZH2. These events result in trimethylation of histone H3 at lysine 27 (H3K27me3) of the DOK1 promoter and gene expression silencing. In the second step, an additional EBV protein or proteins, as yet unidentified, lead to further repression of DOK1 expression by inducing hypermethylation of the DOK1 promoter (Siouda et al., 2014).

Epidemiological studies

Another activity of ICB is to perform epidemiological studies in collaboration with colleagues at IARC and external researchers, aiming to establish novel associations between infectious agents and cancer, for example between HPV and non-melanoma skin cancer (NMSC). Ultraviolet irradiation is a key risk factor for NMSC. However, the fact that immunosuppressed patients, such as organ transplant recipients, have an increased risk of NMSC development suggests the involvement of an infectious agent in skin carcinogenesis. Biological and epidemiological data indicate that cutaneous β HPV types are the most likely infectious agents involved in this pathological condition. A clinic-based case–control study was conducted to investigate the association between β HPV DNA in eyebrow hairs and skin squamous cell carcinoma (SCC). Eyebrow hairs from 168 SCC cases and 290 controls were genotyped for β HPV DNA. Eyebrow hair DNA prevalence was greater in cases (87%) than in controls (73%) (*P* < 0.05), and the

association with SCC increased with the number of HPV types present (\geq 4 types vs HPVnegative: odds ratio [OR], 2.02; 95% confidence interval [CI], 1.07–3.80; $P_{trend} = 0.02$). Typespecific associations were observed between SCC and DNA in eyebrow hairs for HPV23 (OR, 1.90; 95% CI, 1.10–3.30) and HPV38 (OR, 1.84; 95% CI, 1.04–3.24). SCC cases were more likely than controls to have eyebrow hairs that were HPV DNA-positive for single and multiple β HPV types, providing additional support for the potential role of these types in SCC development (Iannacone et al., 2014). Several other studies also suggest that β HPV infection may play a role at early stages of carcinogenesis (reviewed in Tommasino, 2014). To further evaluate this hypothesis, screening for β HPV DNA was performed in primary SCCs and their corresponding lymph node metastases in a series of patients. No primary cutaneous SCC or lymphatic metastases were found to share the same HPV DNA. These data support the fact that β HPV types do not play an etiopathogenic role in advanced stages of squamous cell carcinogenesis (Toll et al., 2014).

Infections and Cancer Epidemiology Group (ICE)

ICE's primary goals are to elucidate the contribution of infectious agents, notably HPV and HIV, to cancer etiology and to identify the most sustainable preventive strategies against infection-associated malignancies.

HPV and cervical cancer prevention

Promoting HPV vaccination and cervical screening programmes for the prevention of cervical cancer was an ICE priority in 2014. ICE concentrated on a multiyear project initiated in Bhutan in 2012 and in Rwanda in 2013. The aim is to demonstrate the early impact of vaccination against HPV in two low-resource countries that pioneered the implementation of this intervention. The first data on the prevalence of, and risk factors for, HPV infection in Bhutan have been published (Tshomo et al., 2014), setting a baseline with which to robustly assess the future effectiveness of the HPV vaccination programme. In addition, an estimate of cervical screening coverage in Bhutan has been completed (Baussano et al., 2014c). To anticipate the evaluation of the impact of HPV vaccination among adolescent girls, a novel type of HPV survey has been conducted, based on the collection of urine samples in female students aged 18–19 years in the two countries.

HPV and cancer of the head and neck

The contribution of HPV infection to cancer of the head and neck is still ill-defined and varies substantially by cancer site and world region, depending mainly on the competing importance of tobacco smoking or chewing (Combes and Franceschi, 2014). ICE also reviewed the prevalence of HPV in oropharyngeal cancer by sex and found that it was higher in men than in women in North America and Australia, but that the opposite was true in Asia and in some European countries, like France. The male-to-female ratio of HPV prevalence was negatively correlated with the male-to-female ratio of cumulative lung cancer risk (a proxy of smoking) (Combes et al., 2014). SPLIT (Study of HPV and Precancerous Lesions in the Tonsil) is a multicentre study conducted in France and coordinated by ICE that aims to fill the gap in understanding the prevalence and features of precancerous lesions in cancer-free tonsils according to the presence of HPV markers and smoking. The RACKAm study in France (hospital-based case–control study) and in Sweden (record linkage) was initiated in 2014 and should help to answer the question of the influence of tonsillectomy, mainly in childhood, on the risk of oropharyngeal cancer.

Fraction of cancer attributable to infection worldwide

ICE estimated that 2.2 million cancer cases (17.1% of the global burden) were attributable to infectious agents worldwide. Of these, approximately 610 000 were attributable to HPV (attributable fraction [AF], 4.8%), with 570 000 new cancer cases diagnosed among women (AF, 9.4%) and 39 000 cases among men (AF, 0.6%) (Giuliano et al., 2014). The AF of HPV in

women ranged from 2.5% in North America and Australia to approximately 25% in sub-Saharan Africa and India. ICE also continued updating AF estimates and made progress on new infection candidates, for example *Helicobacter* species other than *Helicobacter pylori*. An ICE meta-analysis showed that, using the improved immunoblot-based data, the worldwide AF for *H. pylori* in gastric cancer increased from 74.7% to 89.0%. This implies approximately 120 000 additional cases attributable to the infection, for a total of about 780 000 cases (6.2% instead of 5.2% of all cancers worldwide) (Plummer et al., 2014).

HIV/AIDS

Cancer risk in people with HIV/AIDS is a very important subject to ICE now that combined antiretroviral therapy (cART) has improved their survival and the cancer burden is set to increase as they age. ICE demonstrated that in Italy the gap in all-cancer survival between people with an AIDS diagnosis and the general population decreased from 5-fold in the pre-ART period to 3-fold thereafter (Maso et al., 2014).

Women living with HIV (WHIV) are at increased risk for HPV infection and HPV-related diseases, including severe cervical intraepithelial neoplasia of grades 2 and 3 (CIN2/3) and invasive cervical cancer. The impact of cART on CIN2/3 or invasive cervical cancer is still unclear. A cross-sectional study on HPV was nested within a cohort of 498 WHIV who underwent cervical screening in Nairobi, Kenya. HPV prevalence was evaluated in cervical exfoliated cells and biopsies. At 6 months after cryotherapy, CIN2/3 had been eliminated in 77% of women (De Vuyst et al., 2014). The performance of methylation markers in the triage of high-risk HPV-positive women was compared with that of Pap smear or visual inspection with acetic acid (VIA) for the first time in WHIV.

Innovative statistical methods for epidemiology

Statistical models in cancer research need to deal with sources of complexity such as repeated measurements, interval censoring, and hierarchical structure. In ICE, the most challenging problems of statistical analyses of infection-associated cancers are addressed using Bayesian hierarchical models (Plummer, 2014). To support this activity, ICE has also developed the statistical software package JAGS (http://mcmc-jags.sourceforge.net).

Modelling applied to HPV and cancer

The use of infection transmission models has entered the field of infection-related cancer epidemiology. In combination with models of carcinogenesis and empirical data, infection transmission models are useful to understand the patterns of transmission and progression of carcinogenic infections (Baussano et al., 2014b). In 2014, ICE developed an age-structured dynamic model of HPV transmission, validated it through between-country comparison, and used it to estimate the parameters that regulate the natural history of the most common HPV types (Baussano et al., 2014a; Baussano et al., 2014b; Franceschi and Baussano, 2014). Different strategies of HPV vaccination, i.e. the inclusion of girls of different ages and boys, were also compared (Baussano et al., 2014b).

References

Baussano I, Dillner J, Lazzarato F, Ronco G, Franceschi S (2014a). Upscaling human papillomavirus vaccination in high-income countries: impact assessment based on transmission model. Infect Agent Cancer. 9(1):4. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1750-9378-9-4</u> <u>PMID:24438317</u>

Baussano I, Franceschi S, Plummer M (2014b). Infection transmission and chronic disease models in the study of infection-associated cancers. Br J Cancer. 110(1):7–11. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2013.740 PMID:24300979</u>

- Baussano I, Tshomo U, Clifford GM, Tenet V, Tshokey T, Franceschi S (2014c). Cervical cancer screening program in Thimphu, Bhutan: population coverage and characteristics associated with screening attendance. BMC Womens Health. 14(1):147. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12905-014-0147-0</u> <u>PMID:25433538</u>
- Bazot Q, Deschamps T, Tafforeau L, Siouda M, Leblanc P, Harth-Hertle ML, et al. (2014). Epstein-Barr virus nuclear antigen 3A protein regulates CDKN2B transcription via interaction with MIZ-1. Nucleic Acids Res. 42(15):9700–16. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/nar/gku697</u> PMID:25092922
- Combes JD, Chen AA, Franceschi S (2014). Prevalence of human papillomavirus in cancer of the oropharynx by gender. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 23(12):2954–8. http://dx.doi.org/10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-14-0580 PMID:25205515
- Combes JD, Franceschi S (2014). Role of human papillomavirus in non-oropharyngeal head and neck cancers. Oral Oncol. 50(5):370–9. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.oraloncology.2013.11.004</u> PMID:24331868
- De Vuyst H, Mugo NR, Franceschi S, McKenzie K, Tenet V, Njoroge J, et al. (2014). Residual disease and HPV persistence after cryotherapy for cervical intraepithelial neoplasia grade 2/3 in HIV-positive women in Kenya. PLoS One. 9(10):e111037. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0111037</u> PMID:25343563
- Franceschi S, Baussano I (2014). Naturally acquired immunity against human papillomavirus (HPV): why it matters in the HPV vaccine era. J Infect Dis. 210(4):507–9. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jiu143</u> <u>PMID:24610878</u>
- Giuliano AR, Nyitray AG, Kreimer AR, Pierce Campbell CM, Goodman MT, Sudenga SL, et al. (2014). EUROGIN 2014 roadmap: differences in human papillomavirus infection natural history, transmission and human papillomavirus-related cancer incidence by gender and anatomic site of infection. Int J Cancer. [Epub ahead of print] <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.29082</u> <u>PMID:25043222</u>
- Iannacone MR, Gheit T, Pfister H, Giuliano AR, Messina JL, Fenske NA, et al. (2014). Case-control study of genus-beta human papillomaviruses in plucked eyebrow hairs and cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma. Int J Cancer. 134(9):2231–44. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28552 PMID:24136717</u>
- Leitz J, Reuschenbach M, Lohrey C, Honegger A, Accardi R, Tommasino M, et al. (2014). Oncogenic human papillomaviruses activate the tumor-associated lens epithelial-derived growth factor (*LEDGF*) gene. PLoS Pathog. 10(3):e1003957. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1003957</u> <u>PMID:24604027</u>
- Maso LD, Suligoi B, Franceschi S, Braga C, Buzzoni C, Polesel J, et al.; Cancer and AIDS Registries Linkage Study (2014). Survival after cancer in Italian persons with AIDS, 1986–2005: a population-based estimation. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 66(4):428–35. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/QAI.00000000000184 PMID:24798769</u>
- Plummer M (2014). Cuts in Bayesian graphical models. Stat Comput. [Epub ahead of print] http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11222-014-9503-z
- Plummer M, Franceschi S, Vignat J, Forman D, de Martel C (2014). Global burden of gastric cancer attributable to *Helicobacter pylori*. Int J Cancer. 136(2):487–90. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28999</u> <u>PMID:24889903</u>
- Siouda M, Frecha C, Accardi R, Yue J, Cuenin C, Gruffat H, et al. (2014). Epstein-Barr virus downregulates tumor suppressor DOK1 expression. PLoS Pathog. 10(5):e1004125. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1004125</u> PMID:24809689
- Toll A, Lloveras B, Masferrer E, Ferrándiz-Pulido C, García-Patos V, Gheit T, et al. (2014). Human beta papillomavirus DNA study in primary cutaneous squamous cell carcinomas and their corresponding metastases. Arch Dermatol Res. 306(1):93–5. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00403-013-1424-8</u> PMID:24173126
- Tommasino M (2014). The human papillomavirus family and its role in carcinogenesis. Semin Cancer Biol. 26:13–21. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.semcancer.2013.11.002</u> PMID:24316445
- Tshomo U, Franceschi S, Dorji D, Baussano I, Tenet V, Snijders PJ, et al. (2014). Human papillomavirus infection in Bhutan at the moment of implementation of a national HPV vaccination programme. BMC Infect Dis. 14(1):408. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2334-14-408</u> PMID:25047665

Section of Environment and Radiation (ENV)

The overall objectives of the Section of Environment and Radiation (ENV) are to investigate environmental, lifestyle, occupational, and radiation-related causes of cancer in human populations. ENV investigates these exogenous factors with the aims of contributing to primary prevention of cancer, increasing the understanding of biological mechanisms of carcinogenesis, and assessing the impact of environmental factors in the prognosis and course of disease and how best to implement prevention. These objectives are achieved through collaborative international epidemiological studies using a multidisciplinary approach, or through the initiation of individual analytical epidemiological studies. ENV also coordinates international consortia of epidemiological studies.

With studies related to environmental, lifestyle, occupational, or radiation-related exposures, the scope of the Section is broad. The main areas of environmental, occupational, and lifestyle-related research include pesticides and cancer (in particular, testicular cancer, breast cancer, and haematological malignancies), occupational carcinogens and lung cancer, asbestos and cancer, lifestyle-related and environmental risk factors for oesophageal cancer, lifestyle-related occurrence and survival of breast cancer in Africa, and risk factors for childhood leukaemia. Related to exposure to ionizing radiation, ENV has projects to study the effects of protracted low doses of external ionizing radiation from medical diagnostic examinations and from occupational activities, and studies of populations exposed to Chernobyl fallout and to radiation contamination in the Southern Urals and in the territories adjacent to the former Semipalatinsk nuclear weapons test site in Kazakhstan. With regard to non-ionizing radiation, research continues on possible cancer risks related to mobile phone use. In this regard, in 2014 ENV started to prepare for the launch of the French subcohort of a large European prospective cohort study (Cosmos) of mobile phone users.

Some key findings published during the past year are highlighted below.

Occupational carcinogens and lung cancer risk

The SYNERGY consortium pools data from 16 case-control studies on lung cancer from Europe and Canada with information on occupational history and lifetime smoking history, comprising almost 20 000 cases and more than 23 000 controls. Occupations previously suspected to be related to an increased lung cancer risk are being investigated. There were 473 cases and 501 controls who had ever worked in a baking-related job. No increased risk was observed for men working in baking. No linear trends were observed for duration of employment. Some results suggested increased lung cancer risk for women - for example, for working as a baker for more than 30 years and in never-smokers - but after exclusion of one study these increased risks disappeared. Overall, the findings of this study do not suggest increased lung cancer risk in baking-related professions (Behrens et al., 2013). There were 568 cases and 427 controls who had ever worked as welders, and the odds ratio of developing lung cancer was 1.44 (95% confidence interval [CI], 1.25–1.67), with the odds ratio increasing for longer duration of welding. In never-smokers and light smokers, the odds ratio was 1.96 (95% CI, 1.37-2.79). Overall, the findings of this study lend further support to the hypothesis that welding is associated with an increased risk of lung cancer (Kendzia et al., 2013). There were 695 cases and 469 controls who had ever worked as bricklayers (odds ratio, 1.47; 95% CI, 1.28-1.68). This study provided robust evidence of increased lung cancer risk in bricklayers. Although noncausal explanations cannot be completely ruled out, the association is plausible in view of the potential for exposure to several carcinogens, notably crystalline silica and, to a lesser extent, asbestos (Consonni et al., 2014). In a study based on the SYNERGY consortium and related to occupational risks, findings from this large international case-control consortium indicate that after accounting for co-occurring respiratory diseases, chronic bronchitis and emphysema have a positive association with lung cancer (Denholm et al., 2014).

Breast cancer in sub-Saharan Africa

The African Breast Cancer-Disparities in Outcomes (ABC-DO) study is a within-Africa, multicountry study of factors that affect breast cancer outcomes for patients at public hospitals across different sub-Saharan African settings. In four public hospital settings in Namibia, Nigeria, South Africa, and Uganda, ABC-DO will examine the full journey of breast cancer patients, from pre-diagnosis right through the post-diagnosis treatment period for up to 3 years. ABC-DO will study both immediate biological factors (prognostic factors, tumour biology, and treatment received) and distal factors that represent barriers to early presentation and diagnosis and to receipt of timely and appropriate treatment. Independently using cancer registry data from some of those countries has already shown intriguing findings on breast cancer occurrence and presentation. In 1218 consecutive women (91% black) diagnosed with invasive breast cancer during 2006–2012 at a public hospital in Soweto, South Africa, it was seen that although a greater proportion of black patients than non-black patients had estrogen receptor (ER)negative or triple-negative breast cancer, in all racial groups breast cancer was predominantly ER-positive and was being diagnosed at earlier stages over time. These observations provide initial indications that late-stage aggressive breast cancers may not be an inherent feature of the breast cancer burden across Africa (McCormack et al., 2013). In data of 12 361 women with histologically confirmed breast cancer diagnosed during 2009-2011 from South Africa's national cancer registry and diagnosed during 2011-2013 from Namibia's only cancer hospital, ERpositive breast cancer dominated in all Southern African races, but black women had a modest excess of aggressive subtypes. Based on the predominant receptor-defined breast cancers in Southern African, improving survival for the growing breast cancer burden should be achievable through earlier diagnosis and appropriate treatment (Dickens et al., 2014a). Living far from health services is known to delay presentation. In a peri-urban South African setting, the effect of distance from a patient's residence to the diagnostic hospital on stage at diagnosis was examined in 1071 public-sector breast cancer patients diagnosed during 2006-2012. Risk of late stage at diagnosis was 1.25-fold higher (95% CI, 1.09-1.42) per 30 km. Effects were pronounced in an underrepresented group of patients older than 70 years. Studies of women and the societal and health care-level influences on these delays and on the distribution of late stage at diagnosis are needed to inform interventions to improve diagnostic stage and breast cancer survival in this and similar settings (Dickens et al., 2014b).

Cancer burden related to exposure to asbestos

Fieldwork has begun on a retrospective cohort study of employees of one of the world's largest chrysotile mines and mills, situated in Asbest in the Russian Federation. The primary aim of the study is to better characterize and quantify the risk of cancer mortality in terms of: the dose-response relationship of exposure with risk; the range of cancer sites affected, including female-specific cancers; and the effects of duration of exposure and latency periods. This information will expand the understanding of the scale of the impending cancer burden due to chrysotile, including if use of chrysotile were to cease worldwide forthwith (Schüz et al., 2013). Exposure to asbestos remains a health concern. As mesothelioma occurs 30 years or more after asbestos exposure, contemporary rates likely reflect exposures in the 1960s and 1970s. During that period, the political division between western Germany and eastern Germany led to differences in the importation and consumption of asbestos. Therefore, regional, temporal, and sex variations in mesothelioma mortality rates in Germany. In both regions, mortality rates increased for birth cohorts until the mid-1940s and subsequently declined. Germany's peak mesothelioma burden is predicted to occur by 2020 (Schonfeld et al., 2014).

Cancer risk related to computed tomography examinations during childhood

The growing use of computed tomography (CT) technology raises concerns about radiological protection, especially for children and adolescents. Children are generally more sensitive to the carcinogenic effects of ionizing radiation than are adults. In addition, they may receive even higher radiation doses from a CT procedure than adults. Direct estimation of the health impact of CT radiation remains imprecise, and further large-scale epidemiological studies with more accurate dosimetry and assessment of potential biases and uncertainties are needed. For EPI-CT, a cohort study of more than 1 million children who underwent CT examinations in Europe, accurate estimates of organ-specific doses are essential. A new strategy of individual dose estimation involving CT scanner- and patient-specific data extracted from the archived system of the radiology departments is being developed, while properly accounting for uncertainty in dose estimates (Thierry-Chef et al., 2013).

Promotion of further studies on cancer risks related to nuclear accidents

IARC previously led a European Union-funded project, Agenda for Research on Chernobyl Health (ARCH), the objective of which was to recommend a strategic health research agenda (SRA) after the Chernobyl accident. Further steps leading to the implementation of the ARCH SRA are needed. The new initiative CO-CHER was started in 2014 in order to take the research agenda forward. It emphasizes the need to build partnerships with the three main countries affected by the accident, as well as Japan, the USA, and European countries. The CO-CHER project has the potential to create a coordination mechanism to ensure sustainable research into the health effects of the Chernobyl accident, to improve our understanding of radiation effects and to direct future radiation protection measures, as well as to aid health planning for those exposed after the Chernobyl accident, and after future nuclear accidents.

In late 2013, together with Fukushima Medical University, ENV organized a workshop in Fukushima to discuss with colleagues from Japan what steps are necessary to investigate long-term cancer effects related to the Fukushima Daiichi nuclear accident. In particular, it was pointed out that a population-based cancer registry in the prefecture was needed for surveillance, and that procedures need to be implemented so that data from the various studies in progress, such as the health survey or the thyroid screening, can later be linked to follow the participants.

Risk factors and survival of childhood cancer

Maternal occupational pesticide exposure during pregnancy and/or paternal occupational pesticide exposure around the time of conception have been suggested to increase risk of leukaemia in the offspring. Data from 13 case-control studies participating in the Childhood Leukaemia International Consortium (CLIC), with more than 8000 cases and more than 14 000 controls, were pooled, showing an increased risk of acute myeloid leukaemia (AML) in the offspring with maternal exposure to pesticides and a slightly increased risk of acute lymphoblastic leukaemia (ALL) with paternal exposure around conception (Bailey et al., 2014a). For parental occupational exposure to paints, using the same CLIC database, null findings for paternal exposure for both ALL and AML are consistent with previous reports. Further data on home exposure are needed (Bailey et al., 2014b). Parental exposures to pesticides and other chemicals are also suspected to be related to an increased risk of testicular cancer in the offspring. Current evidence from a literature review is inconsistent. The limitations of the studies may partly explain the inconsistencies observed (Béranger et al., 2013). This should be seen in the light of an increasing incidence of testicular cancer. Despite substantial heterogeneity in the rates, most European countries will have an increasing burden over the next two decades. Estimates predict 23 000 new cases of testicular cancer annually in Europe by 2025, a rise of 24% from 2005 (Le Cornet et al., 2014). Social, family, and environmental factors may also influence survival of childhood cancer. However, socioeconomic determinants did not affect ALL survival in children in western Germany, in a study of more than 600 cases diagnosed during 1992–1994. The observation of no social inequalities in paediatric ALL survival is reassuring, but continued monitoring is needed to assess the potential impact of evolving treatment options and changes in paediatric health service (Erdmann et al., 2014).

References

- Bailey HD, Fritschi L, Infante-Rivard C, Glass DC, Miligi L, Dockerty JD, et al. (2014a). Parental occupational pesticide exposure and the risk of childhood leukemia in the offspring: findings from the Childhood Leukemia International Consortium. Int J Cancer. 135(9):2157–72. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28854</u> PMID:24700406
- Bailey HD, Fritschi L, Metayer C, Infante-Rivard C, Magnani C, Petridou E, et al. (2014b). Parental occupational paint exposure and risk of childhood leukemia in the offspring: findings from the Childhood Leukemia International Consortium. Cancer Causes Control. 25(10):1351–67. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10552-014-0441-z PMID:25088805
- Behrens T, Kendzia B, Treppmann T, Olsson A, Jöckel KH, Gustavsson P, et al. (2013). Lung cancer risk among bakers, pastry cooks and confectionary makers: the SYNERGY study. Occup Environ Med. 70(11):810–4. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/oemed-2013-101469</u> PMID:23911873
- Béranger R, Le Cornet C, Schüz J, Fervers B (2013). Occupational and environmental exposures associated with testicular germ cell tumours: systematic review of prenatal and life-long exposures. PLoS One. 8(10):e77130. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0077130</u> PMID:24155923
- Consonni D, Matteis SD, Pesatori AC, Bertazzi PA, Olsson AC, Kromhout H, et al. (2014). Lung cancer risk among bricklayers in a pooled analysis of case-control studies. Int J Cancer. 136(2):360–71. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28986 PMID:24861979
- Denholm R, Schüz J, Straif K, Stücker I, Jöckel KH, Brenner DR, et al. (2014). Is previous respiratory disease a risk factor for lung cancer? Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 190(5):549–59. http://dx.doi.org/10.1164/rccm.201402-03380C PMID:25054566
- Dickens C, Duarte R, Zietsman A, Cubasch H, Kellett P, Schüz J, et al. (2014a). Racial comparison of receptor-defined breast cancer in Southern African women: subtype prevalence and age-incidence analysis of nationwide cancer registry data. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 23(11):2311–21. http://dx.doi.org/10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-14-0603 PMID:25143359
- Dickens C, Joffe M, Jacobson J, Venter F, Schüz J, Cubasch H, et al. (2014b). Stage at breast cancer diagnosis and distance from diagnostic hospital in a periurban setting: a South African public hospital case series of over 1,000 women. Int J Cancer. 135(9):2173–82. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28861</u> PMID:24658866
- Erdmann F, Kaatsch P, Zeeb H, Roman E, Lightfoot T, Schüz J (2014). Survival from childhood acute lymphoblastic leukaemia in West Germany: does socio-demographic background matter? Eur J Cancer. 50(7):1345–53. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2014.01.028</u> PMID:24582913
- Kendzia B, Behrens T, Jöckel KH, Siemiatycki J, Kromhout H, Vermeulen R, et al. (2013). Welding and lung cancer in a pooled analysis of case-control studies. Am J Epidemiol. 178(10):1513–25. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwt201 PMID:24052544
- Le Cornet C, Lortet-Tieulent J, Forman D, Béranger R, Flechon A, Fervers B, et al. (2014). Testicular cancer incidence to rise by 25% by 2025 in Europe? Model-based predictions in 40 countries using population-based registry data. Eur J Cancer. 50(4):831–9. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2013.11.035 PMID:24369860
- McCormack VA, Joffe M, van den Berg E, Broeze N, Silva I dos S, Romieu I, et al. (2013). Breast cancer receptor status and stage at diagnosis in over 1,200 consecutive public hospital patients in Soweto, South Africa: a case series. Breast Cancer Res. 15(5):R84. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/bcr3478</u> PMID:24041225
- Schonfeld SJ, McCormack V, Rutherford MJ, Schüz J (2014). Regional variations in German mesothelioma mortality rates: 2000–2010. Cancer Causes Control. 25(5):615–24. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10552-014-0368-4</u> PMID:24658968
- Schüz J, Schonfeld SJ, Kromhout H, Straif K, Kashanskiy SV, Kovalevskiy EV, et al. (2013). A retrospective cohort study of cancer mortality in employees of a Russian chrysotile asbestos mine and mills: study rationale and key features. Cancer Epidemiol. 37(4):440–5. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.canep.2013.03.001 PMID:23608525

Thierry-Chef I, Dabin J, Friberg EG, Hermen J, Istad TS, Jahnen A, et al. (2013). Assessing organ doses from paediatric CT scans–a novel approach for an epidemiology study (the EPI-CT study). Int J Environ Res Public Health. 10(2):717–28. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ijerph10020717</u> <u>PMID:23429160</u>

Section of Nutrition and Metabolism (NME)

Diet, nutrition, metabolic and hormonal imbalances, excess energy consumption, obesity, and physical inactivity are thought to be important contributors to increasing cancer incidence rates worldwide. However, the mechanisms of action of these factors remain poorly understood. In addition, the contributing influence of dietary transitions from traditional diets to those typical of industrialized countries, which is taking place in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) (e.g. in Latin America), and exposures in fetal life and early infancy have not been well studied.

Thus, the main objective of the Section of Nutrition and Metabolism (NME) is to address these issues by evaluating the association of diet (including dietary patterns), nutrition, physical activity, and energy imbalance with cancer risk in high-income countries and LMICs using cohort and case–control designs or human intervention studies. The emphasis is on improving the assessment of dietary exposures, applying biomarkers and metabolomics to study biochemical changes, and considering gene–environment interactions. The translation of findings into public health recommendations for cancer prevention is of major importance to NME. The Section is composed of three Groups: the Biomarkers Group (BMA), the Dietary Exposure Assessment Group (DEX), and the Nutritional Epidemiology Group (NEP).

Biomarkers Group (BMA)

The main goal of BMA is to improve the understanding of the role of environmental and lifestyle factors in carcinogenesis through the application of biomarkers of exposure in population-based studies. Advanced analytical methodologies (mass spectrometry, gas chromatography, immunoassays) and metabolomic approaches are developed to measure the exposome and its fractions in epidemiological and/or intervention studies set up in high-income countries and LMICs. These methods are used to discover novel biomarkers of exposure to dietary, environmental, and metabolic factors, to identify novel risk factors for cancers, and to elucidate mechanisms linking exposures to cancer risk.

Exposome-wide association studies on cancer risk

A workflow for the acquisition of untargeted metabolomic data by high-resolution mass spectrometry and for data processing has been fully validated and applied to the analysis of the exposome in batches of up to 600 plasma or urine samples (Edmands et al., 2014a). Software in the R language has been developed to correct signal drift in large analytical batches and to identify unknown signals of interest based on their mass fragmentation spectra (Edmands et al., 2014b). This workflow is being deployed to explore liver cancer etiology and to identify prediagnostic biomarker profiles for early diagnosis using data from the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) cohort (collaboration with NEP). The workflow is also geared towards the discovery of biomarkers of environmental pollution (EXPOsOMICS EU project) and the identification of biomarkers of food intake (collaboration with DEX; NutriTech EU project) (Scalbert et al., 2014). More than 80 biomarkers of intake for six polyphenol-rich foods could be identified in urine samples from the EPIC calibration study. In addition, detailed data on more than 400 biomarkers of exposure to dietary and other environmental factors have been collected from the scientific literature and curated in the new web-based Exposome-Explorer database. These data will be used to select panels of biomarkers for future exposomewide association studies.

Targeted metabolomic approaches have been implemented in several epidemiological studies to evaluate the reliability of metabolic profiles over time and to study the influence of different diets on metabolic phenotypes (collaboration with the University of Oxford, United Kingdom). Similar targeted metabolic analyses are being applied to a case–control study nested in EPIC to evaluate the association of metabolic profiles with liver cancer (collaboration with NEP).

Preliminary findings point towards a positive association of liver cancer risk with blood levels of aromatic amino acids, glutamate, and citrate, and an inverse association with sphingomyelin, lysophosphatidylcholine, branched chain amino acids, glutamine, choline, and polyunsaturated fatty acid.

Hormones and cancer risk

Novel methods for the measurements of steroids (liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry [LC-MS], highly sensitive enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays [ELISAs]) and inflammatory factors (multilabel plate readers) have been tested to improve the validity of measurements and reduce the sample volume needed for the analyses. A study within the EPIC cohort was carried out to explore the association between reproductive and menstrual factors and the risk of differentiated thyroid carcinoma in women (collaboration with ICE); the results did not support a strong role of these factors in the disease (Zamora-Ros et al., 2014a). Several cross-sectional studies have also been carried out in a subsample of the large Mexican ESMaestras cohort (600 premenopausal women) to study the association between circulating levels of C-peptide, leptin, and adiponectin and mammographic density (collaboration with NEP). Statistical analyses are in progress.

Polyphenols and cancer risk

The lack of convincing epidemiological evidence on the role of polyphenols in the prevention of cancers appears to be explained by difficulties in measuring exposures to this highly complex family of dietary constituents (Zamora-Ros et al., 2014b). A new food composition table for the 502 known polyphenols was constructed for the EPIC and EsMaestras cohorts (collaboration with DEX and NEP). Data on polyphenol losses during food processing and cooking were collected from the scientific literature (Rothwell et al., 2013) and integrated into the food composition tables. A mass spectrometry-based method to measure 40 major polyphenols in urine has been developed and is now being used in the EPIC cross-sectional study to validate the new food composition table.

Fatty acids and cancer risk

Measurements of plasma phospholipid fatty acids, as validated biomarkers of dietary intake and metabolism, have been implemented in a large case–control study on breast cancer nested within EPIC, in a case–control study on breast cancer within the Mexican CAMA study, and in a pilot study carried out by the Catalan Institute of Oncology, Spain, on the effect of a diet and physical activity intervention in breast cancer patients on fatty acid metabolism and weight loss. Statistical analyses are in progress within NEP.

Dietary Exposure Assessment Group (DEX)

The overall goal of DEX is to improve the accuracy, understanding, and interpretation of dietary exposure (and changes thereof) in studies of diet and cancer and other intermediate diseases. DEX has a leading role in developing, validating, and implementing standardized dietary assessment methodologies, particularly in international nutrition surveillance and epidemiological study settings.

Global nutrition surveillance implementation

An IARC-WHO Global Nutrition Surveillance initiative has been launched to collect standardized dietary data worldwide (in 25 countries) using the DEX methodologies, to support dietary surveillance, research, and prevention of cancer and other noncommunicable diseases worldwide. Building on its successful implementation in Europe and strong international networks, this initiative aims to pilot its expansion in two to four countries in the other WHO regions worldwide.

The creation of a European GloboDiet consortium, including seven countries (Austria, Belgium, France, Germany, Malta, the Netherlands, and Switzerland), has been initiated as the European branch of this Global Nutrition Surveillance initiative. The main aim of this consortium is to create the legal and managerial framework to use, provide, and analyse the first comparable food consumption data available worldwide, as the proof of principle of the Global Nutrition Surveillance initiative.

Piloting is in progress in Latin America (in Brazil and Mexico) and Asia (in the Republic of Korea). In Africa, an in-depth inventory of the methodological and logistic situation (ASPADAM project, in 22 countries) was performed as a prerequisite to producing a road map for the African-GloboDiet surveillance branch.

Development of international dietary methodologies and (web) infrastructures

Through different EU projects (EuroDISH, PANCAKE, JPI-DEDIPAC, BBMRI-LPC), DEX is pursuing the development and implementation of a comprehensive e-research infrastructure to support the dissemination, maintenance, data access, sharing, and (pooled) analyses of the GloboDiet data across participating countries. A strong information technology network involving academics, centres of excellence, and key stakeholders supports the development and implementation of the research infrastructure and its integration with other complementary research infrastructures such as the EuroFIR eSearch facility, a federated European food concentration database network. In addition, e-training facilities have been successfully pilottested as an alternative to traditional face-to-face trainings. These e-trainings were applied under real study conditions in several European countries and LMICs and are complemented by the development, testing, and implementation of new standard operating procedures (SOPs).

To address specific methodological requirements to collect dietary information from children, a GloboDiet data entry version using food diaries, but still compatible with the 24-Hour Dietary Recall GloboDiet software, was developed. This GloboDiet data entry version has been successfully pilot-tested in Belgium and the Czech Republic (Freisling et al., 2014; Ocké et al., 2014).

To develop new nutritional research areas, the DEX standardized European Nutrient Database (ENDB) has been enriched with several new nutrients and/or biological components (folates, polyphenols, plant sterols, methyl group donors, and vitamin K), following SOPs (Nicolas et al., 2014).

DEX also contributed to advanced methodological publications, including book chapters and editorials (Slimani et al., 2014; Illner et al., 2014; Freisling et al., 2013b; Huybrechts et al., 2013; Huybrechts et al., 2014).

Targeted research to better measure and understand dietary exposure (and changes thereof) and its associations with cancer and other intermediate diseases, including obesity

DEX is also involved in projects studying the role of diet and nutritional biomarkers in relation to cancer (the EPIC project) and other chronic diseases, such as obesity and diabetes (the EPIC-PANACEA, INTERACT projects). New holistic measures of dietary exposures through more dietbiomarker integrated and multivariate approaches, specifically nutrient patterns by means of principal component analysis (Moskal et al., 2014) and the treelet transform – an alternative method to derive dietary patterns that produces sparse factors in combination with a cluster tree to visualize related groups of foods/nutrients – have been implemented and related to colorectal cancer, breast cancer, and weight change. Descriptive analyses on acrylamide dietary exposure in EPIC showed that dietary acrylamide intake differed by 3-fold between European regions, with a clear geographical gradient (Freisling et al., 2013a). Furthermore, a comparison between dietary intake estimates and haemoglobin adduct levels of acrylamide revealed correlation values consistently lower than 0.20 (Ferrari et al., 2013b). Cadmium exposure in Europe was evaluated using probabilistic and deterministic models, where probabilistic estimates were almost consistently larger than deterministic counterparts and should thus be preferably applied (Ferrari et al., 2013a). Furthermore, targeted projects have been initiated on potential health impacts of the consumption of highly processed foods, and on health risks of vulnerable population groups, such as obese people (where obesity was associated with a slightly higher bladder cancer risk in men but not in women; Roswall et al., 2014), children and adolescents, the elderly (where more than 40 factors from different domains such as lifestyle, health, and environment were reviewed and related to diet quality in old age; Freisling et al., 2013b), and people of low socioeconomic status. This work is being performed in collaboration with other researchers in NME.

Nutritional Epidemiology Group (NEP)

The overall objective of NEP, in close interaction with DEX and BMA, is to determine the role of diet, nutrition (under- or over-nutrition), hormonal factors, physical activity, and energy balance on cancer risk and development, particularly considering biomarkers of dietary exposure, metabolic factors, epigenetics, and gene–diet/nutrient/environment interactions.

Studies in high-income countries

NEP has strong coordination and scientific roles in EPIC, with a focus on cancers of the breast, colorectum, and liver. NEP reviewed the association between nutrition and breast cancer (Chajès and Romieu, 2014) and reported inverse associations with breast cancer risk for higher dietary fibre intake (Ferrari et al., 2013c), dietary folate intake (among higher alcohol consumers), and a healthy lifestyle (McKenzie et al., 2014). In addition, NEP is conducting a large epigenetic project to evaluate the role of B vitamins and lifestyle factors on methylation patterns and associations with breast cancer risk in a nested cancer control approach. Analyses of the interaction of circulating fatty acids and antioxidant vitamins with breast cancer risk are under way in EPIC, as observed in the SUVIMAX cohort (Pouchieu et al., 2014), as well as exploration of diet-epigenetic interactions. For colorectal cancer, our findings showed that serum levels of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, non-high-molecular-weight adiponectin, and soluble leptin receptor had the greatest impact on the observed association with adiposity (Aleksandrova et al., 2014b) and that biomarker patterns associated with metabolic syndrome, inflammation, and oxidative stress each represent important pathways towards development of these tumours (Aleksandrova et al., 2014c). Other observations were inverse associations with selenium and its carrier protein (Hughes et al., 2014) and higher dairy intake (Murphy et al., 2013), a positive association with adult weight gain (Aleksandrova et al., 2013), poorer colorectal cancer survival with higher pre-diagnostic weight (Fedirko et al., 2014b), and an inverse association between long-chain omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and risk of advanced colorectal adenomas (Cottet et al., 2013). For liver cancers, inverse associations were observed with circulating vitamin D (Fedirko et al., 2014a) and higher coffee intake (Bamia et al., 2014), and positive associations with increased inflammation (Aleksandrova et al., 2014a), higher sex hormone-binding globulin (Lukanova et al., 2014), and higher dairy intake (Duarte-Salles et al., 2014). In other work, higher circulating markers of industrial trans-fatty acids showed increased risk of weight gain during a 5-year follow-up. NEP led the review of recommendations for the fourth edition of the European Code Against Cancer regarding diet, obesity, physical activity, alcohol consumption, and breastfeeding.

Studies in low- and middle-income countries

NEP collaborates with the EsMaestras cohort study of teachers in 12 Mexican states, with the goal of assessing the determinants of major female cancers in a population undergoing

nutritional transitions. To date, predictors of mammographic density have been evaluated (Rice et al., 2013a; Rice et al., 2013b; Rinaldi et al., 2014). NEP also collaborates on CAMA, a breast cancer case–control study in Mexico, and has evaluated the role of several dietary factors, anthropometry, and hormone use (Amadou et al., 2013; Amadou et al., 2014; Chajès et al., 2012; Fedirko et al., 2012).

NEP also conducts the PRECAMA multicentre population-based case-control study (in Chile, Colombia, Costa Rica, and Mexico; collaboration with the Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center and the MCA Section) to determine major predictors of breast cancer phenotypes among premenopausal women. A similar project is being conducted in the Soweto population in Johannesburg, South Africa (South Africa Breast Cancer [SABC] study; collaboration with the University of the Witwatersrand and the ENV Section). Recruitment of cases and controls is in progress for both.

To track the changing nutritional environment and determine the impact on obesity, the trend of serum fatty acids concentrations over 20 years is being studied in an ongoing cohort in Uganda.

Alcohol and cancer

NEP recently reviewed the role of alcohol in breast cancer (Scoccianti et al., 2014), colorectal cancer (Ferrari et al., 2012), and total/cause-specific mortality (Bergmann et al., 2013). A competing risks framework was also applied (Ferrari et al., 2014).

Determinants of cancer in elderly populations

NEP is investigating the association of various exposures with cancer risks in elderly populations within the CHANCES project, which has brought together and harmonized detailed data from 14 European and international prospective cohort studies, making it one of the largest resources to study the impact of lifestyle and social factors on disease development and multimorbidity in the elderly.

Nutritional metabolomics

NEP published a method to investigate sources of variability in metabolomic data, an important contribution to the field (Fages et al., 2014), and continues its projects of targeted and untargeted metabolomic profiling in liver cancers (in collaboration with BMA).

Early life and metabolic disorders

Using data from the POSGRAD Mexican birth cohort, NEP is evaluating the role of maternal and early nutritional exposures on epigenetic changes in cord blood cells (Lee et al., 2013; Lee et al., 2014), in collaboration with the National Institute of Public Health of Mexico (INSP) and Emory University (USA).

Intervention studies

NEP collaborates with an interventional randomized controlled trial conducted in French cancer centres. The intervention includes an experimental arm with a tailored physical activity programme associated with nutritional counselling during 27 weeks of adjuvant treatment and a control arm with standard care in French cancer treatment centres. The initial phase of this project will enrol 180 women per arm. NEP will evaluate the effect of the intervention on weight loss and fat distribution as well as fatty acid metabolism. Plasma phospholipid fatty acids extracted from blood samples obtained before and after intervention will be measured at IARC through validated gas chromatography methodology. Endogenously synthesized fatty acids will be quantified and levels will be compared before and after intervention.

Methodological work

NEP conducts methodological research on correction procedures for exposure measurement errors, use of multivariate statistics to analyse large data sets, and multilevel techniques for risk models. NEP also coordinates the EPIC Statistical Working Group, which promotes statistical expertise within the EPIC network. Collaborations are in place with statistical experts worldwide.

References

- Aleksandrova K, Boeing H, Nöthlings U, Jenab M, Fedirko V, Kaaks R, et al. (2014a). Inflammatory and metabolic biomarkers and risk of liver and biliary tract cancer. Hepatology. 60(3):858–71. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/hep.27016 PMID:24443059
- Aleksandrova K, Drogan D, Boeing H, Jenab M, Bas Bueno-de-Mesquita H, Jansen E, et al. (2014b). Adiposity, mediating biomarkers and risk of colon cancer in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition study. Int J Cancer. 134(3):612–21. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28368</u> <u>PMID:23824948</u>
- Aleksandrova K, Jenab M, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, Fedirko V, Kaaks R, Lukanova A, et al. (2014c). Biomarker patterns of inflammatory and metabolic pathways are associated with risk of colorectal cancer: results from the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC). Eur J Epidemiol. 29(4):261–75. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10654-014-9901-8</u> <u>PMID:24791703</u>
- Aleksandrova K, Pischon T, Buijsse B, May AM, Peeters PH, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, et al. (2013). Adult weight change and risk of colorectal cancer in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition. Eur J Cancer. 49(16):3526–36. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2013.06.021</u> <u>PMID:23867126</u>
- Amadou A, Fabre A, Torres-Mejía G, Ortega-Olvera C, Angeles-Llerenas A, McKenzie F, et al. (2013). Hormonal therapy and risk of breast cancer in Mexican women. PLoS One. 8(11):e79695. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0079695</u> <u>PMID:24260282</u>
- Amadou A, Torres Mejia G, Fagherazzi G, Ortega C, Angeles-Llerenas A, Chajes V, et al. (2014). Anthropometry, silhouette trajectory, and risk of breast cancer in Mexican women. Am J Prev Med. 46(3) Suppl 1:S52–64. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2013.10.024</u> PMID:24512931
- Bamia C, Lagiou P, Jenab M, Trichopoulou A, Fedirko V, Aleksandrova K, et al. (2014). Coffee, tea and decaffeinated coffee in relation to hepatocellular carcinoma in a European population: multicentre, prospective cohort study. Int J Cancer. [Epub ahead of print] <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.29214</u> <u>PMID:25219573</u>
- Bergmann MM, Rehm J, Klipstein-Grobusch K, Boeing H, Schütze M, Drogan D, et al. (2013). The association of pattern of lifetime alcohol use and cause of death in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) study. Int J Epidemiol. 42(6):1772–90. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyt154 PMID:24415611
- Chajès V, Romieu I (2014). Nutrition and breast cancer. Maturitas. 77(1):7–11. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.maturitas.2013.10.004 PMID:24215727
- Chajès V, Torres-Mejía G, Biessy C, Ortega-Olvera C, Angeles-Llerenas A, Ferrari P, et al. (2012). ω-3 and ω-6 Polyunsaturated fatty acid intakes and the risk of breast cancer in Mexican women: impact of obesity status. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 21(2):319–26. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-11-0896 PMID:22194528</u>
- Cottet V, Collin M, Gross AS, Boutron-Ruault MC, Morois S, Clavel-Chapelon F, et al. (2013). Erythrocyte membrane phospholipid fatty acid concentrations and risk of colorectal adenomas: a case-control nested in the French E3N-EPIC cohort study. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 22(8):1417–27. http://dx.doi.org/10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-13-0168 PMID:23704475
- Duarte-Salles T, Fedirko V, Stepien M, Trichopoulou A, Bamia C, Lagiou P, et al. (2014). Dairy products and risk of hepatocellular carcinoma: the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition. Int J Cancer. 135(7):1662–72. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28812</u> PMID:24615266
- Edmands WM, Ferrari P, Scalbert A (2014a). Normalization to specific gravity prior to analysis improves information recovery from high resolution mass spectrometry metabolomic profiles of human urine. Anal Chem. 86(21):10925–31. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/ac503190m PMID:25285402</u>
- Edmands WMB, Barupal DK, Scalbert A (2014b). MetMSLine: an automated and fully integrated pipeline for rapid processing of high-resolution LC-MS metabolomic datasets. Bioinformatics. [Epub ahead of print] <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btu705</u>

- Fages A, Ferrari P, Monni S, Dossus L, Floegel A, Mode N, et al. (2014). Investigating sources of variability in metabolomic data in the EPIC study: the Principal Component Partial *R*-square (PC-PR2) method. Metabolomics. 10(6):1074–83. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11306-014-0647-9</u>
- Fedirko V, Duarte-Salles T, Bamia C, Trichopoulou A, Aleksandrova K, Trichopoulos D, et al. (2014a). Prediagnostic circulating vitamin D levels and risk of hepatocellular carcinoma in European populations: a nested case-control study. Hepatology. 60(4):1222–30. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/hep.27079</u> PMID:24644045
- Fedirko V, Romieu I, Aleksandrova K, Pischon T, Trichopoulos D, Peeters PH, et al. (2014b). Prediagnostic anthropometry and survival after colorectal cancer diagnosis in Western European populations. Int J Cancer. 135(8):1949–60. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28841 PMID:24623514</u>
- Fedirko V, Torres-Mejía G, Ortega-Olvera C, Biessy C, Angeles-Llerenas A, Lazcano-Ponce E, et al. (2012). Serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D and risk of breast cancer: results of a large population-based case-control study in Mexican women. Cancer Causes Control. 23(7):1149–62. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10552-012-9984-z PMID:22622862</u>
- Ferrari P, Arcella D, Heraud F, Cappé S, Fabiansson S (2013a). Impact of refining the assessment of dietary exposure to cadmium in the European adult population. Food Addit Contam Part A Chem Anal Control Expo Risk Assess. 30(4):687–97. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/19440049.2013.777161</u> <u>PMID:23514357</u>
- Ferrari P, Freisling H, Duell EJ, Kaaks R, Lujan-Barroso L, Clavel-Chapelon F, et al. (2013b). Challenges in estimating the validity of dietary acrylamide measurements. Eur J Nutr. 52(5):1503–12. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00394-012-0457-7</u> PMID:23114503
- Ferrari P, Licaj I, Muller DC, Kragh Andersen P, Johansson M, Boeing H, et al. (2014). Lifetime alcohol use and overall and cause-specific mortality in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) study. BMJ Open. 4(7):e005245. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2014-005245</u> <u>PMID:24993766</u>
- Ferrari P, McKay JD, Jenab M, Brennan P, Canzian F, Vogel U, et al. (2012). Alcohol dehydrogenase and aldehyde dehydrogenase gene polymorphisms, alcohol intake and the risk of colorectal cancer in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition study. Eur J Clin Nutr. 66(12):1303–8. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ejcn.2012.173</u> PMID:23149980
- Ferrari P, Rinaldi S, Jenab M, Lukanova A, Olsen A, Tjønneland A, et al. (2013c). Dietary fiber intake and risk of hormonal receptor-defined breast cancer in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition study. Am J Clin Nutr. 97(2):344–53. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.112.034025</u> <u>PMID:23269820</u>
- Freisling H, Moskal A, Ferrari P, Nicolas G, Knaze V, Clavel-Chapelon F, et al. (2013a). Dietary acrylamide intake of adults in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition differs greatly according to geographical region. Eur J Nutr. 52(4):1369–80. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00394-012-0446-x PMID:23238529</u>
- Freisling H, Knaze V, Slimani N (2013b). A systematic review of peer-reviewed studies on diet quality indexes applied to old age: a multitude of predictors of diet quality. In: Preedy VR, Hunter LA, Patel VB, editors. Diet Quality: An Evidence-Based Approach, Vol. 2, Nutrition and Health. New York: Springer Science+Business Media; pp. 365–81. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7315-2_26</u>
- Freisling H, Ocké MC, Casagrande C, Nicolas G, Crispim SP, Niekerk M, et al. (2014). Comparison of two food record-based dietary assessment methods for a pan-European food consumption survey among infants, toddlers, and children using data quality indicators. Eur J Nutr. [Epub ahead of print] <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00394-014-0727-7 PMID:24916012</u>
- Hughes DJ, Fedirko V, Jenab M, Schomburg L, Méplan C, Freisling H, et al. (2014). Selenium status is associated with colorectal cancer risk in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition cohort. Int J Cancer. [Epub ahead of print] <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.29071</u> <u>PMID:25042282</u>
- Huybrechts I, Beirlaen C, De Vriendt T, Slimani N, Pisa PT, Schouppe E, et al. (2014). Validity of instruction leaflets for parents to measure their child's weight and height at home: results obtained from a randomised controlled trial. BMJ Open. 4(2):e003768. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2013-003768</u> PMID:24508849
- Huybrechts I, Vereecken C, Vyncke K, Maes L, Slimani N, De Henauw S (2013). The 'diet quality index' and its applications. In: Preedy VR, Hunter LA, Patel VB, editors. Diet Quality: An Evidence-Based Approach, Vol. 2, Nutrition and Health. New York: Springer Science+Business Media; pp. 301–14. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7315-2_21

- Illner AK, Lachat C, Slimani N (2014). Assessing food intake through a chest-worn camera device. Public Health Nutr. 17(8):1669–70. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S136898001400130X PMID:24983427</u>
- Lee HS, Barraza-Villarreal A, Biessy C, Duarte-Salles T, Sly PD, Ramakrishnan U, et al. (2014). Dietary supplementation with polyunsaturated fatty acid during pregnancy modulates DNA methylation at *IGF2/H19* imprinted genes and growth of infants. Physiol Genomics. 46(23);851–7. http://dx.doi.org/10.1152/physiolgenomics.00061.2014 PMID:25293351
- Lee HS, Barraza-Villarreal A, Hernandez-Vargas H, Sly PD, Biessy C, Ramakrishnan U, et al. (2013). Modulation of DNA methylation states and infant immune system by dietary supplementation with ω-3 PUFA during pregnancy in an intervention study. Am J Clin Nutr. 98(2):480–7. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.112.052241</u> <u>PMID:23761484</u>
- Lukanova A, Becker S, Hüsing A, Schock H, Fedirko V, Trepo E, et al. (2014). Prediagnostic plasma testosterone, sex hormone-binding globulin, IGF-I and hepatocellular carcinoma: etiological factors or risk markers? Int J Cancer. 134(1):164–73. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28342 PMID:23801371</u>
- McKenzie F, Ferrari P, Freisling H, Chajès V, Rinaldi S, de Batlle J, et al. (2014). Healthy lifestyle and risk of breast cancer among postmenopausal women in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition cohort study. Int J Cancer. [Epub ahead of print] http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.29315 PMID:25379993
- Moskal A, Pisa PT, Ferrari P, Byrnes G, Freisling H, Boutron-Ruault MC, et al. (2014). Nutrient patterns and their food sources in an international study setting: report from the EPIC study. PLoS One. 9(6):e98647. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0098647</u> PMID:24901309
- Murphy N, Norat T, Ferrari P, Jenab M, Bueno-de-Mesquita B, Skeie G, et al. (2013). Consumption of dairy products and colorectal cancer in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC). PLoS One. 8(9):e72715. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0072715</u> PMID:24023767
- Nicolas G, Witthöft CM, Vignat J, Knaze V, Huybrechts I, Roe M, et al. (2014). Compilation of a standardized international folate database for EPIC. Food Chem. [Epub ahead of print] <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2014.11.044</u>
- Ocké M, Brants H, Dofkova M, Freisling H, van Rossum C, Ruprich J, et al. (2014). Feasibility of dietary assessment methods, other tools and procedures for a pan-European food consumption survey among infants, toddlers and children. Eur J Nutr. [Epub ahead of print] <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00394-014-0750-8 PMID:25108656</u>
- Pouchieu C, Chajès V, Laporte F, Kesse-Guyot E, Galan P, Hercberg S, et al. (2014). Prospective associations between plasma saturated, monounsaturated and polyunsaturated fatty acids and overall and breast cancer risk – modulation by antioxidants: a nested case-control study. PLoS One. 9(2):e90442. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0090442</u> <u>PMID:24587366</u>
- Rice MS, Bertrand KA, Lajous M, Tamimi RM, Torres-Mejía G, Biessy C, et al. (2013a). Body size throughout the life course and mammographic density in Mexican women. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 138(2):601–10. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10549-013-2463-8 PMID:23460247</u>
- Rice MS, Biessy C, Lajous M, Bertrand KA, Tamimi RM, Torres-Mejía G, et al. (2013b). Metabolic syndrome and mammographic density in Mexican women. Cancer Prev Res (Phila). 6(7):701–10. http://dx.doi.org/10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-12-0475 PMID:23682074
- Rinaldi S, Biessy C, Hernandez M, Lesueur F, dos-Santos-Silva I, Rice MS, et al. (2014). Circulating concentrations of insulin-like growth factor-I, insulin-like growth factor-binding protein-3, genetic polymorphisms and mammographic density in premenopausal Mexican women: results from the ESMaestras cohort. Int J Cancer. 134(6):1436–44. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28469</u> PMID:24037648
- Roswall N, Freisling H, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, Ros M, Christensen J, Overvad K, et al. (2014). Anthropometric measures and bladder cancer risk: a prospective study in the EPIC cohort. Int J Cancer. 135(12):2918–29. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28936</u> PMID:24771290
- Rothwell JA, Perez-Jimenez J, Neveu V, Medina-Remón A, M'hiri N, García-Lobato P, et al. (2013). Phenol-Explorer 3.0: a major update of the Phenol-Explorer database to incorporate data on the effects of food processing on polyphenol content. Database (Oxford). 2013:bat070. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/database/bat070 PMID:24103452
- Scalbert A, Brennan L, Manach C, Andres-Lacueva C, Dragsted LO, Draper J, et al. (2014). The food metabolome: a window over dietary exposure. Am J Clin Nutr. 99(6):1286–308. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.113.076133</u> PMID:24760973

- Scoccianti C, Lauby-Secretan B, Bello PY, Chajes V, Romieu I (2014). Female breast cancer and alcohol consumption: a review of the literature. Am J Prev Med. 46(3) Suppl 1:S16–25. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2013.10.031 PMID:24512927
- Slimani N, Freisling H, Illner AK, Huybrechts I (2014). Methods to determine dietary intake. In: Lovegrove JA, Hodson L, Sharma S, Lanham-New SA, editors. Nutrition Research Methodologies. Nutrition Society Textbook Series. London: The Nutrition Society.
- Zamora-Ros R, Rinaldi S, Biessy C, Tjønneland A, Halkjaer J, Fournier A, et al. (2014a). Reproductive and menstrual factors and risk of differentiated thyroid carcinoma: the EPIC study. [Epub ahead of print] Int J Cancer. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.29067</u> PMID:25041790
- Zamora-Ros R, Touillaud M, Rothwell JA, Romieu I, Scalbert A (2014b). Measuring exposure to the polyphenol metabolome in observational epidemiologic studies: current tools and applications and their limits. Am J Clin Nutr. 100(1):11–26. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.113.077743</u> PMID:24787490

Section of Genetics (GEN)

The Section of Genetics (GEN) comprises three Groups, with the overall mission of identifying genes involved in cancer, characterizing the spectrum of pathogenic sequence variants that they harbour, and understanding how they interact with non-genetic factors. These are the Genetic Epidemiology Group (GEP), the Genetic Cancer Susceptibility Group (GCS), and the Biostatistics Group (BST). GEP is mainly involved in the coordination of large population-based epidemiological studies and the analysis of multiple common genetic variants to identify new susceptibility loci. Cancers of primary interest include those of the lung and upper aerodigestive tract (including the nasopharynx) as well as kidney cancer. GCS hosts the Genetic Services Platform and uses a combination of bioinformatics and sequencing approaches to aid the identification of susceptibility variants or mutations. BST provides overall statistical and bioinformatics support to GEP and GCS. GEP is also responsible for two large cohorts that were developed by IARC, the Golestan (Islamic Republic of Iran) cohort of 50 000 individuals and the Russian Federation cohort of 150 000 individuals.

Genetic Epidemiology Group (GEP)

Recent developments indicate that the next few years will be a fundamental time in genetic epidemiology for identifying complex disease genes and assessing how these genes interact with environmental factors. Reasons for this include the availability of genome-wide scans and the increasing availability of large population-based studies. GEP continues to develop infrastructure for future studies while leading large genome-wide and sequencing studies. Notable developments and results from GEP in 2014 include the following.

Renal cancer sequencing and genome-wide analyses

Two large GEP projects aim at investigating the genetic and genomic features of renal cancer. The KIDRISK project, funded by the United States National Cancer Institute (NCI), has assembled germline genome-wide genotyping data on more than 10 000 cases and 15 000 controls. This represents the largest genome-wide association study (GWAS) of renal cancer to date, with results expected by the end of 2014 for disease risk and survival. Whole-genome expression data from tumour and non-tumour renal tissue from a subset of cases will complement the findings, either by inferring potential functional effects of certain polymorphisms or by increasing the statistical power to detect polymorphisms associated with renal cancer risk and survival. In parallel, the CAGEKID project, funded by the European Commission, has investigated the somatic (tumour) mutations occurring in renal cancer. While most previous efforts had been directed towards single-country projects and drug target discovery, CAGEKID has been pivotal in investigating somatic mutational signatures in four European countries (Scelo et al., 2014). Previous publications were based on whole-exome sequencing (i.e. known functional areas of the genome, representing approximately 1% of the total DNA), whereas GEP undertook whole-genome sequencing experiments, revealing a striking genomic pattern in tumours from Romania, thought to be related to exposure to aristolochic acid. GEP is now expanding this work to other geographical areas and investigating perhaps less common mutational patterns and their interaction with modifiable factors.

Renal cancer and metabolic markers of risk and survival

Concurrently with the projects on renal cancer genomics, GEP has made a concerted effort to evaluate the relationship between circulating fat- and water-soluble vitamins and renal cancer. The initial analysis (Johansson et al., 2014) on B vitamins involved in the one-carbon metabolism pathway was based on 550 kidney cancer cases and matched controls from the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) study. This analysis clearly demonstrated that study participants with higher plasma concentrations of vitamin B6 had lower risk of subsequent kidney cancer diagnosis in a dose–response fashion ($P_{trend} = 4 \times 10^{-6}$); the

odds ratio when comparing the fourth and first quartiles (OR_{4vs1}) was 0.40 (95% confidence interval [CI], 0.28–0.57), a result that was independently replicated in the Melbourne Collaborative Cohort Study (MCCS; OR_{4vs1} , 0.47; 95% CI, 0.23–0.99). Another noteworthy finding was that vitamin B6 was also associated with improved renal cell carcinoma survival after diagnosis; the hazard ratio for all-cause mortality in renal cell carcinoma cases when comparing the fourth and first quartiles (HR_{4vs1}) of vitamin B6 was 0.57 in EPIC (95% CI, 0.37– 0.87; $P_{trend} < 0.001$) and 0.56 in MCCS (95% CI, 0.27–1.17). Further analyses on newly diagnosed cases from the K2 case series showed that vitamin B6 stood out as an independent predictor of kidney cancer survival when measured at diagnosis, with 3-fold differences in survival rates between the fourth and first quartiles (HR, 0.33; 95% CI, 0.11–0.66) after accounting for disease stage. Together, these analyses strongly implicate an important role of vitamin B6 for renal cancer onset and outcome, and GEP is now initiating studies based on metabolomics and Mendelian randomization to further evaluate the importance of vitamin B6 in renal cancer etiology.

Genome-wide analyses for both lung and oral cancers

In collaboration with NCI, and as part of the TRICL (Transdisciplinary Research in Cancer of the Lung) consortium, the largest GWAS of lung cancer is being completed, involving more than 25 000 lung cancer cases and comparable controls. Initial results are expected by the end of 2014. As well as providing further evidence on novel genetic loci for lung cancer, this initiative should also help to highlight the role of non-genetic factors through focused Mendelian randomization analyses. GEP scientists have also organized a parallel large GWAS of oral and pharyngeal cancers including more than 7000 cases and comparable controls.

Large cohort infrastructure led by GEP

As one of the leading partners in the BBMRI-LPC (Biobanking and Biomolecular Resources Research Infrastructure – Large Prospective Cohorts) consortium, GEP organized the first scientific call providing access for European scientists to a network of population-based cohort studies. This call took place in April–July 2014, and an international scientific committee has been established to review the proposals.

As well as contributing to the coordination of the EPIC cohort, GEP is also responsible for two additional IARC cohorts, based in the Islamic Republic of Iran and the Russian Federation. The first major publication of the Russian Federation prospective cohort, based on more than 150 000 Russian adults, provided strong evidence for the important role of vodka in premature mortality in the Russian Federation (Zaridze et al., 2014).

Genetic Cancer Susceptibility Group (GCS)

GCS carries out work towards two goals within the Agency: (i) the study of how genetic variation, and particularly rare genetic variants, contributes to cancer susceptibility, and (ii) the development and maintenance of much of the Agency's genomics capacity (including the related bioinformatics). In the context of the second goal, GCS has continued the roll-out and optimization of next-generation sequencing at the Agency. Throughout 2014, an Ion Torrent Proton DNA Sequencer has been incorporated into the laboratory to replace the SOLiD5500 system and to complement the existing medium-throughput Ion Torrent Personal Genome Machine (PGM) Sequencer. GCS has installed semi-automated robotic workflows for library preparation, which allow up to 384 samples to be analysed in parallel on a Proton run. In addition, GCS has focused on methods that enable the detection of very rare mutations from very low starting amounts of DNA, such as those found in circulating cell-free DNA. In collaboration with Information Technology Services (ITS), GCS has tripled the computational and memory capacity of the Agency's high-performance computing cluster to ensure an appropriate infrastructure for the analysis of these large, complex genomic data sets. GCS has

also contributed to the development of the IARC Bioinformatics Steering Committee (BISC), tasked with the oversight of the Agency's bioinformatics activities and with providing advice to the Director about their future direction.

In terms of genetic research, with collaborators at the Institute of Cancer Research (United Kingdom), Dartmouth College (USA), and NCI (USA), GCS coordinated a very large imputationbased GWAS of lung cancer, totalling 11 348 lung cancer cases and 15 861 controls, followed by validation in an additional 10 246 cases and 38 295 controls. This study identified robust associations with two rare variants with particularly important risk effects (2.5-fold): one missense variant in the CHEK2 gene (rs17879961, I157T), which validated our previous findings (Brennan et al., 2007), and a second variant in BRCA2 (rs11571833, K3326X). Both findings were of note due to their unexpected nature; the CHEK2 variant was inversely associated with lung cancer but associated with increased risks of other cancers, and susceptibility to lung cancer has not previously been linked to genetic variation in BRCA2. Such findings highlight the potential of agnostic genetic approaches to provide novel insights into cancer susceptibility and cancer etiology in general. This study also demonstrated that coordinated imputation protocols and very large studies can be used to identify additional genetic variants from pre-existing GWAS data (Wang et al., 2014). As part of an international effort that identified three likely pathogenic mutations in RINT1 by exome sequencing in multiple-case breast cancer families, a case-control mutation-screening study of the RINT1 gene was conducted in 1313 early-onset breast cancer cases and in 1123 frequency-matched controls, and it was concluded that very rare genetic variants in the *RINT1* gene predispose to breast cancer (Park et al., 2014).

In addition, GCS has coordinated a meta-analysis-based GWAS of Hodgkin lymphoma, which identified the genetic variants at 19p13.3, a locus containing *TCF3*, a gene critical to B-cell development. Bioinformatic analysis of this locus identified that the associated variants disrupted putative transcription binding sites within the promoter of *TCF3* and appear to influence expression of *TCF3*. The study also demonstrated an enrichment of expression quantitative trait loci (eQTLs) within variants associated with Hodgkin lymphoma, implying that many additional risk alleles are likely to exist (Cozen et al., 2014). Finally, GCS participated in other GWAS-related projects, for example a large GWAS of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (Cerhan et al., 2014).

Biostatistics Group (BST)

BST focuses on statistical issues specific to the goals of GEN. In some cases these relate to application of standard statistical techniques, but some areas require more profound involvement and innovation.

One of these areas is the detection of mutational signatures in somatic DNA sequences. These may potentially indicate the action of specific toxins, or reveal a finer-than-anticipated range of cancer phenotypes. The most commonly used technique is non-negative matrix factorization (NMF); however, many choices remain unclear and there is no theoretical guarantee that the resulting decomposition into signatures is unique. Thus, there remain important opportunities to develop techniques in this area.

A second challenging area is the detection of circulating tumour DNA (ctDNA). Potentially this may provide early diagnosis of cancers that are difficult to detect by current techniques. However, concentrations of tumour DNA in plasma are typically less than 1% and are discarded as noise by standard sequence-reading algorithms. The challenge for BST, undertaken with bioinformaticians in GCS, is to develop methods of sufficient specificity to separate ctDNA from various sources of noise generated in the sequencing process.

References

- Brennan P, McKay J, Moore L, Zaridze D, Mukeria A, Szeszenia-Dabrowska N, et al. (2007). Uncommon *CHEK2* mis-sense variant and reduced risk of tobacco-related cancers: case control study. Hum Mol Genet. 16(15):1794–801. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddm127</u> PMID:17517688
- Cerhan JR, Berndt SI, Vijai J, Ghesquières H, McKay J, Wang SS, et al. (2014). Genome-wide association study identifies multiple susceptibility loci for diffuse large B cell lymphoma. Nat Genet. 46(11):1233–8. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ng.3105 PMID:25261932
- Cozen W, Timofeeva MN, Li D, Diepstra A, Hazelett D, Delahaye-Sourdeix M, et al. (2014). A metaanalysis of Hodgkin lymphoma reveals 19p13.3 *TCF3* as a novel susceptibility locus. Nat Commun. 5:3856. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ncomms4856</u> <u>PMID:24920014</u>
- Johansson M, Fanidi A, Muller DC, Bassett JK, Midttun Ø, Vollset SE, et al. (2014). Circulating biomarkers of one-carbon metabolism in relation to renal cell carcinoma incidence and survival. J Natl Cancer Inst. 106(12):dju327. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/jnci/dju327</u>
- Park DJ, Tao K, Le Calvez-Kelm F, Nguyen-Dumont T, Robinot N, Hammet F, et al. (2014). Rare mutations in *RINT1* predispose carriers to breast and Lynch syndrome-spectrum cancers. Cancer Discov. 4(7):804–15. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1158/2159-8290.CD-14-0212</u> PMID:25050558
- Scelo G, Riazalhosseini Y, Greger L, Letourneau L, Gonzàlez-Porta M, Wozniak MB, et al. (2014). Variation in genomic landscape of clear cell renal cell carcinoma across Europe. Nat Commun. 5:5135. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ncomms6135</u> PMID:25351205
- Wang Y, McKay JD, Rafnar T, Wang Z, Timofeeva MN, Broderick P, et al. (2014). Rare variants of large effect in *BRCA2* and *CHEK2* affect risk of lung cancer. Nat Genet. 46(7):736–41. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ng.3002 PMID:24880342
- Zaridze D, Lewington S, Boroda A, Scélo G, Karpov R, Lazarev A, et al. (2014). Alcohol and mortality in Russia: prospective observational study of 151,000 adults. Lancet. 383(9927):1465–73. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)62247-3 PMID:24486187

Section of Early Detection and Prevention (EDP)

Prevention and early detection interventions are effective ways of reducing cancer burden. The Section of Early Detection and Prevention (EDP) is composed of three Groups, the Prevention and Implementation Group (PRI), the Quality Assurance Group (QAS), and the Screening Group (SCR), which contribute to the evaluation of resource-appropriate interventions and quality assurance inputs for the control of breast, cervical, colorectal, and oral, and gastric cancer globally, with particular emphasis on less developed countries. To achieve this objective, EDP investigates innovative early detection and prevention approaches and addresses the development of quality assurance guidelines and the integration of the different prevention and early detection strategies as part of routine health services. There is a continuing emphasis on developing, updating, and expanding training resources to augment human resources for cancer prevention and early detection initiatives and on scaling up prevention and early detection services by contributing to the development of local health systems within the context of the research studies.

Prevention and Implementation Group (PRI)

PRI conducts studies to evaluate the efficacy, population impact, and feasibility of interventions for the prevention of cervical, anal, oral, and gastric cancer. In addition, PRI collaborates with public health institutions to implement and evaluate cancer prevention interventions.

Cervical cancer vaccine studies in Latin America

The Costa Rica Vaccine Trial is a clinical trial including approximately 7500 women of the efficacy and safety of the bivalent human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccine to prevent infections and lesions in different anatomical sites. During 2014, PRI published the final according-to-protocol efficacy results against cervical intraepithelial neoplasia of grade 2 or worse (CIN2+) (90% against HPV 16/18; 60% against other types) (Hildesheim et al., 2014) and the first efficacy demonstration against vulvar HPV infections (54% against HPV 16/18, intention to treat) (Lang Kuhs et al., 2014a). Several studies evaluating the comparability of different HPV serological methods (Robbins et al., 2014a; Robbins et al., 2014b) and its impact on efficacy assessment (Lang Kuhs et al., 2014b) were published. In another clinical trial in Mexico including 2000 women (Lazcano-Ponce et al., 2014), the response to two doses of the bivalent vaccine in girls 9–10 years old was demonstrated to be non-inferior to the response to three doses in the same age group and among women aged 18–24 years. These results, together with other studies, led to the WHO recommendation of two doses for young girls.

Primary end-points for prophylactic HPV vaccine trials

In September 2013, PRI organized, in collaboration with the United States National Cancer Institute, a meeting of international experts to recommend end-points for future clinical trials of HPV vaccines. For most applications, the use of virological or immunological end-points was considered sufficient (<u>www.iarc.fr/en/publications/pdfs-online/wrk/wrk7/</u>).

Multicentre study of HPV screening and triage (ESTAMPA)

PRI is conducting a multicentre screening study in Latin America to evaluate the performance of visual, cytological, and molecular triage techniques for HPV-positive women. More than 50 000 women aged 30–64 years will be recruited at collaborating centres in Latin America. All HPV-positive women are being referred for colposcopy, biopsy, and final diagnosis, with follow-up at 18 months. Recruitment has begun in two sites in Colombia, one in Paraguay, and one in Honduras, and current recruitment is at more than 3500 women. Centres in Mexico, Costa Rica, and Uruguay will soon initiate recruitment. Another important objective is to evaluate implementation strategies for organized screening and to provide training and transfer of new technologies.

Epidemiology of *Helicobacter pylori* and its eradication for prevention of gastric cancer

The ENIGMA study investigates the prevalence of *H. pylori* and gastric cancer cofactors in highand low-incidence areas for gastric cancer. Age-stratified random samples of subjects aged 1-69 years are being recruited with an interview and collection of blood, urine, and faecal specimens to investigate age-specific prevalence of *H. pylori* infection and environmental, host, and bacterial cofactors, in addition to predicting future rates of gastric cancer and assessing antibiotic resistance in each area. In collaboration with the University of Latvia, PRI has initiated the pilot phase of a clinical trial (the GISTAR study) to investigate the impact of H. pylori eradication on stomach cancer incidence and mortality among 30 000 subjects in several eastern European countries, including assessment of biomarkers of chronic atrophic gastritis (pepsinogens). The study arms are: (1) screening for *H. pylori*, pepsinogen testing, with gastroscopy referral of subjects with serological evidence of chronic gastritis and treatment of H. pylori-positive subjects, or (2) no intervention. Follow-up will be 15 years. Pilot work is under way in Latvia. PRI has also initiated a randomized clinical trial (HELPER) to evaluate the impact of H. pylori eradication on stomach cancer incidence within the National Cancer Screening Program of the Republic of Korea. Approximately 13 000 subjects aged 40-64 years will be tested for H. pylori, and H. pylori-positive subjects will be randomized to treatment or placebo, with passive follow-up through the screening programme (endoscopy every 2 years) for 10 years.

In December 2013, PRI organized a meeting of international experts to discuss the role of *Helicobacter pylori* eradication for prevention of gastric cancer. The group called for increased attention to the burden of the disease and its incorporation into cancer control programmes, including demonstration projects of *H. pylori* eradication with progress assessment of its feasibility, impact on gastric cancer, and potential adverse consequences (Herrero et al., 2014; www.iarc.fr/en/publications/pdfs-online/wrk/wrk8/).

Support of HPV vaccination and screening programmes in Latin America

Within the national screening programme of Argentina, a protocol to evaluate the acceptability and performance of self-collected specimens was recently completed, with excellent results. Extension of the screening programme to new areas is starting. The materials developed and the experience gained should be useful for other programmes in the region.

Quality Assurance Group (QAS)

Quality assurance aims to ensure that a given endeavour leads to its intended outcome. It is highly relevant to complex systems, such as screening and primary prevention programmes that are designed to lower the burden of cancer in the population. The activities of QAS aim to expand and effectively disseminate knowledge key to assuring the successful implementation of primary and secondary prevention programmes as a tool for comprehensive cancer control. The focus is on programmes and evidence-based interventions for large segments of the population in which the majority of currently preventable cancer cases and deaths occur. The efforts of QAS are particularly relevant to continuous improvement in comprehensive control of cancer. They cover not only primary and secondary prevention but also tertiary prevention, because the process of screening involves diagnosis, treatment, and also subsequent care of patients identified through screening.

The same principles of quality assurance and successful implementation of cancer prevention programmes apply in all cultural and resource settings. Through coordination of international networks, QAS promotes exchange of experience and collaboration in quality assurance and

successful implementation of programmes in Europe and, increasingly, in other regions of the world.

IARC Handbook of Cancer Prevention on breast cancer screening

QAS staff and visiting scientists have contributed to the development of Volume 15 of the IARC Handbooks of Cancer Prevention, on breast cancer screening, which will update Volume 7, published in 2002.

Guidelines for cancer screening

In 2014, the WHO Assistant Director-General for Noncommunicable Diseases and Mental Health completed work on a position paper on mammography screening. The primary objectives of the guidelines are: (i) to provide policy-makers, health-care managers, and health-care providers with clear, objective, and independent guidance on the balance between benefits and harms of mammography screening in women of different age groups; and (ii) to disseminate the recommendations based on this guidance among policy-makers, health-care providers, health-care managers, women, and the general public to promote informed decisions in this area. The QAS Group Head served on the Guideline Development Group that drafted the recommendations in the position paper.

The second edition of the European guidelines for quality assurance in cervical cancer screening was published by the European Union (EU) in 2008. Supplements to the second edition have been prepared in a project coordinated by QAS and co-financed by the EU Health Programme. These supplements deal with fields that the editors felt warranted an update (primary screening with HPV testing, organization of screening) or inclusion in the guidelines (implementation of HPV vaccination) before preparation of a third edition. The supplements will be published in 2014.

Collaboration with WHO in implementation of cancer screening guidelines

In 2014, QAS continued to collaborate with the WHO Regional Office for Europe, WHO Headquarters in Geneva (DG HQ/CPM Chronic Diseases Prevention and Management, and HQ/NMH/MND/CPM Noncommunicable Diseases and Mental Health), and the WHO Country Office in Belarus and the Ministry of Health of Belarus in planning feasibility and pilot studies and the initiation of nationwide roll-out of population-based breast and cervical screening programmes that fulfil international and European quality standards. QAS also provided technical and scientific support to the WHO regional and country offices and the Ministry of Health of Belarus in preparing applications for financial support from the Russian Federation and the EU for quality-assured implementation of breast and cervical screening programmes in Belarus. Financial support for this activity was provided by the WHO Regional Office for Europe. The projects will begin in the second half of 2014.

Further dissemination of knowledge on successful implementation of cancer screening

In addition to the above-mentioned activities in collaboration with WHO and the Ministry of Health of Belarus, QAS has continued to disseminate knowledge on successful implementation of cancer screening programmes through publications and lectures given by QAS staff and visiting scientists. In 2014, QAS staff and visiting scientists also collaborated with the Petrov Oncology Research Institute in St Petersburg and the Finnish Cancer Society in the scientific coordination of the 2014 Baltic International Oncology Forum, held in St Petersburg in June 2014. The two-day meeting attracted a wide range of stakeholders and specialists, including health officials, general practitioners, oncologists, surgeons, pathologists, epidemiologists, and service providers from the North-western Region of the Russian Federation and from several other regions throughout the Russian Federation and neighbouring countries. Experts highly

experienced in the planning, implementation, quality assurance, and evaluation of populationbased cancer screening programmes shared their experience about state-of-the-art approaches to implementation of cancer screening and future prospects for programme implementation in the Russian Federation and neighbouring countries, including the former republics of the Soviet Union. A joint follow-up workshop, the Siberian Screening Forum, will take place on 27 November 2014 in Khanty-Mansiysk.

Revision of the European Code Against Cancer

In 2014, work was completed on the fourth edition of the European Code Against Cancer. The aim of the project, which was co-financed by the EU Health Programme, was to evaluate, revise, and expand, if necessary, the previous recommendations in the Code. The updated and expanded recommendations indicate key lifestyle and public health interventions that if adopted by average-risk members of the population may result in a reduction in cancer incidence and mortality. In addition to 12 main recommendations in the Code itself, additional related information is provided on the IARC website, explaining the recommendations and indicating how individuals can follow them. The website also includes links to the scientific publications that explain the evidence base for each of the recommendations. The project is coordinated by QAS and ENV and involves several other IARC Sections and Groups (CSU, COM, IMO, INF, NME, PRI, and SCR). The new Code was launched on 14 October 2014 with a virtual press conference coordinated by IARC and the European Commission. Additional press conferences and media activities will be conducted in EU Member States and IARC Participating States and coordinated by the IARC Communications Group.

EU screening implementation report

The first report on implementation of the Council Recommendation on cancer screening was published by the European Commission in 2008. In 2014, work has continued on the second report, in a project coordinated by QAS and co-financed by the EU. The data collection instruments have been designed, piloted, and revised, and data collection has begun.

EurocanPlatform

In the framework of the EurocanPlatform project, which is co-funded by the EU Seventh Framework Programme for Research, QAS has convened an international working group that is preparing a report on evidence-based recommendations on breast cancer screening. The recommendations aim to improve the multidisciplinary approach to managing breast lesions by refined characterization and reporting of small (1–14 mm) and diffuse breast cancers.

European Cancer Control Joint Action

In collaboration with the Finnish Cancer Society, QAS provided scientific and technical support to the joint action of the European Commission's European Partnership for Action Against Cancer (EPAAC) by hosting the secretariat of the work package on cancer screening. In the new Comprehensive Cancer Control (CanCon) Joint Action, which follows the EPAAC joint action, QAS is providing scientific and technical support to the project secretariat for the work package on cancer screening hosted at the Finnish Cancer Society. This support will be financed through the EU grant for CanCon. The new joint action will develop guidance for EU Member States on how to develop comprehensive cancer control plans. The work package on screening will develop the guidance applicable to screening, taking into account European quality assurance guidelines.

Screening Group (SCR)

SCR conducts field studies to evaluate the performance characteristics, effectiveness, and service delivery aspects of different early detection methods for breast, cervical, colorectal, and oral cancer control in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs). These initiatives also address the means by which screening services could be scaled up through public health services and

the development of different training resources to catalyse and augment trained human resources through close collaboration with the national institutions and government health services in the countries (Bosch et al., 2013; Denny et al., 2013; Sankaranarayanan et al., 2013a). SCR aims to contribute scientific evidence through its research programme to support the development of resource-appropriate early detection policies and health systems to deliver effective early services (Sankaranarayanan et al., 2014; Khuhaprema et al., 2014). Technical support is also provided to national early detection programmes in selected LMICs.

Cervical cancer prevention and screening

As part of efforts to accelerate the introduction of HPV vaccination in low-resource countries, the efficacy of one, two, and three doses of HPV vaccine in preventing cervical neoplasia is being evaluated in a multicentre observational study involving 17 729 girls and women in India. Preliminary results indicate that vaccination is safe and that even a single dose is immunogenic, with non-inferiority of the immunogenicity of two doses compared with that of the three-dose regimen and similar frequency of incident and persistent HPV 16/18 infection in all the study groups. The study cohorts will be followed up to establish long-term protection against HPV infection and cervical neoplasia after the different dose regimes.

The long-term impact of a single round of screening with HPV testing, cytology, or visual inspection with acetic acid (VIA) on cervical cancer incidence and mortality is being addressed by following up about 230 000 women in the Osmanabad and Dindigul district cervical screening trials in India. The utility of conventional cytology and VIA to triage HPV-positive women is being evaluated in field studies in India (Muwonge et al., 2014). The effectiveness of different screening approaches in preventing cervical neoplasia in HIV-infected women is being addressed in a cohort study in India (Joshi et al., 2014). Technical support is provided to ongoing VIA or HPV screening programmes in Bangladesh, Guinea, India, Morocco, the Republic of the Congo, and Thailand. A meta-analysis of the efficacy of cryotherapy and cold coagulation in curing cervical intraepithelial neoplasia has been completed (Sauvaget et al., 2013; Dolman et al., 2014).

Breast cancer screening

In a randomized controlled trial involving 116 000 women in Trivandrum, India, the second round of screening by clinical breast examination (CBE) has been completed and the third round is in progress. A qualitative study addressing the factors influencing participation in the various levels of the screening trial has been published (Grosse Frie et al., 2013). The role of breast awareness in improving early detection and survival of breast cancer patients is being investigated in Mumbai, India. The performance characteristics of near-infrared as well as tactile imaging are being evaluated in India, China, and Thailand.

Oral cancer screening

Long-term results, after 15 years of follow-up, of the participants in the randomized trial of oral visual screening in Kerala, India, indicate a 25% reduction in mortality among users of tobacco and/or alcohol and a more than 80% reduction in mortality in those who complied with all four rounds of screening (Sankaranarayanan et al., 2013b). The inputs and outcome of "social marketing" to increase awareness for early detection are being evaluated in Sri Lanka. A manual for visual screening has been published (Ramadas et al., 2013).

Colorectal cancer screening

A pilot programme based on immunochemical faecal occult blood testing (iFOBT) and triage colonoscopy in the government health services in Lampang Province, Thailand, was successfully completed (Khuhaprema et al., 2014). The cost–effectiveness of colorectal cancer screening in

Thailand is being evaluated, and technical support is currently being provided in the integration and scaling up of colorectal cancer screening in five provinces.

References

- Bosch FX, Broker TR, Forman D, Moscicki AB, Gillison ML, Doorbar J, et al. (2013). Comprehensive control of human papillomavirus infections and related diseases. Vaccine. 31 Suppl 6:G1–31. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2013.10.002 PMID:24331817
- Denny LA, Sankaranarayanan R, De Vuyst H, Kim JJ, Adefuye PO, Alemany L, et al. (2013). Recommendations for cervical cancer prevention in sub-Saharan Africa. Vaccine. 31 Suppl 5:F73–4. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2012.11.077 PMID:24331750
- Dolman L, Sauvaget C, Muwonge R, Sankaranarayanan R (2014). Meta-analysis of the efficacy of cold coagulation as a treatment method for cervical intraepithelial neoplasia: a systematic review. BJOG. 121(8):929–42. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.12655</u> PMID:24597779
- Grosse Frie K, Ramadas K, Anju GA, Mathew BS, Muwonge R, Sauvaget CS, et al. (2013). Determinants of participation in a breast cancer screening trial in Trivandrum District, India. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 14(12):7301–7. http://dx.doi.org/10.7314/APJCP.2013.14.12.7301 PMID:24460292
- Herrero R, Parsonnet J, Greenberg ER (2014). Prevention of gastric cancer. JAMA. 312(12):1197–8. http://dx.doi.org/10.1001/jama.2014.10498 PMID: 25247512
- Hildesheim A, Wacholder S, Catteau G, Struyf F, Dubin G, Herrero R; CVT Group (2014). Efficacy of the HPV-16/18 vaccine: final according to protocol results from the blinded phase of the randomized Costa Rica HPV-16/18 vaccine trial. Vaccine. 32(39):5087–97. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2014.06.038 PMID:25018097</u>
- Joshi S, Babu JM, Jayalakshmi D, Kulkarni V, Divate U, Muwonge R, et al. (2014). Human papillomavirus infection among human immunodeficiency virus-infected women in Maharashtra, India. Vaccine. 32(9):1079–85. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2013.12.060 PMID:24397900</u>
- Khuhaprema T, Sangrajrang S, Lalitwongsa S, Chokvanitphong V, Raunroadroong T, Ratanachu-Ek T, et al. (2014). Organised colorectal cancer screening in Lampang Province, Thailand: preliminary results from a pilot implementation programme. BMJ Open. 4(1):e003671. http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2013-003671 PMID:24435889
- Lang Kuhs KA, Gonzalez P, Rodriguez AC, van Doorn LJ, Schiffman M, Struijk L, et al. (2014a). Reduced prevalence of vulvar HPV16/18 infection among women who received the HPV16/18 bivalent vaccine: a nested analysis within the Costa Rica Vaccine Trial. J Infect Dis. 210(12):1890–9. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jiu357 PMID:24958910
- Lang Kuhs KA, Porras C, Schiller JT, Rodriguez AC, Schiffman M, Gonzalez P, et al.; Costa Rica Vaccine Trial Group (2014b). Effect of different human papillomavirus serological and DNA criteria on vaccine efficacy estimates. Am J Epidemiol. 180(6):599–607. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwu168</u> <u>PMID:25139208</u>
- Lazcano-Ponce E, Stanley M, Muñoz N, Torres L, Cruz-Valdez A, Salmerón J, et al. (2014). Overcoming barriers to HPV vaccination: non-inferiority of antibody response to human papillomavirus 16/18 vaccine in adolescents vaccinated with a two-dose vs. a three-dose schedule at 21 months. Vaccine. 32(6):725–32. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2013.11.059</u> PMID:24355090
- Muwonge R, Wesley RS, Nene BM, Shastri SS, Jayant K, Malvi SG, et al. (2014). Evaluation of cytology and visual triage of human papillomavirus-positive women in cervical cancer prevention in India. Int J Cancer. 134(12):2902–9. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28627</u> <u>PMID:24272364</u>
- Ramadas K, Thomas G, Mathew B, Balan A, Thara S, Sankaranarayanan R (2013). A manual for the early diagnosis of oral neoplasia. Lyon, France: IARC.
- Robbins HA, Kemp TJ, Porras C, Rodriguez AC, Schiffman M, Wacholder S, et al. (2014a). Comparison of antibody responses to human papillomavirus vaccination as measured by three assays. Front Oncol. 3:328. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2013.00328 PMID:24455487</u>
- Robbins HA, Li Y, Porras C, Pawlita M, Ghosh A, Rodriguez AC, et al. (2014b). Glutathione S-transferase L1 multiplex serology as a measure of cumulative infection with human papillomavirus. BMC Infect Dis. 14(1):120. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2334-14-120</u> PMID:24588945
- Sankaranarayanan R, Anorlu R, Sangwa-Lugoma G, Denny LA (2013a). Infrastructure requirements for human papillomavirus vaccination and cervical cancer screening in sub-Saharan Africa. Vaccine. 31 Suppl 5:F47–52. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2012.06.066</u> PMID:24331747

- Sankaranarayanan R, Ramadas K, Thara S, Muwonge R, Thomas G, Anju G, et al. (2013b). Long term effect of visual screening on oral cancer incidence and mortality in a randomized trial in Kerala, India. Oral Oncol. 49(4):314–21. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.oraloncology.2012.11.004</u> PMID:23265945
- Sankaranarayanan R, Ramadas K, Qiao YL (2014). Managing the changing burden of cancer in Asia. BMC Med. 12(1):3. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1741-7015-12-3</u> PMID:24400922
- Sauvaget C, Muwonge R, Sankaranarayanan R (2013). Meta-analysis of the effectiveness of cryotherapy in the treatment of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 120(3):218–23. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijgo.2012.10.014</u> PMID:23265830

Office of the Director

The Office of the Director comprises a small team that supports the Director in the implementation of the Agency's scientific strategy and programme and in the coordination of contacts with IARC's networks of scientific collaborators and institutional partners involved in research and policy development for cancer prevention and control. The Director's Office is also responsible for assisting the Director and the Section of Support to Research in relations with the Scientific and Governing Councils and with current and potential Participating States. Finally, the Director's Office team supports the activities of several internal advisory groups and committees, most notably the Senior Leadership Team and the IARC Ethics Committee, and supports the coordination of cross-cutting scientific initiatives involving multiple research Groups.

Over the past year, the Director's Office coordinated several strategic activities supporting the implementation of the global agenda for the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases, in collaboration with WHO Headquarters, WHO Regional Offices, and other United Nations agencies, for example through the IARC-Noncommunicable Diseases and Mental Health (NMH) Coordination Group, and coordination of IARC's contributions to the update of the WHO *Global Status Report on Noncommunicable Diseases 2014.* Also in this area, the Director's Office hosted in October a meeting with the International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) Programme of Action for Cancer Therapy (PACT) and WHO to discuss and develop the IAEA-IARC-WHO Joint Project on Cancer Control, an initiative integrated with the United Nations Inter-Agency Task Force on the Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases.

Dr Rengaswamy Sankaranarayanan was assigned a new role as Special Advisor to the Director on the topic of Cancer Control, and the Director's Office supported the development of activities in this area by coordinating IARC's participation in the International Cancer Control Partnership (ICCP) and collaborative activities with the Union for International Cancer Control (UICC).

In terms of the development of relations with potential new Participating States and international partners, the Director undertook several official visits. He visited Morocco in January, for discussions with the Moroccan Ministry of Health and with the Lalla Salma Foundation (LSF), and again in May, when he attended the LSF's general assembly and signed a Memorandum of Understanding to develop a programme of collaboration on cancer prevention and research. In March, the Director attended a meeting of the Asian National Cancer Centers Alliance (ANCCA) in Seoul, Republic of Korea, where he held discussions with officials from several countries in the region. In June, the Director visited the Kuwait Cancer Control Center and held discussions with the Kuwait Ministry of Health, and in October he attended the Conference on the Burden of Cancer in the Gulf Region in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia.

The Director's Office hosted the IARC Medal of Honour awardee, Dr Harold Varmus, Director of the National Cancer Institute, USA, who presented the 21st Roger Sohier Lecture, "*Promoting the discovery and application of knowledge about cancer*", in January 2014. In addition, Professor Sir Michael Marmot, Director of the University College London Institute of Health Equity, United Kingdom, presented the second IARC Cancer and Society Lecture, "*Fair society, healthy lives*", on World Cancer Day (4 February).

Finally, several key reports resulting from Working Group meetings promoted by the Director's Office were published in 2014, including *Primary End-points for Prophylactic HPV Vaccine Trials*, Helicobacter pylori *Eradication as a Strategy for Preventing Gastric Cancer*, and *Aflatoxin Control Measures: A Basis for Improved Health in Developing Countries*.

Section of Support to Research (SSR)

The Section of Support to Research (SSR) contributes to the achievement of IARC's scientific objectives through efficient and effective management of the Agency's resources and provision of administrative services, ensuring accountable risk mitigation and implementing strategies to strengthen IARC's capacities.

The Section is made up of the specialized administrative units that manage and provide services intrinsic to the successful implementation of the Agency's scientific programme in the areas of: Grants, Budget, and Finance; Human Resources; Conference, Office Administration, and Buildings; and Information and Communications Technology. SSR ensures that the Agency's activities uphold the highest standards of management, efficiency, and accountability in the use of the funding made available by its Participating States and donors.

During 2014, SSR teams began implementation of a work plan covering 2014–2015, as agreed upon with the Director and the Senior Leadership Team at the beginning of the year. The twoyear work plan aims to: explore new mechanisms for increasing extrabudgetary financial support to IARC's scientific programme; strengthen and simplify the existing financial tools, systems, and processes; develop a sustainable staff development platform; and implement tools to facilitate knowledge sharing and project management. Good progress was achieved in all areas of the work plan in 2014:

- Support was provided to the Director in a full redesign of the presentation and management of IARC budgets. The introduction of the Project Tree and the related financial reporting implications provide the Agency with new tools for broader outreach to potential funders outside the traditional grant-issuing institutions. The new presentation of the budget will also improve transparency for the Governing Council with regard to IARC's allocation of resources to priority areas.
- The upgrade of the IARC Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) system for management of financial data will ensure compliance with prevailing standards and ensure simplified financial reporting both for internal needs and for IARC stakeholders. Considerable strides continue to be made in revamping the Agency's administrative policies and procedures with the aim of streamlining and simplifying, including automation of several such processes.
- As a first step towards putting in place a role-based learning platform, concentrated efforts were put into supporting IARC managers in developing important competencies towards ensuring a high-performance culture in the Agency. These efforts followed a comprehensive 360-degree feedback review for senior managers and the introduction of a new electronic Performance Management and Development System.
- During 2014, IARC began implementation of the SharePoint platform for improved knowledge sharing across the Agency and for management of projects with external collaborators. Within this project, a portal was developed to provide IARC personnel with clear information on the Agency's procedures related to their needs in implementing scientific activities.

Communications Group (COM)

The Communications Group (COM) consists of several teams: the IARC Knowledge Management Centre, which comprises both the IARC publications programme and library services; the web services team; the editing and translation services team; and the media team. Below are some highlights of COM's activities in 2014.

COM renegotiated the commercial agreement with the distributor of IARC publications, WHO Press. The commercial dissemination activity was divided into two parts: WHO Press will continue to sell print products, and IARC has taken over all distribution of e-products, thus endorsing the policy decision to foster e-information products. The e-preferred option will allow faster, cheaper dissemination of cancer research results. The focus on electronic dissemination includes not only the development of IARC's own web platforms for providing access to publications, but also open access initiatives such as depositing IARC monographs in the National Library of Medicine's PubMed Bookshelf (for which a deposit agreement is in place). IARC has also joined the HINARI programme, whereby low- and middle-income countries can access IARC products at no or very low cost. Support from a consultant for several months helped COM and IARC to define priorities for the future marketing and dissemination of publications, resulting in recommendations that are currently being implemented.

In 2014, with the arrival of the new Knowledge Manager, and following the restructuring of the COM teams, the **Knowledge Management Centre** has focused on efforts to develop an open access policy for the Agency. In addition, the Knowledge Management Centre has continued to coordinate publication efforts across the Agency, and took the lead for streamlining processes, screening and selection of a manuscript submission system and editorial management tool, and project planning and rationalizing. IARC will be issuing volumes of the WHO Classification of Tumours in e-Pub format for the first time during 2015, an important step in the development of electronic resources in this area by the time the last volume of the fourth edition of the Blue Books is published.

The web services team continued to develop a range of new websites for the Agency's various projects, including the following: Low- and Middle-Income Countries (LMICs) Biobank and Cohort Building Network (BCNet); IARC Handbooks of Cancer Prevention; EPIC; PRECAMA study; The African Breast Cancer - Disparities in Outcomes study; and Education and Training Programme. The web team also orchestrated a number of events, including World Cancer Day and the launch of World Cancer Report 2014 in February, and the launch of the new European Code Against Cancer in October. It also continues, on a daily basis, to distribute high-quality information, optimized for slow-speed, narrow-band access, and to constantly update cancer information. In addition, a special effort has been made to continue providing online access to IARC publications in PDF format, and the following publications were made available in PDF format during 2014: IARC Scientific Publication No. 154: Biomarkers in Cancer Chemoprevention; IARC Handbook of Cancer Prevention Volume 3: Vitamin A; IARC Handbook of Cancer Prevention Volume 7: Breast Cancer Screening; and IARC Handbook of Cancer Prevention Volume 14: Effectiveness of Tax and Price Policies for Tobacco Control. The web team also took part in the revamping of the IARC Intranet, which was successfully launched by the administration in late October.

The **editing and translation services team** edited dozens of articles, book chapters, reports, and grant proposals, and translated official documents from English into French and Spanish. Training sessions on writing scientific manuscripts were provided for Summer School participants as well as for IARC personnel.

The **media team** issued 55 IARC news items published on the web, and released 9 international news releases. It coordinated media efforts for World Cancer Day alongside WHO and UICC, with a major press conference in London in February to launch *World Cancer Report 2014.* It also organized the launch of the new European Code Against Cancer in October with a global virtual press conference, participated in the launch of the American Cancer Society's *The Cancer Atlas* (second edition) in Melbourne in early December, and publicized the outcome of the first meeting after the relaunch of the IARC Handbooks of Cancer Prevention (on breast cancer screening) in mid-December.

In addition, COM developed and produced a set of multipurpose institutional brochures, in English, French, and Spanish, to be used as IARC's calling card in various venues, and as a support for more specific presentations, including for funding and sponsorship.

After testing and presenting a new format and design for IARC book collections, the **IARC publications team** has helped prepare the following volumes.

IARC Monographs in PDF online:

- Volume 105 (2013) Diesel and Gasoline Engine Exhausts and Some Nitroarenes
- Volume 106 (2014) Trichloroethylene, Tetrachloroethylene and Some Other Chlorinated Agents.

IARC Monographs in print:

- Volume 101 (2012) Some Chemicals Present in Industrial and Consumer Products, Food and Drinking-water
- Volume 102 (2013) Non-Ionizing Radiation, Part 2: Radiofrequency Electromagnetic Fields
- Volume 103 (2013) Bitumens and Bitumen Emissions, and Some *N* and *S*-Heterocyclic Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons.

Other publications:

- World Cancer Report 2014
- WHO Classification of Tumours of Female Reproductive Organs, 4th edition
- Planning and Developing Population-based Cancer Registration in Low- and Middleincome Settings, IARC Technical Publication No. 43
- Primary End-points for Prophylactic HPV Vaccine Trials, IARC Working Group Report No. 7
- *Helicobacter pylori* Eradication as a Strategy for Preventing Gastric Cancer, IARC Working Group Report No. 8.

Website:

European Code Against Cancer, 4th edition (<u>http://cancer-code-europe.iarc.fr/</u>)

Electronic resource:

International Classification of Diseases for Oncology: ICD-O-3 online (<u>http://codes.iarc.fr/</u>)

Education and Training Group (ETR)

Education and training in cancer research has been one of the statutory functions of the Agency since its inception, complementing and supporting IARC's research activities. Priority is given to scientists from, or with a research interest relevant to, low- and middle-income countries (LMICs).

It should be noted that whereas the Education and Training Group (ETR) oversees IARC's education and training activities and leads some of them, many initiatives are led by IARC research groups.

IARC Training and Fellowship Programme

The Agency welcomed more than 100 Early Career and Visiting Scientists in 2014, supported by IARC Fellowships or project funds from IARC research groups.

In 2014, 11 new IARC Postdoctoral Fellowships were awarded and seven were extended for a second year. Fellows came from 15 different countries, of which 10 were LMICs. Three Return Grants were awarded to fellows from LMICs. This high number of awards resulted from the fact that ETR successfully obtained a second competitive grant from the EC-FP7 Marie Curie Actions-People-COFUND programme, which is contributing 40% of the postdoctoral fellowship costs for 2014–2018.

Under the bilateral agreement with Cancer Council Australia, one IARC-Australia fellowship was awarded in 2014 and one extended for an additional year. The first IARC-Ireland postdoctoral fellowship was awarded under the bilateral agreement with the Irish Cancer Society. Other, similar partnerships are currently under discussion with several institutions.

Within the framework of the IARC Postdoctoral Fellowship Charter, during 2014 seven generic courses were organized at IARC, to equip postdoctoral researchers with essential cross-cutting skills. An ongoing dialogue with the Early Career Scientists Association enabled ETR to refine needs for future courses as well as to support some of the association's activities.

Senior Visiting Scientist Awards for 2014 were made to Professors Walter Prendiville (Ireland), Michael Leitzmann (Germany), and Kyle Steenland (USA).

The Union for International Cancer Control (UICC)-IARC Development Fellowship, which was launched in 2012 and allows one participant in the IARC Summer School to return to IARC for a period of 3 months for further training and collaborative work, was awarded to a cancer registry professional from Sri Lanka. A joint proposal with UICC was developed to raise funds to sustain and expand this initiative.

IARC Courses

The IARC Summer School in Cancer Epidemiology is organized in Lyon each year in June and July. In 2014, more than 280 applications were received, of which 64 were accepted, with approximately 80% of the participants from LMICs. Additional financial support for the Summer School was provided by the United States National Cancer Institute (NCI) as well as by the Nordic Cancer Union (NCU) and the Klinik und Poliklinik für Gynäkologie, Martin Luther University, Halle, Germany.

Specialized courses were also organized by IARC scientific groups, sometimes with the support of ETR. For example, 10 courses related to cancer registration were organized in partnership with the IARC Regional Hubs of the Global Initiative for Cancer Registry Development. A partnership with the Institut Català d'Oncologia (ICO), Spain, was established to organize a joint IARC/ICO online course in cancer epidemiology targeting Latin American countries. Initial support was provided by the United States NCI, and additional funds are being raised to launch the activity. As the first component of a future IARC online learning platform that will bring such resources to IARC's target audiences, a new dedicated Education and Training Programme website (http://training.iarc.fr/) was launched in early 2014.

The Gambia Hepatitis Intervention Study (GHIS)

The Gambia Hepatitis Intervention Study (GHIS), now in its third decade, is a collaborative project undertaken by IARC, the government of the Republic of The Gambia, and the Medical Research Council, United Kingdom. GHIS was initiated in 1986 to evaluate the efficacy of hepatitis B virus (HBV) vaccination in childhood for the prevention of infection, chronic liver disease, and hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) in adulthood in a high-risk population. Led by the Director's Office, GHIS is a high-profile project of the Agency. At the beginning of GHIS, a population-based National Cancer Registry (NCR) was established. Cancer cases are identified through public health facilities and private clinics.

Dr Ramou Njie, the hepatologist managing the project, together with a team of tumour registration officers, carries out enhanced surveillance of chronic liver disease and cancer in hospitals and health centres around the country. She is assisted by junior doctors from the local Edward Francis Small Teaching Hospital (EFSTH), whom she has trained in ultrasonography and liver biopsy techniques. Suspected cases of liver cancer are assessed by ultrasonography and computed tomography (CT) scans, by quantitative a-fetoprotein assays, and, in some cases, by histological confirmation from liver biopsy samples. Histopathology reporting is carried out by two independent pathologists: in The Gambia by Professor O. Khalil at EFSTH, and in London by Professor Rob Goldin at Imperial College London. All confirmed cases of liver cirrhosis and cancer are recorded in the NCR.

A European Union-funded multicentre collaborative project, PROLIFICA (Prevention of Liver Fibrosis and Cancer in Africa), aimed at preventing liver cancer through screening and treating individuals who are chronically infected with HBV, is now in its third year. Additional histopathology support is obtained through collaboration with Imperial College London, the coordinating centre.

Current status

- Testing the record linkage of confirmed cases of HCC and chronic liver disease with the original GHIS vaccination database is yet to start. The approach for this is being evaluated by Dr Sir Andrew J. Hall, former Head of GHIS, with Mr Morten Ervik at IARC in Lyon.
- To further strengthen the histological diagnoses, slides have been sent for validation by the histopathology team at IARC.
- Recruitment and training of two additional tumour registration officers was undertaken last year in order to strengthen the NCR and ensure coverage of the whole country.

Laboratory Services and Biobank Group (LSB)

The focus of the Laboratory Services and Biobank Group (LSB) is on operational and quality control issues, which are important in shaping the future of the Agency's laboratories and the IARC Biobank as well as supporting the establishment and upgrading of biobanks in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs).

LSB was established in 2010, and the expectations of the Group have since changed in view of the increasing services provided to IARC scientific groups and external collaborators, as well as the realization of the envisioned substantive support that the Group is beginning to provide to LMICs. Specifically, LSB requires a stronger process management role for the services provided and needs to boost data management capacity to manage the changing landscape of biobank management and to face the increasing demand for substantive services. In response to this need, the Group's structure was revised. The new structure, in place since October 2014, caters for the new expectations while aligning the resources and capabilities of the Group accordingly.

Laboratory Services

Health and safety

Health and safety issues are addressed in close collaboration with the Occupational Health and Safety Committee (OHSC). Several suggested improvements to the cryogenic rooms were brought to the committee's attention to provide a safer working environment, including installation of cameras for surveillance when personnel are working alone and installation of an emergency button to stop the liquid nitrogen supply in case of an emergency.

A new authorization for handling radioisotopes has been granted for the next 5 years. For the use of genetically modified organisms (GMOs), the renewal process is under way. Training sessions are organized regularly to keep laboratory staff informed and to provide reminders on safety issues.

IARC Biobank

Infrastructure

Expansion of the storage facilities: To cater for the increasing demand for storage facilities for samples collected through IARC-led studies and for the provision of safe storage conditions requested by LMIC collaborators, funds have been made available to secure two new liquid nitrogen tanks and several -80 °C freezers. Floor space to accommodate an additional 20 new freezers has been made available in collaboration with the Administrative Services Office (ASO). The newly installed automatic temperature monitoring system, SIRIUS, continues to provide an efficient means of managing storage conditions.

Sample management: The in-house sample management information system (SAMI) is currently being upgraded and improved to cater for new attributes. In particular, the program now has the facility to record data on the quality of samples received and stored at IARC. The inventory and cataloguing of IARC-based samples is progressing well; more than 1 million of the IARC-based samples (excluding those from the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition [EPIC] study) have now been uploaded into SAMI. Plans are under way to migrate the EPIC database into SAMI.

Centralization of IARC biological samples: Standard protocols for reception, archiving, storage, and distribution of biological samples are being developed to manage these processes. This includes the online registration of new projects and samples and their associated data and documents for central archiving. Standard operating procedures (SOPs) and Working Instructions are being prepared for transfers of samples (incoming and outgoing).

International collaborations

BBMRI-ERIC: The Agency was admitted to the pan-European Biobanking and Biomolecular Resources Research Infrastructure-European Research Infrastructure Consortium (BBMRI-ERIC) under the category of international organization as an observer. IARC will share with the consortium its expertise in international networking and interoperability issues to ensure that the compatible structures that are developed within Europe will be accessible to wider international communities.

Support to LMIC biobanks: IARC, in collaboration with several international organizations and biobanking societies, notably with support from the United States National Cancer Institute (NCI), established the LMICs Biobank and Cohort Building Network (BCNet) in 2013. To facilitate the sharing of resources and information between members and to increase the visibility of BCNet, the network's website (<u>http://bcnet.iarc.fr/</u>) was launched in September 2014. LSB is providing bilateral support for the establishment of biobanks, in particular the national biobank in India, which is being hosted by the Tata Memorial Centre in Mumbai. On-site training programmes for colleagues from Poland and Lithuania are being planned, and this initiative will be extended to other countries that have requested similar support.

Biobank catalogue: The biobank centralization programme has resulted in the creation of a catalogue of IARC's biological samples available for sharing with the international community. This information is available on the website dedicated to the biobank (<u>http://ibb.iarc.fr/</u>), together with the established Sample Access Policy, which provides information on how to access the Agency's biological material. In 2014, BCNet, in collaboration with the BioBanking and Molecular Resource Infrastructure of Sweden (BBMRI.se), began the process of developing a computer program to catalogue the resources of the network. This catalogue aims to facilitate the sharing of members' resources with the network members and with the international community. A needs assessment survey was conducted in 2014 to identify areas to target development programmes, including training and technology transfer to LMIC members.

Governing Council and Scientific Council

The International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) was established in May 1965 through a resolution of the XVIIIth World Health Assembly, as an extension of the World Health Organization, after a French initiative. It is governed by its own governing bodies, the IARC Governing Council and the IARC Scientific Council.

Governing Council

IARC's general policy is directed by a Governing Council, composed of the Representatives of Participating States and of the Director-General of the World Health Organization. It meets every year in ordinary session in Lyon, usually the week prior to the WHO World Health Assembly. The Governing Council elects IARC's Director, who normally serves for a five-year term. The Council elected Dr Christopher P. Wild in May 2013 to serve for a second five-year term as from 1 January 2014. The Chairperson of the Governing Council prepares the meetings together with the Secretariat and advises the Director throughout the year.

Scientific Council

The Scientific Council consists of highly qualified scientists, selected on the basis of their technical competence in cancer research and allied fields. Members of the Scientific Council are appointed as experts and not as representatives of Participating States. When a vacancy arises on the Scientific Council, the Participating State that nominated the departing member may nominate up to two experts to replace that member. Scientific Council members are appointed for four-year terms by the Governing Council. The Scientific Council reviews the scientific activities of the Agency and makes recommendations on its programme of permanent activities and priorities. The Scientific Council meets every year in ordinary session in late January–early February.

Budget

For the biennium 2014–2015, the IARC Governing Council voted a regular budget of €40 424 491. A number of projects are also funded by extrabudgetary sources, both national and international. In 2013, approximately 31% of the Agency's overall expenditure was financed by extrabudgetary funds.

Participating States and Representatives at IARC Governing Council Fifty-sixth Session, 15–16 May 2014

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Dr Mark Palmer, *Chairperson* Director, International Strategy, Medical Research Council London

Dr Nathan Richardson Head of Molecular and Cellular Medicine, Medical Research Council London

France

Professeur Agnès Buzyn, *Vice-Chairperson* Présidente, Institut national du Cancer (INCa) Boulogne-Billancourt

M. Armel T'Kint De Roodenbeke Ministère des Affaires étrangères Paris

Switzerland

Dr Diane Steber Büchli, *Rapporteur* Collaboratrice scientifique, Division internationale, Office fédéral de la Santé publique Berne

Australia

Professor Chris Baggoley Chief Medical Officer, Department of Health Canberra

Austria

Dr Hemma Bauer Austrian Federal Ministry of Science, Research and Economy Vienna

Belgium

M. Lieven De Raedt Attaché Relations Internationales, SPF Santé publique, Sécurité de la Chaîne Alimentaire et Environnement Brussels

Brazil

Dr Luiz Antonio Santini *(unable to attend)* Director General, Brazilian National Cancer Institute (INCA) Rio de Janeiro

Dr Marisa Dreyer Breitenbach Research Coordinator, Brazilian National Cancer Institute (INCA) Rio de Janeiro IARC Interim Annual Report 2014 Page 63

Canada

Dr Stephen M. Robbins Scientific Director, Institute of Cancer Research Canadian Institutes of Health Research, University of Calgary Calgary, Alberta

Ms Lucero Hernandez Senior Policy Advisor, Multilateral Relations Division Office of International Affairs for the Health Portfolio Ottawa, Ontario

Denmark

Professor Herman Autrup University of Aarhus School of Public Health Aarhus

Finland

Professor Juhani Eskola Director General, National Institute for Health and Welfare (THL) Helsinki

Professor Harri Vainio

Director General, Finnish Institute of Occupational Health Helsinki

Germany

Dr Chariklia Balas Advisor, Division of Global Health, Federal Ministry of Health Bonn

India

Professor G.K. Rath *(unable to attend)* Chief, Dr B.R. Ambedkar Institute Rotary Cancer Hospital (DBRAIRCH) All India Institute of Medical Sciences (AIIMS) New Delhi

Ireland

Mr Keith Comiskey Department of Health Dublin

Italy

No Representative

Japan

Dr Yousuke Takasaki Deputy Director, Division of International Affairs Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare Tokyo Mr Kenji Okada Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare Tokyo

Netherlands

Dr Jack Hutten Acting Head, Division of Public Health Care Ministry of Health, Welfare and Sport The Hague

Mr Jeroen Hulleman Senior Policy Advisor, Public Health Directorate Ministry of Health, Welfare and Sport The Hague

Norway

Dr Edgar Rivedal Scientific Coordinator, Norwegian Scientific Committee for Food Safety Oslo

Dr Karianne Solaas Senior Adviser, The Research Council of Norway Oslo

Qatar

Dr Faleh Mohamed Hussain Ali Assistant Secretary General for Policy Affairs, The Supreme Council of Health Doha

Republic of Korea

Dr Duk-Hyoung Lee Director, National Cancer Control Institute, National Cancer Center Gyeonggi-do

Russian Federation

Dr Svetlana Axelrod Deputy Director, Department of International Cooperation and Public Relations Ministry of Health Moscow

Ms Lidia Gabuniya Main Expert, Department of International Cooperation and Public Relations Ministry of Health Moscow

Professor Boris Alexeev Deputy Director, P.A. Gertsen Moscow Research Institute of Oncology Moscow IARC Interim Annual Report 2014 Page 65

Spain

Dr Rafael de Andrés Medina Chief of the Doc. and Technical Studies Department, Instituto de Salud Carlos III Madrid

Sweden

Professor Mats Ulfendahl Secretary-General, Swedish Research Council – Medicine Stockholm

Turkey

Professor Murat Tuncer *(unable to attend)* Rector, Hacettepe University Ankara

United States of America

Dr Lisa Stevens Deputy Director for Planning and Operations, Center for Global Health National Cancer Institute, Department of Health and Human Services Rockville, Maryland

Dr Charlie Darr International Health Analyst, Multilateral Office Office of Global Affairs, Department of Health and Human Services Washington, DC

Dr Pamela Protzel-Berman Deputy Director, Division of Cancer Prevention and Control Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Department of Health and Human Services Atlanta, Georgia

World Health Organization

Dr Oleg Chestnov Assistant Director-General, Noncommunicable Diseases and Mental Health (NMH) WHO Headquarters, Geneva

Mrs Joanne McKeough Office of the Legal Counsel WHO Headquarters, Geneva

Dr Andreas Ullrich Medical Officer, Prevention of Noncommunicable Diseases (PND) WHO Headquarters, Geneva

Observers

Scientific Council

Outgoing Chairperson, Scientific Council Professor Mads Melbye *(unable to attend)*

Incoming Chairperson, Scientific Council Professor Cornelia (Neli) Ulrich

Union for International Cancer Control (UICC)

Mr Juerg Boller Chief Operating Officer, Union for International Cancer Control (UICC) Geneva, Switzerland

South Africa

Ms Sandhya Singh Director – Noncommunicable Diseases National Department of Health Pretoria

External Audit

Mr Lito Q. Martin *(unable to attend)* Director, International Audit and Relations Office, Commission on Audit Quezon City, Philippines

Scientific Council Members (2014)

Professor Mads Melbye **(Chairperson)** Executive Vice President, Statens Serum Institut Copenhagen, Denmark

Professor Dr Cornelia (Neli) Ulrich **(Vice-Chairperson)** National Center for Tumor Diseases (NCT) Heidelberg Division of Preventive Oncology German Cancer Research Center Heidelberg, Germany

Professor Paul W. Dickman **(Rapporteur)** Department of Medical Epidemiology and Biostatistics (MEB) Karolinska Institutet Stockholm, Sweden

Dr Al-Hareth M. Al-Khater Acting Medical Director, National Center for Cancer Care & Research Hamad Medical Corporation Office Doha, Qatar

Dr Ahti Anttila Mass Screening Registry/Finnish Cancer Registry Helsinki, Finland

Dr Nuria Aragonés Environmental and Cancer Epidemiology National Center of Epidemiology Instituto de Salud Carlos III Madrid, Spain

Professor James F. Bishop Executive Director Victorian Comprehensive Cancer Centre Royal Melbourne Hospital, Victoria, Australia

Professor Bettina Borisch Institute of Social and Preventive Medicine University of Geneva Medical School Geneva, Switzerland

Professor Françoise Clavel-Chapelon Director, Nutrition, Hormones and Women's Health INSERM U1018 Villejuif, France

Dr Luca Gianni Director, Department of Medical Oncology Fondazione Centro San Raffaele del Monte Tabor Milan, Italy Dr Inger Torhild Gram Institute for Community Medicine University of Tromsø Tromsø, Norway

Dr Murat Gültekin Cancer Control Department Ministry of Health of Turkey Ankara, Turkey

Professor Lukas A. Huber Director, Biocenter and Cell Biology Division Medical University Innsbruck Innsbruck, Austria

Professor Nicholas C. Jones Paterson Institute for Cancer Research Christie Hospital NHS Trust Manchester, United Kingdom

Dr In-Hoo Kim Director, Research Institute National Cancer Center Goyang, Republic of Korea

Dr Deirdre Murray National Cancer Control Programme Office Department of Public Health, HSE South (Cork & Kerry) Cork, Ireland

Dr Luis Felipe Ribeiro Pinto Head of Molecular Carcinogenesis Program Head of Education, Brazilian National Cancer Institute (INCA) Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

Professor Thangarajan Rajkumar Department of Molecular Oncology Cancer Institute (WIA) Madras, India

Professor Martyn Smith Division of Environmental Health Sciences, School of Public Health University of California Berkeley, California, USA

Professor Christos Sotiriou Jules Bordet Institute Brussels, Belgium IARC Interim Annual Report 2014 Page 69

Professor John J. Spinelli Head, Cancer Control Research British Columbia Cancer Agency Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada

Dr Sergei Tjulandin Cancer Research Center (CRC) Moscow, Russian Federation

Professor Piet A. van den Brandt Department of Epidemiology Maastricht University Maastricht, Netherlands

Dr Teruhiko Yoshida Chief, Division of Genetics National Cancer Center Research Institute (NCCRI) Tokyo, Japan

IARC Publications 2014

- Abbas S, Linseisen J, Rohrmann S, Beulens JW, Buijsse B, Amiano P, et al. (2014). Dietary vitamin D intake and risk of type 2 diabetes in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition: the EPIC-InterAct study. Eur J Clin Nutr. 68(2):196–202. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ejcn.2013.235</u> <u>PMID:24253760</u>
- Adewole I, Martin DN, Williams MJ, Adebamowo C, Bhatia K, Berling C, et al. (2014). Building capacity for sustainable research programmes for cancer in Africa. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 11(5):251–9. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nrclinonc.2014.37 PMID:24614139
- Agarwal D, Pineda S, Michailidou K, Herranz J, Pita G, Moreno LT, et al.; kConFab Investigators; Australian Ovarian Cancer Study Group; GENICA Network; TNBCC (2014). FGF receptor genes and breast cancer susceptibility: results from the Breast Cancer Association Consortium. Br J Cancer. 110(4):1088–100. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2013.769</u> PMID:24548884
- Ahrens W, Pohlabeln H, Foraita R, Nelis M, Lagiou P, Lagiou A, et al. (2014). Oral health, dental care and mouthwash associated with upper aerodigestive tract cancer risk in Europe: the ARCAGE study. Oral Oncol. 50(6):616–25. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.oraloncology.2014.03.001</u> PMID:24680035
- Aleksandrova K, Boeing H, Nöthlings U, Jenab M, Fedirko V, Kaaks R, et al. (2014). Inflammatory and metabolic biomarkers and risk of liver and biliary tract cancer. Hepatology. 60(3):858–71. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/hep.27016 PMID:24443059
- Aleksandrova K, Drogan D, Boeing H, Jenab M, Bas Bueno-de-Mesquita H, Jansen E, et al. (2014). Adiposity, mediating biomarkers and risk of colon cancer in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition study. Int J Cancer. 134(3):612–21. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28368</u> <u>PMID:23824948</u>
- Aleksandrova K, Jenab M, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, Fedirko V, Kaaks R, Lukanova A, et al. (2014). Biomarker patterns of inflammatory and metabolic pathways are associated with risk of colorectal cancer: results from the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC). Eur J Epidemiol. 29(4):261–75. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10654-014-9901-8</u> <u>PMID:24791703</u>
- Aleksandrova K, Pischon T, Jenab M, Bueno-de-Mesquita H, Fedirko V, Norat T, et al. (2014). Combined impact of healthy lifestyle factors on colorectal cancer: a large European cohort study. BMC Med. 12(1):168. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12916-014-0168-4</u> <u>PMID:25319089</u>
- Amadou A, Torres Mejia G, Fagherazzi G, Ortega C, Angeles-Llerenas A, Chajes V, et al. (2014). Anthropometry, silhouette trajectory, and risk of breast cancer in Mexican women. Am J Prev Med. 46(3) Suppl 1:S52–64. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2013.10.024</u> <u>PMID:24512931</u>
- Anantharaman D, Chabrier A, Gaborieau V, Franceschi S, Herrero R, Rajkumar T, et al. (2014). Genetic variants in nicotine addiction and alcohol metabolism genes, oral cancer risk and the propensity to smoke and drink alcohol: a replication study in India. PLoS One. 9(2):e88240. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0088240 PMID:24505444
- Anantharaman D, Gheit T, Waterboer T, Halec G, Carreira C, Abedi-Ardekani B, et al. (2014). No causal association identified for human papillomavirus infections in lung cancer. Cancer Res. 74(13):3525– 34. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-3548</u> <u>PMID:24760422</u>
- Antoni S, Soerjomataram I, Moore S, Ferlay J, Sitas F, Smith DP, et al. (2014). The ban on phenacetin is associated with changes in the incidence trends of upper-urinary tract cancers in Australia. Aust N Z J Public Health. 38(5):455–8. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/1753-6405.12252</u> <u>PMID:25169832</u>
- Arbyn M, Verdoodt F, Snijders PJ, Verhoef VM, Suonio E, Dillner L, et al. (2014). Accuracy of human papillomavirus testing on self-collected versus clinician-collected samples: a meta-analysis. Lancet Oncol. 15(2):172–83. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(13)70570-9</u> <u>PMID:24433684</u>
- Arnold M, Liu L, Kenter GG, Creutzberg CL, Coebergh JW, Soerjomataram I (2014). Second primary cancers in survivors of cervical cancer in The Netherlands: implications for prevention and surveillance. Radiother Oncol. 111(3):374–81. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.radonc.2014.04.011</u> <u>PMID:24833558</u>
- Arnold M, Moore SP, Hassler S, Ellison-Loschmann L, Forman D, Bray F (2014). The burden of stomach cancer in indigenous populations: a systematic review and global assessment. Gut. 63(1):64–71. http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2013-305033 PMID:24153248
- Asiki G, Seeley J, Srey C, Baisley K, Lightfoot T, Archileo K, et al. (2014). A pilot study to evaluate aflatoxin exposure in a rural Ugandan population. Trop Med Int Health. 19(5):592–9. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/tmi.12283 PMID:24612197

- Asztalos M, Huybrechts I, Temme E, Van Oyen H, Vandevijvere S (2014). Association of physical activity, waist circumference and body mass index with subjective health among Belgian adults. Eur J Public Health. 24(2):205–9. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/ckt069</u> <u>PMID:23756647</u>
- Auvinen A, Seppä K, Pasanen K, Kurttio P, Patama T, Pukkala E, et al. (2014). Chernobyl fallout and cancer incidence in Finland. Int J Cancer. 134(9):2253–63. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28554</u> <u>PMID:24135935</u>
- Babron MC, Kazma R, Gaborieau V, McKay J, Brennan P, Sarasin A, et al. (2014). Genetic variants in DNA repair pathways and risk of upper aerodigestive tract cancers: combined analysis of data from two genome-wide association studies in European populations. Carcinogenesis. 35(7):1523–7. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/carcin/bgu075 PMID:24658182
- Badwe RA, Dikshit R, Laversanne M, Bray F (2014). Cancer incidence trends in India. Jpn J Clin Oncol. 44(5):401–7. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/ijco/hyu040</u> PMID:24755545
- Bailey HD, Fritschi L, Infante-Rivard C, Glass DC, Miligi L, Dockerty JD, et al. (2014). Parental occupational pesticide exposure and the risk of childhood leukemia in the offspring: findings from the childhood leukemia international consortium. Int J Cancer. 135(9):2157–72. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28854</u> <u>PMID:24700406</u>
- Bailey HD, Fritschi L, Metayer C, Infante-Rivard C, Magnani C, Petridou E, et al. (2014). Parental occupational paint exposure and risk of childhood leukemia in the offspring: findings from the Childhood Leukemia International Consortium. Cancer Causes Control. 25(10):1351–67. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10552-014-0441-z PMID:25088805
- Barraza-Villarreal A, Escamilla-Nuñez MC, Schilmann A, Hernandez-Cadena L, Li Z, Romanoff L, et al. (2014). Lung function, airway inflammation, and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons exposure in mexican schoolchildren: a pilot study. J Occup Environ Med. 56(4):415–9. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/JOM.000000000000111</u> PMID:24500378
- Baumgarten P, Harter PN, Tönjes M, Capper D, Blank AE, Sahm F, et al. (2014). Loss of FUBP1 expression in gliomas predicts *FUBP1* mutation and is associated with oligodendroglial differentiation, *IDH1* mutation and 1p/19q loss of heterozygosity. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol. 40(2):205–16. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/nan.12088 PMID:24117486</u>
- Baussano I, Dillner J, Lazzarato F, Ronco G, Franceschi S (2014). Upscaling human papillomavirus vaccination in high-income countries: impact assessment based on transmission model. Infect Agent Cancer. 9(1):4. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1750-9378-9-4</u> PMID:24438317
- Baussano I, Franceschi S, Plummer M (2014). Infection transmission and chronic disease models in the study of infection-associated cancers. Br J Cancer. 110(1):7–11. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2013.740 PMID:24300979
- Bazot Q, Deschamps T, Tafforeau L, Siouda M, Leblanc P, Harth-Hertle ML, et al. (2014). Epstein-Barr virus nuclear antigen 3A protein regulates CDKN2B transcription via interaction with MIZ-1. Nucleic Acids Res. 42(15):9700–16. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/nar/gku697</u> <u>PMID:25092922</u>
- Bedoya AM, Tate DJ, Baena A, Córdoba CM, Borrero M, Pareja R, et al. (2014). Immunosuppression in cervical cancer with special reference to arginase activity. Gynecol Oncol. 135(1):74–80. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2014.07.096 PMID:25084511</u>
- Béghin L, Dauchet L, De Vriendt T, Cuenca-García M, Manios Y, Toti E, et al.; HELENA Study Group (2014). Influence of parental socio-economic status on diet quality of European adolescents: results from the HELENA study. Br J Nutr. 111(7):1303–12. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0007114513003796</u> <u>PMID:24330831</u>
- Bel-Serrat S, Mouratidou T, Huybrechts I, Cuenca-García M, Manios Y, Gómez-Martínez S, et al. (2014). The role of dietary fat on the association between dietary amino acids and serum lipid profile in European adolescents participating in the HELENA Study. Eur J Clin Nutr. 68(4):464–73. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ejcn.2013.284</u> PMID:24495993
- Bel-Serrat S, Mouratidou T, Jiménez-Pavón D, Huybrechts I, Cuenca-García M, Mistura L, et al.; HELENA Study Group (2014). Is dairy consumption associated with low cardiovascular disease risk in European adolescents? Results from the HELENA Study. Pediatr Obes. 9(5):401–10. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.2047-6310.2013.00187.x PMID:23852857
- Bellaminutti S, Seraceni S, De Seta F, Gheit T, Tommasino M, Comar M (2014). HPV and *Chlamydia trachomatis* co-detection in young asymptomatic women from high incidence area for cervical cancer. J Med Virol. 86(11):1920–5. <u>PMID:25132162</u>

- Benbrahim-Tallaa L, Lauby-Secretan B, Loomis D, Guyton KZ, Grosse Y, El Ghissassi F, et al.; International Agency for Research on Cancer Monograph Working Group (2014). Carcinogenicity of perfluorooctanoic acid, tetrafluoroethylene, dichloromethane, 1,2-dichloropropane, and 1,3-propane sultone. Lancet Oncol. 15(9):924–5. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(14)70316-X</u> <u>PMID:25225686</u>
- Benson VS, Pirie K, Schüz J, Reeves GK, Beral V, Green J (2014). Authors' response to: the case of acoustic neuroma: comment on mobile phone use and risk of brain neoplasms and other cancers. Int J Epidemiol. 43(1):275. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyt186</u> PMID:24078152
- Béranger R, Blain J, Baudinet C, Faure E, Fléchon A, Boyle H, et al. (2014). Testicular germ cell tumours and early exposures to pesticides: the TESTEPERA pilot study. [Article in French] Bull Cancer. 101(3):225–35. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1684/bdc.2014.1901</u> PMID:24691186
- Béranger R, Pérol O, Bujan L, Faure E, Blain J, Le Cornet C, et al. (2014). Studying the impact of early life exposures to pesticides on the risk of testicular germ cell tumors during adulthood (TESTIS project): study protocol. BMC Cancer. 14:563. <u>PMID:25095793</u>
- Berwick M, MacArthur J, Orlow I, Kanetsky P, Begg CB, Luo L, et al.; GEM Study Group (2014). *MITF* E318K's effect on melanoma risk independent of, but modified by, other risk factors. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res. 27(3):485–8. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/pcmr.12215</u> <u>PMID:24406078</u>
- Bijlsma M, Rendering A, Chin-On N, Debska A, von Karsa L, Knöpnadel J, et al. (2014). Quality criteria for health checks: development of a European consensus agreement. Prev Med. 67:238–41. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2014.08.005 PMID:25117528
- Bonora E, Rizzato C, Diquigiovanni C, Oudot-Mellakh T, Campa D, Vargiolu M, et al.; NMTC Consortium (2014). The *FOXE1* locus is a major genetic determinant for familial nonmedullary thyroid carcinoma. Int J Cancer. 134(9):2098–107. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28543</u> <u>PMID:24127282</u>
- Boraska V, Franklin CS, Floyd JA, Thornton LM, Huckins LM, Southam L, et al.; Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium 3 (2014). A genome-wide association study of anorexia nervosa. Mol Psychiatry. 19(10):1085–94. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/mp.2013.187</u> PMID:24514567
- Börnhorst C, Bel-Serrat S, Huybrechts I, Moreno LA, Pigeot I (2014). Reply to "Letter to the editor: Issues to consider in children's dietary assessment" by T. Burrows and Erratum. Clin Nutr. 33(4):727. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.clnu.2014.04.006 PMID:24814380
- Börnhorst C, Bel-Serrat S, Pigeot I, Huybrechts I, Ottavaere C, Sioen I, et al.; IDEFICS consortium (2014). Validity of 24-h recalls in (pre-)school aged children: comparison of proxy-reported energy intakes with measured energy expenditure. Clin Nutr. 33(1):79–84. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.clnu.2013.03.018 PMID:23622780
- Borraccino A, Migliore E, Piccioni P, Baussano I, Carosso A, Bugiani M (2014). Yield of tuberculosis contact investigation in a low-incidence country. J Infect. 68(5):448–54. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jinf.2013.12.005 PMID:24418415
- Bosetti C, Rosato V, Li D, Silverman D, Petersen GM, Bracci PM, et al. (2014). Diabetes, antidiabetic medications, and pancreatic cancer risk: an analysis from the International Pancreatic Cancer Case-Control Consortium. Ann Oncol. 25(10):2065–72. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdu276</u> PMID:25057164
- Boto-Ordóñez M, Rothwell JA, Andres-Lacueva C, Manach C, Scalbert A, Urpi-Sarda M (2014). Prediction of the wine polyphenol metabolic space: an application of the Phenol-Explorer database. Mol Nutr Food Res. 58(3):466–77. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/mnfr.201300411 PMID:24123832
- Braganza MZ, de González AB, Schonfeld SJ, Wentzensen N, Brenner AV, Kitahara CM (2014). Benign breast and gynecologic conditions, reproductive and hormonal factors, and risk of thyroid cancer. Cancer Prev Res (Phila). 7(4):418–25. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-13-0367</u> <u>PMID:24449056</u>
- Brenner DR, Wozniak MB, Feyt C, Holcatova I, Janout V, Foretova L, et al. (2014). Physical activity and risk of pancreatic cancer in a central European multicenter case-control study. Cancer Causes Control. 25(6):669–81. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10552-014-0370-x</u> PMID:24695987
- Brinton LA, Cook MB, McCormack V, Johnson KC, Olsson H, Casagrande JT, et al.; European Rare Cancer Study Group (2014). Anthropometric and hormonal risk factors for male breast cancer: male breast cancer pooling project results. J Natl Cancer Inst. 106(3):djt465. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djt465</u> <u>PMID:24552677</u>
- Buckland G, Ros MM, Roswall N, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, Travier N, Tjonneland A, et al. (2014). Adherence to the Mediterranean diet and risk of bladder cancer in the EPIC cohort study. Int J Cancer. 134(10):2504–11. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28573</u> PMID:24226765

- Bunyavanich S, Schadt EE, Himes BE, Lasky-Su J, Qiu W, Lazarus R, et al. (2014). Integrated genomewide association, coexpression network, and expression single nucleotide polymorphism analysis identifies novel pathway in allergic rhinitis. BMC Med Genomics. 7(1):48. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1755-8794-7-48 PMID:25085501</u>
- Bussu F, Sali M, Gallus R, Petrone G, Zannoni GF, Autorino R, et al. (2014). Human papillomavirus (HPV) infection in squamous cell carcinomas arising from the oropharynx: detection of HPV DNA and p16 immunohistochemistry as diagnostic and prognostic indicators–a pilot study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 89(5):1115–20. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijrobp.2014.04.044</u> PMID:25035216
- Campos NG, Burger EA, Sy S, Sharma M, Schiffman M, Rodriguez AC, et al. (2014). An updated natural history model of cervical cancer: derivation of model parameters. Am J Epidemiol. 180(5):545–55. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwu159 PMID:25081182
- Cao Y, Lindström S, Schumacher F, Stevens VL, Albanes D, Berndt S, et al. (2014). Insulin-like growth factor pathway genetic polymorphisms, circulating IGF1 and IGFBP3, and prostate cancer survival. J Natl Cancer Inst. 106(6):dju085. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/jnci/dju218</u> PMID:24824313
- Cao Y, Lindström S, Schumacher F, Stevens VL, Albanes D, Berndt S, et al. (2014). Insulin-like growth factor pathway genetic polymorphisms, circulating IGF1 and IGFBP3, and prostate cancer survival. J Natl Cancer Inst. 106(6):dju085. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/jnci/dju085</u> PMID:24824313
- Carbone A, Vaccher E, Gloghini A, Pantanowitz L, Abayomi A, de Paoli P, et al. (2014). Diagnosis and management of lymphomas and other cancers in HIV-infected patients. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 11(4):223–38. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nrclinonc.2014.31</u> <u>PMID:24614140</u>
- Castelino JM, Dominguez-Salas P, Routledge MN, Prentice AM, Moore SE, Hennig BJ, et al. (2014). Seasonal and gestation stage associated differences in aflatoxin exposure in pregnant Gambian women. Trop Med Int Health. 19(3):348–54. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/tmi.12250 PMID:24372685</u>
- Castellsagué X, Pawlita M, Roura E, Margall N, Waterboer T, Bosch FX, et al. (2014). Prospective seroepidemiologic study on the role of human papillomavirus and other infections in cervical carcinogenesis: evidence from the EPIC cohort. Int J Cancer. 135(2):440–52. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28665 PMID:24338606
- Castro FA, Dominguez A, Puschel K, Van De Wyngard V, Snijders PJF, Franceschi S, et al. (2014). Serological prevalence and persistence of high-risk human papillomavirus infection among women in Santiago, Chile. BMC Infect Dis. 14(1):361. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2334-14-361</u> <u>PMID:24990706</u>
- Caygill CP, Gatenby PA, Herceg Z, Lima SC, Pinto LF, Watson A, et al. (2014). Comparative genomic analysis of esophageal cancers. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1325(1):69–76. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/nyas.12524 PMID:25266016
- Cerhan JR, Berndt SI, Vijai J, Ghesquières H, McKay J, Wang SS, et al. (2014). Genome-wide association study identifies multiple susceptibility loci for diffuse large B cell lymphoma. Nat Genet. 46(11):1233–8. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ng.3105 PMID:25261932
- Chajès V, Romieu I (2014). Nutrition and breast cancer. Maturitas. 77(1):7–11. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.maturitas.2013.10.004 PMID:24215727
- Chavan S, Bray F, Lortet-Tieulent J, Goodman M, Jemal A (2014). International variations in bladder cancer incidence and mortality. Eur Urol. 66(1):59–73. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/i.eururo.2013.10.001 PMID:24451595
- Chen AA, Heideman DA, Boon D, Chen Z, Burk RD, De Vuyst H, et al. (2014). Human papillomavirus 33 worldwide genetic variation and associated risk of cervical cancer. Virology. 448:356–62. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.virol.2013.10.033 PMID:24314666
- Chen AA, Heideman DA, Boon D, Gheit T, Snijders PJ, Tommasino M, et al.; IARC HPV Variant Study Group (2014). Human papillomavirus 45 genetic variation and cervical cancer risk worldwide. J Virol. 88(8):4514–21. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/JVI.03534-13 PMID:24501412</u>
- Chuang SC, Fanidi A, Ueland PM, Relton C, Midttun O, Vollset SE, et al. (2014). Circulating biomarkers of tryptophan and the kynurenine pathway and lung cancer risk. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 23(3):461–8. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-13-0770</u> PMID:24357106
- Clarys P, Deliens T, Huybrechts I, Deriemaeker P, Vanaelst B, De Keyzer W, et al. (2014). Comparison of nutritional quality of the vegan, vegetarian, semi-vegetarian, pesco-vegetarian and omnivorous diet. Nutrients. 6(3):1318–32. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/nu6031318</u> <u>PMID:24667136</u>
- Combes JD, Franceschi S (2014). Role of human papillomavirus in non-oropharyngeal head and neck cancers. Oral Oncol. 50(5):370–9. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.oraloncology.2013.11.004</u> <u>PMID:24331868</u>

- Combes JD, Pawlita M, Waterboer T, Hammouda D, Rajkumar T, Vanhems P, et al. (2014). Antibodies against high-risk human papillomavirus proteins as markers for invasive cervical cancer. Int J Cancer. 135(10):2453–61. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28888</u> <u>PMID:24729277</u>
- Companioni O, Bonet C, Muñoz X, Weiderpass E, Panico S, Tumino R, et al. (2014). Polymorphisms of *Helicobacter pylori* signaling pathway genes and gastric cancer risk in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer-Eurgast cohort. Int J Cancer. 134(1):92–101. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28357</u> PMID:23824692
- Cortot AB, Younes M, Martel-Planche G, Guibert B, Isaac S, Souquet PJ, et al. (2014). Mutation of *TP53* and alteration of p14(arf) expression in *EGFR* and *KRAS*-mutated lung adenocarcinomas. Clin Lung Cancer. 15(2):124–30. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cllc.2013.08.003</u> PMID:24169260
- Couraud S, Vaca-Paniagua F, Villar S, Oliver J, Schuster T, Blanché H, et al.; BioCAST/IFCT-1002 investigators (2014). Noninvasive diagnosis of actionable mutations by deep sequencing of circulating free DNA in lung cancer from never-smokers: a proof-of-concept study from BioCAST/IFCT-1002. Clin Cancer Res. 20(17):4613–24. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-3063</u> PMID:25013125
- Cozen W, Timofeeva MN, Li D, Diepstra A, Hazelett D, Delahaye-Sourdeix M, et al. (2014). A metaanalysis of Hodgkin lymphoma reveals 19p13.3 *TCF3* as a novel susceptibility locus. Nat Commun. 5:3856. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ncomms4856 PMID:24920014</u>
- Crispim SP, Nicolas G, Casagrande C, Knaze V, Illner AK, Huybrechts I, et al. (2014). Quality assurance of the international computerised 24 h dietary recall method (EPIC-Soft). Br J Nutr. 111(3):506–15. http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0007114513002766 PMID:24001201
- Crowe FL, Appleby PN, Travis RC, Barnett M, Brasky TM, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, et al.; Endogenous Hormones, Nutritional Biomarkers and Prostate Cancer Collaborative Group (2014). Circulating fatty acids and prostate cancer risk: individual participant meta-analysis of prospective studies. J Natl Cancer Inst. 106(9):dju240. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/jnci/dju240</u> PMID:25210201
- Cuenca-García M, Ortega FB, Ruiz JR, Labayen I, Moreno LA, Patterson E, et al.; HELENA Study Group (2014). More physically active and leaner adolescents have higher energy intake. J Pediatr. 164(1):159–66, e2. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2013.08.034</u> PMID:24094763
- Currier JM, Ishida MC, González-Horta C, Sánchez-Ramírez B, Ballinas-Casarrubias L, Gutiérrez-Torres DS, et al. (2014). Associations between arsenic species in exfoliated urothelial cells and prevalence of diabetes among residents of Chihuahua, Mexico. Environ Health Perspect. 122(10):1088–94. PMID:25000461
- Dadvand P, Nieuwenhuijsen MJ, Agustí À, de Batlle J, Benet M, Beelen R, et al. (2014). Air pollution and biomarkers of systemic inflammation and tissue repair in COPD patients. Eur Respir J. 44(3):603–13. http://dx.doi.org/10.1183/09031936.00168813 PMID:24558180
- Dai Y, Cros MP, Pontoizeau C, Elena-Hermann B, Bonn GK, Hainaut P (2014). Downregulation of transcription factor E4F1 in hepatocarcinoma cells: HBV-dependent effects on autophagy, proliferation and metabolism. Carcinogenesis. 35(3):635–50. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/carcin/bgt353</u> <u>PMID:24163401</u>
- Dallat MA, Soerjomataram I, Hunter RF, Tully MA, Cairns KJ, Kee F (2014). Urban greenways have the potential to increase physical activity levels cost-effectively. Eur J Public Health. 24(2):190–5. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/ckt035 PMID:23531527
- Damiola F, Byrnes G, Moissonnier M, Pertesi M, Deltour I, Fillon A, et al. (2014). Contribution of *ATM* and *FOXE1* (*TTF2*) to risk of papillary thyroid carcinoma in Belarusian children exposed to radiation. Int J Cancer. 134(7):1659–68. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28483</u> PMID:24105688
- Damiola F, Pertesi M, Oliver J, Le Calvez-Kelm F, Voegele C, Young EL, et al. (2014). Rare key functional domain missense substitutions in *MRE11A*, *RAD50*, and *NBN* contribute to breast cancer susceptibility: results from a Breast Cancer Family Registry case-control mutation-screening study. Breast Cancer Res. 16(3):R58. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/bcr3669</u> PMID:24894818
- de Martel C, Plummer M, Franceschi S (2014). Infections causing cancers: world burden and potential for prevention. Public Health Forum, 22:12.e1–12.e4.
- De Vuyst H, Mugo NR, Franceschi S, McKenzie K, Tenet V, Njoroge J, et al. (2014). Residual disease and HPV persistence after cryotherapy for cervical intraepithelial neoplasia grade 2/3 in HIV-positive women in Kenya. PLoS One. 9(10):e111037. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0111037</u> <u>PMID:25343563</u>
- Denholm R, Schüz J, Straif K, Stücker I, Jöckel KH, Brenner DR, et al. (2014). Is previous respiratory disease a risk factor for lung cancer? Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 190(5):549–59. http://dx.doi.org/10.1164/rccm.201402-03380C PMID:25054566

- Dickens C, Joffe M, Jacobson J, Venter F, Schüz J, Cubasch H, et al. (2014). Stage at breast cancer diagnosis and distance from diagnostic hospital in a periurban setting: a South African public hospital case series of over 1,000 women. Int J Cancer. 135(9):2173–82. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28861</u> <u>PMID:24658866</u>
- Dik VK, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, Van Oijen MG, Siersema PD, Uiterwaal CS, Van Gils CH, et al. (2014). Coffee and tea consumption, genotype-based *CYP1A2* and *NAT2* activity and colorectal cancer risk–results from the EPIC cohort study. Int J Cancer. 135(2):401–12. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28655</u> <u>PMID:24318358</u>
- Dik VK, Murphy N, Siersema PD, Fedirko V, Jenab M, Kong SY, et al. (2014). Prediagnostic intake of dairy products and dietary calcium and colorectal cancer survival–results from the EPIC cohort study. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 23(9):1813–23. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-14-0172</u> <u>PMID:24917183</u>
- Dolman L, Sauvaget C, Muwonge R, Sankaranarayanan R (2014). Meta-analysis of the efficacy of cold coagulation as a treatment method for cervical intraepithelial neoplasia: a systematic review. BJOG. 121(8):929–42. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.12655</u> PMID:24597779
- Dossus L, Boutron-Ruault MC, Kaaks R, Gram IT, Vilier A, Fervers B, et al. (2014). Active and passive cigarette smoking and breast cancer risk: results from the EPIC cohort. Int J Cancer. 134(8):1871–88. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28508 PMID:24590452
- Dossus L, Jimenez-Corona A, Romieu I, Boutron-Ruault MC, Boutten A, Dupré T, et al. (2014). C-reactive protein and postmenopausal breast cancer risk: results from the E3N cohort study. Cancer Causes Control. 25(4):533–9. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10552-014-0355-9</u> PMID:24504436
- Duarte-Salles T, Fedirko V, Stepien M, Trichopoulou A, Bamia C, Lagiou P, et al. (2014). Dairy products and risk of hepatocellular carcinoma: the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition. Int J Cancer. 135(7):1662–72. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28812 PMID:24615266
- Durães C, Muñoz X, Bonet C, García N, Venceslá A, Carneiro F, et al. (2014). Genetic variants in the *IL1A* gene region contribute to intestinal-type gastric carcinoma susceptibility in European populations. Int J Cancer. 135(6):1343–55. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28776 PMID:24615437</u>
- Ecsedi S, Hernandez-Vargas H, Lima SC, Vizkeleti L, Toth R, Lazar V, et al. (2014). DNA methylation characteristics of primary melanomas with distinct biological behaviour. PLoS One. 9(5):e96612. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0096612 PMID:24832207
- El-Zaemey S, Heyworth J, Fritschi L (2014). Qat consumption among women living in Yemen. Int J Occup Environ Med. 5(2):109–11. <u>PMID:24748003</u>
- Emaus MJ, van Gils CH, Bakker MF, Bisschop CN, Monninkhof EM, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, et al. (2014). Weight change in middle adulthood and breast cancer risk in the EPIC-PANACEA study. Int J Cancer. 135(12):2887–99. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28926</u> PMID:24771551
- Eng A, Gallant Z, Shepherd J, McCormack V, Li J, Dowsett M, et al. (2014). Digital mammographic density and breast cancer risk: a case–control study of six alternative density assessment methods. Breast Cancer Res. 16(5):439. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s13058-014-0439-1</u> PMID:25239205
- Eng A, McCormack V, dos-Santos-Silva I (2014). Receptor-defined subtypes of breast cancer in indigenous populations in Africa: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS Med. 11(9):e1001720. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001720 PMID:25202974
- Erdmann F, Kaatsch P, Zeeb H, Roman E, Lightfoot T, Schüz J (2014). Survival from childhood acute lymphoblastic leukaemia in West Germany: does socio-demographic background matter? Eur J Cancer. 50(7):1345–53. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2014.01.028</u> PMID:24582913
- Escamilla-Nuñez MC, Barraza-Villarreal A, Hernández-Cadena L, Navarro-Olivos E, Sly PD, Romieu I (2014). Omega-3 fatty acid supplementation during pregnancy and respiratory symptoms in children. Chest. 146(2):373–82. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1378/chest.13-1432</u> PMID:24626819
- Espinosa-Parrilla Y, Muñoz X, Bonet C, Garcia N, Venceslá A, Yiannakouris N, et al. (2014). Genetic association of gastric cancer with miRNA clusters including the cancer-related genes *MIR29*, *MIR25*, *MIR93* and *MIR106*: results from the EPIC-EURGAST study. Int J Cancer. 135(9):2065–76. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28850 PMID:24643999
- Etemadi A, Abnet CC, Kamangar F, Islami F, Khademi H, Pourshams A, et al. (2014). Impact of body size and physical activity during adolescence and adult life on overall and cause-specific mortality in a large cohort study from Iran. Eur J Epidemiol. 29(2):95–109. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10654-014-</u> 9883-6 PMID:24557643

- Fedirko V, Duarte-Salles T, Bamia C, Trichopoulou A, Aleksandrova K, Trichopoulos D, et al. (2014). Prediagnostic circulating vitamin D levels and risk of hepatocellular carcinoma in European populations: a nested case-control study. Hepatology. 60(4):1222–30. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/hep.27079</u> PMID:24644045
- Fedirko V, Romieu I, Aleksandrova K, Pischon T, Trichopoulos D, Peeters PH, et al. (2014). Pre-diagnostic anthropometry and survival after colorectal cancer diagnosis in Western European populations. Int J Cancer. 135(8):1949–60. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28841</u> PMID:24623514
- Fernández-Alvira JM, Bammann K, Pala V, Krogh V, Barba G, Eiben G, et al. (2014). Country-specific dietary patterns and associations with socioeconomic status in European children: the IDEFICS study. Eur J Clin Nutr. 68(7):811–21. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ejcn.2014.78 PMID:24824009</u>
- Ferrari P, Licaj I, Muller DC, Kragh Andersen P, Johansson M, Boeing H, et al. (2014). Lifetime alcohol use and overall and cause-specific mortality in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) study. BMJ Open. 4(7):e005245. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2014-005245</u> <u>PMID:24993766</u>
- Fiaschetti G, Abela L, Nonoguchi N, Dubuc AM, Remke M, Boro A, et al. (2014). Epigenetic silencing of miRNA-9 is associated with HES1 oncogenic activity and poor prognosis of medulloblastoma. Br J Cancer. 110(3):636–47. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2013.764</u> PMID:24346283
- Figueroa JD, Han SS, Garcia-Closas M, Baris D, Jacobs EJ, Kogevinas M, et al. (2014). Genome-wide interaction study of smoking and bladder cancer risk. Carcinogenesis. 35(8):1737–44. PMID:24662972
- Figueroa JD, Ye Y, Siddiq A, Garcia-Closas M, Chatterjee N, Prokunina-Olsson L, et al. (2014). Genomewide association study identifies multiple loci associated with bladder cancer risk. Hum Mol Genet. 23(5):1387–98. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddt519</u> <u>PMID:24163127</u>
- Flanagan L, Schmid J, Ebert M, Soucek P, Kunicka T, Liska V, et al. (2014). *Fusobacterium nucleatum* associates with stages of colorectal neoplasia development, colorectal cancer and disease outcome. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 33(8):1381–90. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10096-014-2081-3</u> <u>PMID:24599709</u>
- Foliaki S, Brewer N, Pearce N, Snijders PJ, Meijer CJ, Waqatakirewa L, et al. (2014). Prevalence of HPV infection and other risk factors in a Fijian population. Infect Agent Cancer. 9(1):14. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1750-9378-9-14 PMID:24891876
- Ford AC, Forman D, Hunt RH, Yuan Y, Moayyedi P (2014). *Helicobacter pylori* eradication therapy to prevent gastric cancer in healthy asymptomatic infected individuals: systematic review and metaanalysis of randomised controlled trials. BMJ. 348:g3174. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmj.g3174</u> PMID:24846275
- Forouhi NG, Koulman A, Sharp SJ, Imamura F, Kröger J, Schulze MB, et al. (2014). Differences in the prospective association between individual plasma phospholipid saturated fatty acids and incident type 2 diabetes: the EPIC-InterAct case-cohort study. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2(10):810–8. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S2213-8587(14)70146-9 PMID:25107467
- Franceschi S (2014). Intervention trials. In: Ahrens W, Pigeot I, editors. Handbook of Epidemiology, 2nd ed. Berlin, Germany: Springer-Verlag; pp. 365–388.
- Franceschi S (2014). HPV and cancer: a unique opportunity for cancer prevention. Bull Suisse Cancer. 34(3):191–2.
- Franceschi S, Baussano I (2014). Naturally acquired immunity against human papillomavirus (HPV): why it matters in the HPV vaccine era. J Infect Dis. 210(4):507–9. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jiu143</u> <u>PMID:24610878</u>
- Franceschi S, Bray F (2014). Chronic conditions rising in low- and middle-income countries: the case of cancer control. In: Cancer Control 2014: Cancer Care in Emerging Health Systems. Woodbridge, United Kingdom: Global Health Dynamics; pp. 17–23.
- Fu YP, Kohaar I, Moore LE, Lenz P, Figueroa JD, Tang W, et al. (2014). The 19q12 bladder cancer GWAS signal: association with cyclin E function and aggressive disease. Cancer Res. 74(20):5808–18. http://dx.doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-1531 PMID:25320178
- Galanter JM, Gignoux CR, Torgerson DG, Roth LA, Eng C, Oh SS, et al. (2014). Genome-wide association study and admixture mapping identify different asthma-associated loci in Latinos: the Genesenvironments & Admixture in Latino Americans study. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 134(2):295–305. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2013.08.055 PMID:24406073
- Gallus S, Lugo A, Fernandez E, Gilmore AB, Leon ME, Clancy L, et al. (2014). Support for a tobacco endgame strategy in 18 European countries. Prev Med. 67:255–8. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2014.08.001</u> PMID:25117519

Gallus S, Lugo A, La Vecchia C, Boffetta P, Chaloupka FJ, Colombo P, et al. (2014). Pricing Policies And Control of Tobacco in Europe (PPACTE) project: cross-national comparison of smoking prevalence in 18 European countries. Eur J Cancer Prev. 23(3):177–85.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/CEJ.000000000000000 PMID:24441832

- Ghantous A, Saffery R, Cros MP, Ponsonby AL, Hirschfeld S, Kasten C, et al. (2014). Optimized DNA extraction from neonatal dried blood spots: application in methylome profiling. BMC Biotechnol. 14(1):60. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1472-6750-14-60</u> PMID:24980254
- Gheit T, Abedi-Ardekani B, Carreira C, Missad CG, Tommasino M, Torrente MC (2014). Comprehensive analysis of HPV expression in laryngeal squamous cell carcinoma. J Med Virol. 86(4):642–6. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jmv.23866 PMID:24374907
- Ghoussaini M, Edwards SL, Michailidou K, Nord S, Cowper-Sal.lari R, Desai K, et al.; Australian Ovarian Cancer Management Group (2014). Evidence that breast cancer risk at the 2q35 locus is mediated through *IGFBP5* regulation. Nat Commun. 4:4999. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ncomms5999</u> <u>PMID:25248036</u>
- Giacomazzi J, Graudenz MS, Osorio CA, Koehler-Santos P, Palmero EI, Zagonel-Oliveira M, et al. (2014). Prevalence of the *TP53* p.R337H mutation in breast cancer patients in Brazil. PLoS One. 9(6):e99893. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0099893</u> PMID:24936644
- Gillison ML, Castellsagué X, Chaturvedi A, Goodman MT, Snijders P, Tommasino M, et al. (2014). Eurogin Roadmap: comparative epidemiology of HPV infection and associated cancers of the head and neck and cervix. Int J Cancer. 134(3):497–507. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28201</u> PMID:23568556
- Gimeno-Santos E, Frei A, Steurer-Stey C, de Batlle J, Rabinovich RA, Raste Y, et al.; PROactive consortium (2014). Determinants and outcomes of physical activity in patients with COPD: a systematic review. Thorax. 69(8):731–9. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/thoraxjnl-2013-204763</u> PMID:24558112
- Greenop KR, Peters S, Fritschi L, Glass DC, Ashton LJ, Bailey HD, et al. (2014). Exposure to household painting and floor treatments, and parental occupational paint exposure and risk of childhood brain tumors: results from an Australian case-control study. Cancer Causes Control. 25(3):283–91. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10552-013-0330-x PMID:24337771
- Greenop KR, Peters S, Fritschi L, Glass DC, Ashton LJ, Bailey HD, et al. (2014). Erratum to: Exposure to household painting and floor treatments, and parental occupational paint exposure and risk of childhood brain tumors: results from an Australian case-control study. Cancer Causes Control. 25(9):1241–2. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10552-014-0419-x</u>
- Guevara E, Baena A, Almonte M, Salaza JE, Gaviria A, Sánchez GI (2014). Reproducibilidad en la lectura de un set de placas de citología cérvico-uterinas en cuatro centros especializados de Medellín, Antioquia. Rev Fac Nac Salud Pública. 32(2):54–60.
- Guha N, Baan RA, Straif K (2014). Electromagnetic fields. In: Landrigan PJ, Etzel RA, editors. Textbook of Children's Environmental Health. Oxford University Press USA; pp. 383–96.
- Guha N, Warnakulasuriya S, Vlaanderen J, Straif K (2014). Betel quid chewing and the risk of oral and oropharyngeal cancers: a meta-analysis with implications for cancer control. Int J Cancer. 135(6):1433–43. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28643</u> PMID:24302487
- Guillot C, Favaudon V, Herceg Z, Sagne C, Sauvaigo S, Merle P, et al. (2014). PARP inhibition and the radiosensitizing effects of the PARP inhibitor ABT-888 in *in vitro* hepatocellular carcinoma models. BMC Cancer. 14(1):603. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2407-14-603</u> PMID:25139788
- Guillot C, Hall J, Herceg Z, Merle P, Chemin I (2014). Update on hepatocellular carcinoma breakthroughs: poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase inhibitors as a promising therapeutic strategy. Clin Res Hepatol Gastroenterol. 38(2):137–42. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.clinre.2013.07.006</u> PMID:23953496
- Hampras SS, Giuliano AR, Lin HY, Fisher KJ, Abrahamsen ME, Sirak BA, et al. (2014). Natural history of cutaneous human papillomavirus (HPV) infection in men: the HIM study. PLoS One. 9(9):e104843. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0104843 PMID:25198694
- Hamra GB, Guha N, Cohen A, Laden F, Raaschou-Nielsen O, Samet JM, et al. (2014). Outdoor particulate matter exposure and lung cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Environ Health Perspect. 122(9):906–11. <u>PMID:24911630</u>
- Hamra GB, Loomis D, Dement J (2014). Examining the association of lung cancer and highly correlated fibre size-specific asbestos exposures with a hierarchical Bayesian model. Occup Environ Med. 71(5):353–7. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/oemed-2013-101965</u> PMID:24569623
- Hamra GB, MacLehose R, Richardson D, Bertke S, Daniels RD (2014). Modelling complex mixtures in epidemiologic analysis: additive versus relative measures for differential effectiveness. Occup Environ Med. 71(2):141–6. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/oemed-2013-101665</u> PMID:24213566

- Hamra GB, Semelka RC, Burke LM, Pate V, Brookhart MA (2014). Trends in diagnostic CT among fee-forservice enrollees, 2000–2011. J Am Coll Radiol. 11(2):125–30. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jacr.2013.07.014 PMID:24035504
- Hanisch RA, Cherne SL, Sow PS, Winer RL, Hughes JP, Feng Q, et al.; University of Washington-Dakar HIV and Cervical Cancer Study Group (2014). Human papillomavirus type 16 viral load in relation to HIV infection, cervical neoplasia and cancer in Senegal. Cancer Epidemiol. 38(4):369–75. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.canep.2014.04.005 PMID:24852136
- Hebestreit A, Börnhorst C, Barba G, Siani A, Huybrechts I, Tognon G, et al. (2014). Associations between energy intake, daily food intake and energy density of foods and BMI z-score in 2–9-year-old European children. Eur J Nutr. 53(2):673–81. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00394-013-0575-x</u> <u>PMID:24061347</u>
- Hebestreit A, Börnhorst C, Barba G, Siani A, Huybrechts I, Tognon G, et al. (2014). Associations between energy intake, daily food intake and energy density of foods and BMI z-score in 2–9-year-old European children. Eur J Nutr. 53(2):673–81. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00394-014-0712-1</u> PMID:24061347
- Hedley C, Sriraksa R, Showeil R, Van Noorden S, El-Bahrawy M (2014). The frequency and significance of WT-1 expression in serous endometrial carcinoma. Hum Pathol. 45(9):1879–84. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.humpath.2014.05.009</u> <u>PMID:25033726</u>
- Herceg Z (2014). Cancer prevention potential of diet and dietary supplements in epigenome modulation.
 In: Mahabir S, Pathak YV, editors. Nutraceuticals and Health: Review of Human Evidence. Boca Raton: CRC Press; pp. 43–70.
- Herrero R, Parsonnet J, Greenberg ER (2014). Prevention of gastric cancer. JAMA. 312(12):1197–8. http://dx.doi.org/10.1001/jama.2014.10498 PMID:25247512
- Hosnijeh FS, Lan Q, Rothman N, San Liu C, Cheng WL, Nieters A, et al. (2014). Mitochondrial DNA copy number and future risk of B-cell lymphoma in a nested case-control study in the prospective EPIC cohort. Blood. 124(4):530–5. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1182/blood-2013-10-532085</u> PMID:24899624
- Hosnijeh FS, Matullo G, Russo A, Guarrera S, Modica F, Nieters A, et al. (2014). Prediagnostic telomere length and risk of B-cell lymphoma–results from the EPIC cohort study. Int J Cancer. 135(12):2910–7. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28934 PMID:24771230
- Huybrechts I, Beirlaen C, De Vriendt T, Slimani N, Pisa PT, Schouppe E, et al. (2014). Validity of instruction leaflets for parents to measure their child's weight and height at home: results obtained from a randomised controlled trial. BMJ Open. 4(2):e003768. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2013-003768</u> PMID:24508849
- Huybrechts I, De Vriendt T, Breidenassel C, Rogiers J, Vanaelst B, Cuenca-García M, et al.; HELENA Study Group (2014). Mechanisms of stress, energy homeostasis and insulin resistance in European adolescents–the HELENA study. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 24(10):1082–9. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.numecd.2014.04.014 PMID:24907850
- Iannacone MR, Gheit T, Pfister H, Giuliano AR, Messina JL, Fenske NA, et al. (2014). Case-control study of genus-beta human papillomaviruses in plucked eyebrow hairs and cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma. Int J Cancer. 134(9):2231–44. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28552 PMID:24136717</u>
- Ichim G, Mola M, Finkbeiner MG, Cros MP, Herceg Z, Hernandez-Vargas H (2014). The histone acetyltransferase component TRRAP is targeted for destruction during the cell cycle. Oncogene. 33(2):181–92. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/onc.2012.570</u> PMID:23318449
- Iglesia I, Mouratidou T, González-Gross M, Novakovic R, Breidenassel C, Jiménez-Pavón D, et al.; HELENA study group (2014). Socioeconomic factors are associated with folate and vitamin B12 intakes and related biomarkers concentrations in European adolescents: the Healthy Lifestyle in Europe by Nutrition in Adolescence study. Nutr Res. 34(3):199–209.
 - http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nutres.2014.01.006 PMID:24655486
- Illner AK, Lachat C, Slimani N (2014). Assessing food intake through a chest-worn camera device. Public Health Nutr. 17(8):1669–70. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S136898001400130X</u> PMID:24983427
- InterAct Consortium (2014). Adherence to predefined dietary patterns and incident type 2 diabetes in European populations: EPIC-InterAct Study. Diabetologia. 57(2):321–33. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00125-013-3092-9 PMID:24196190
- Islami F, Nasseri-Moghaddam S, Pourshams A, Poustchi H, Semnani S, Kamangar F, et al. (2014). Determinants of gastroesophageal reflux disease, including hookah smoking and opium use–a crosssectional analysis of 50,000 individuals. PLoS One. 9(2):e89256. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0089256 PMID:24586635</u>

- Islami F, Pourshams A, Nasseri-Moghaddam S, Khademi H, Poutschi H, Khoshnia M, et al. (2014). Gastroesophageal reflux disease and overall and cause-specific mortality: a prospective study of 50000 individuals. Middle East J Dig Dis. 6(2):65–80. <u>PMID:24872865</u>
- Jemal A, Lortet-Tieulent J, Bray F (2014). Reply from authors re: Lambertus A. Kiemeney. The global risk of bladder cancer: let's just do something about it! Eur Urol 2014;66:74–5. Eur Urol. 66(1):76. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.eururo.2013.12.028 PMID:24411280
- Jiron J, Sethi S, Ali-Fehmi R, Franceschi S, Struijk L, van Doorn LJ, et al. (2014). Racial disparities in Human Papillomavirus (HPV) associated head and neck cancer. Am J Otolaryngol. 35(2):147–53. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.amjoto.2013.09.004 PMID:24209992
- Joshi S, Babu JM, Jayalakshmi D, Kulkarni V, Divate U, Muwonge R, et al. (2014). Human papillomavirus infection among human immunodeficiency virus-infected women in Maharashtra, India. Vaccine. 32(9):1079–85. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2013.12.060</u> PMID:24397900
- Kaaks R, Johnson T, Tikk K, Sookthai D, Tjønneland A, Roswall N, et al. (2014). Insulin-like growth factor I and risk of breast cancer by age and hormone receptor status–a prospective study within the EPIC cohort. Int J Cancer. 134(11):2683–90. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28589 PMID:24248481</u>
- Kaaks R, Sookthai D, Hemminki K, Krämer A, Boeing H, Wirfält E, et al. (2014). Risk factors for cancers of unknown primary site: results from the prospective EPIC cohort. Int J Cancer. 135(10):2475–81. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28874 PMID:24692151
- Kaaks R, Tikk K, Sookthai D, Schock H, Johnson T, Tjønneland A, et al. (2014). Premenopausal serum sex hormone levels in relation to breast cancer risk, overall and by hormone receptor status – results from the EPIC cohort. Int J Cancer. 134(8):1947–57. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28528</u> <u>PMID:24155248</u>
- Karanović S, Tomić K, Dittrich D, Borovečki F, Zavadil J, Vuković-Lela I, et al. (2014). Endemic (Balkan) nephropathy is aristolochic acid nephropathy. Prilozi. 35(1):43–6. <u>PMID:24798595</u>
- Kengne AP, Beulens JW, Peelen LM, Moons KG, van der Schouw YT, Schulze MB, et al. (2014). Noninvasive risk scores for prediction of type 2 diabetes (EPIC-InterAct): a validation of existing models. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2(1):19–29. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S2213-8587(13)70103-7</u> <u>PMID:24622666</u>
- Khuhaprema T, Sangrajrang S, Lalitwongsa S, Chokvanitphong V, Raunroadroong T, Ratanachu-Ek T, et al. (2014). Organised colorectal cancer screening in Lampang Province, Thailand: preliminary results from a pilot implementation programme. BMJ Open. 4(1):e003671. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2013-003671 PMID:24435889</u>
- Kim CH, Lee YC, Hung RJ, McNallan SR, Cote ML, Lim WY, et al. (2014). Exposure to secondhand tobacco smoke and lung cancer by histological type: a pooled analysis of the International Lung Cancer Consortium (ILCCO). Int J Cancer. 135(8):1918–30. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28835</u> <u>PMID:24615328</u>
- Kim YH, Ohta T, Oh JE, Le Calvez-Kelm F, McKay J, Voegele C, et al. (2014). *TP53*, *MSH4*, and *LATS1* germline mutations in a family with clustering of nervous system tumors. Am J Pathol. 184(9):2374–81. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ajpath.2014.05.017</u> <u>PMID:25041856</u>
- Koester-Weber T, Valtueña J, Breidenassel C, Beghin L, Plada M, Moreno S, et al. (2014). Reference values for leptin, cortisol, insulin and glucose, among European adolescents and their association with adiposity: the HELENA Study. Nutr Hosp. 30(05):1181–90. <u>PMID:25365025</u>
- Krais AM, Mühlbauer KR, Kucab JE, Chinbuah H, Cornelius MG, Wei QX, et al. (2014). Comparison of the metabolic activation of environmental carcinogens in mouse embryonic stem cells and mouse embryonic fibroblasts. Toxicol In Vitro. 29(1):34–43. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tiv.2014.09.004</u> <u>PMID:25230394</u>
- Kreimer AR, Johansson M, Hildesheim A, Pawlita M, Brennan P (2014). Reply to P.E. Castle. J Clin Oncol. 32(4):361–2. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2013.53.2697</u> PMID:24366940
- Kyrø C, Olsen A, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, Skeie G, Loft S, Åman P, et al. (2014). Plasma alkylresorcinol concentrations, biomarkers of whole-grain wheat and rye intake, in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) cohort. Br J Nutr. 111(10):1881–90. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0007114513004388</u> PMID:24521535
- Kyrø C, Olsen A, Landberg R, Skeie G, Loft S, Åman P, et al. (2014). Plasma alkylresorcinols, biomarkers of whole-grain wheat and rye intake, and incidence of colorectal cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst. 106(1):djt352. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djt352</u> PMID:24317181

- Labayen I, Ruiz JR, Ortega FB, Huybrechts I, Rodríguez G, Jiménez-Pavón D, et al. (2014). High fat diets are associated with higher abdominal adiposity regardless of physical activity in adolescents; the HELENA study. Clin Nutr. 33(5):859–66. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.clnu.2013.10.008</u> PMID:24182766
- Langenberg C, Sharp SJ, Franks PW, Scott RA, Deloukas P, Forouhi NG, et al. (2014). Gene-lifestyle interaction and type 2 diabetes: the EPIC interact case-cohort study. PLoS Med. 11(5):e1001647. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001647 PMID:24845081
- Lazcano-Ponce E, Stanley M, Muñoz N, Torres L, Cruz-Valdez A, Salmerón J, et al. (2014). Overcoming barriers to HPV vaccination: non-inferiority of antibody response to human papillomavirus 16/18 vaccine in adolescents vaccinated with a two-dose vs. a three-dose schedule at 21 months. Vaccine. 32(6):725–32. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2013.11.059</u> PMID:24355090
- Le Cornet C, Lortet-Tieulent J, Forman D, Béranger R, Flechon A, Fervers B, et al. (2014). Testicular cancer incidence to rise by 25% by 2025 in Europe? Model-based predictions in 40 countries using population-based registry data. Eur J Cancer. 50(4):831–9. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2013.11.035 PMID:24369860
- Leduc C, Chemin G, Puget N, Sawan C, Moutahir M, Herceg Z, et al. (2014). Tissue-specific inactivation of HAT cofactor TRRAP reveals its essential role in B cells. Cell Cycle. 13(10):1583–9. http://dx.doi.org/10.4161/cc.28560 PMID:24675885
- Lee HS, Herceg Z (2014). The epigenome and cancer prevention: a complex story of dietary supplementation. Cancer Lett. 342(2):275–84. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2012.01.021</u> <u>PMID:22266189</u>
- Leenders M, Boshuizen HC, Ferrari P, Siersema PD, Overvad K, Tjønneland A, et al. (2014). Fruit and vegetable intake and cause-specific mortality in the EPIC study. Eur J Epidemiol. 29(9):639–52. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10654-014-9945-9 PMID:25154553
- Leenders M, Leufkens AM, Siersema PD, van Duijnhoven FJ, Vrieling A, Hulshof PJ, et al. (2014). Plasma and dietary carotenoids and vitamins A, C and E and risk of colon and rectal cancer in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition. Int J Cancer. 135(12):2930–9. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28938 PMID:24771392
- Leitz J, Reuschenbach M, Lohrey C, Honegger A, Accardi R, Tommasino M, et al. (2014). Oncogenic human papillomaviruses activate the tumor-associated lens epithelial-derived growth factor (*LEDGF*) gene. PLoS Pathog. 10(3):e1003957. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1003957</u> <u>PMID:24604027</u>
- Leoncini E, Ricciardi W, Cadoni G, Arzani D, Petrelli L, Paludetti G, et al. (2014). Adult height and head and neck cancer: a pooled analysis within the INHANCE Consortium. Eur J Epidemiol. 29(1):35–48. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10654-013-9863-2 PMID:24271556</u>
- Loomis D, Huang W, Chen G (2014). The International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) evaluation of the carcinogenicity of outdoor air pollution: focus on China. Chin J Cancer. 33(4):189–96. http://dx.doi.org/10.5732/cjc.014.10028 PMID:24694836
- López RV, Levi JE, Eluf-Neto J, Koifman RJ, Koifman S, Curado MP, et al. (2014). Human papillomavirus (HPV) 16 and the prognosis of head and neck cancer in a geographical region with a low prevalence of HPV infection. Cancer Causes Control. 25(4):461–71. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10552-014-0348-8</u> PMID:24474236
- Lortet-Tieulent J, Soerjomataram I, Ferlay J, Rutherford M, Weiderpass E, Bray F (2014). International trends in lung cancer incidence by histological subtype: adenocarcinoma stabilizing in men but still increasing in women. Lung Cancer. 84(1):13–22. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.lungcan.2014.01.009</u> PMID:24524818
- Louis DN, Perry A, Burger P, Ellison DW, Reifenberger G, von Deimling A, et al. (2014). International Society of Neuropathology-Haarlem Consensus Guidelines for Nervous System Tumor Classification and Grading. Brain Pathol. 24(5):429–35. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/bpa.12171</u> <u>PMID:24990071</u>
- Lubin JH, De Stefani E, Abnet CC, Acosta G, Boffetta P, Victora C, et al. (2014). Maté drinking and esophageal squamous cell carcinoma in South America: pooled results from two large multicenter case-control studies. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 23(1):107–16. http://dx.doi.org/10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-13-0796 PMID:24130226
- Lujan-Barroso L, González CA, Slimani N, Obón-Santacana M, Ferrari P, Freisling H, et al. (2014). Dietary intake of acrylamide and esophageal cancer risk in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition cohort. Cancer Causes Control. 25(5):639–46. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10552-014-0359-5 PMID:24532026</u>

- Lukanova A, Becker S, Hüsing A, Schock H, Fedirko V, Trepo E, et al. (2014). Prediagnostic plasma testosterone, sex hormone-binding globulin, IGF-I and hepatocellular carcinoma: etiological factors or risk markers? Int J Cancer. 134(1):164–73. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28342 PMID:23801371</u>
- Ma X, Rousseau V, Sun H, Lantuejoul S, Filipits M, Pirker R, et al.; IALT-Bio working group (2014). Significance of *TP53* mutations as predictive markers of adjuvant cisplatin-based chemotherapy in completely resected non-small-cell lung cancer. Mol Oncol. 8(3):555–64. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.molonc.2013.12.015</u> <u>PMID:24495481</u>
- Malekzadeh MM, Khademi H, Malekzadeh R, Kamangar F (2014). Response to Lankarani. Am J Gastroenterol. 109(4):600–1. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ajg.2014.16 PMID:24698869</u>
- Marks MA, Chaturvedi AK, Kelsey K, Straif K, Berthiller J, Schwartz SM, et al. (2014). Association of marijuana smoking with oropharyngeal and oral tongue cancers: pooled analysis from the INHANCE consortium. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 23(1):160–71. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-13-0181</u> PMID:24351902
- Martin M, Ancey PB, Cros MP, Durand G, Le Calvez-Kelm F, Hernandez-Vargas H, et al. (2014). Dynamic imbalance between cancer cell subpopulations induced by transforming growth factor beta (TGF-β) is associated with a DNA methylome switch. BMC Genomics. 15(1):435. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-15-435 PMID:24898317</u>
- Maso LD, Suligoi B, Franceschi S, Braga C, Buzzoni C, Polesel J, et al.; Cancer and AIDS Registries Linkage Study (2014). Survival after cancer in Italian persons with AIDS, 1986–2005: a population-based estimation. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 66(4):428–35. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/QAI.00000000000184 PMID:24798769</u>
- Mbaye eHS, Gheit T, Dem A, McKay-Chopin S, Toure-Kane NC, Mboup S, Tommasino M, Sylla BS, Boye CS (2014). Human papillomavirus infection in women in four regions of Senegal. J Med Virol, 86:248–256.
- McCloskey K, Sun C, Pezic A, Cochrane J, Morley R, Vuillermin P, et al. (2014). The effect of known cardiovascular risk factors on carotid-femoral pulse wave velocity in school-aged children: a population based twin study. J Dev Orig Health Dis. 5(4):307–13. http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S2040174414000282 PMID:24965137
- McKenzie F, Ellison-Loschmann L, Jeffreys M, Firestone R, Pearce N, Romieu I (2014). Healthy lifestyle and risk of breast cancer for indigenous and non-indigenous women in New Zealand: a case control study. BMC Cancer. 14(1):12. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2407-14-12</u> <u>PMID:24410858</u>
- Mena M, Wiafe-Addai B, Sauvaget C, Ali IA, Wiafe SA, Dabis F, et al. (2014). Evaluation of the impact of a breast cancer awareness program in rural Ghana: a cross-sectional survey. Int J Cancer. 134(4):913– 24. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28412</u> <u>PMID:23913595</u>
- Merritt MA, Riboli E, Weiderpass E, Tsilidis KK, Overvad K, Tjønneland A, et al. (2014). Dietary fat intake and risk of epithelial ovarian cancer in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition. Cancer Epidemiol. 38(5):528–37. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.canep.2014.07.011</u> <u>PMID:25155210</u>
- Mertens E, Mullie P, Deforche B, Lefevre J, Charlier R, Huybrechts I, et al. (2014). Cross-sectional study on the relationship between the Mediterranean Diet Score and blood lipids. Nutr J. 13(1):88. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1475-2891-13-88</u> PMID:25189183
- Metayer C, Milne E, Dockerty JD, Clavel J, Pombo-de-Oliveira MS, Wesseling C, et al. (2014). Maternal supplementation with folic acid and other vitamins and risk of leukemia in offspring: a childhood leukemia international consortium study. Epidemiology. 25(6):811–22. http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/EDE.00000000000141 PMID:25207954
- Midttun O, Townsend MK, Nygård O, Tworoger SS, Brennan P, Johansson M, et al. (2014). Most blood biomarkers related to vitamin status, one-carbon metabolism, and the kynurenine pathway show adequate preanalytical stability and within-person reproducibility to allow assessment of exposure or nutritional status in healthy women and cardiovascular patients. J Nutr. 144(5):784–90. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3945/jn.113.189738 PMID:24647388</u>
- Milne É, Greenop KR, Fritschi L, Attia J, Bailey HD, Scott RJ, et al. (2014). Childhood and parental diagnostic radiological procedures and risk of childhood brain tumors. Cancer Causes Control. 25(3):375–83. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10552-014-0338-x</u> PMID:24445596

- Milne RL, Burwinkel B, Michailidou K, Arias-Perez JI, Zamora MP, Menéndez-Rodríguez P, et al.; GENICA Network; kConFab Investigators; Australian Ovarian Cancer Study Group; TNBCC; GENICA Network (2014). Common non-synonymous SNPs associated with breast cancer susceptibility: findings from the Breast Cancer Association Consortium. Hum Mol Genet. 23(22):6096–111. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddu311 PMID:24943594
- Moore SP, Green AC, Bray F, Garvey G, Coory M, Martin J, et al. (2014). Survival disparities in Australia: an analysis of patterns of care and comorbidities among indigenous and non-indigenous cancer patients. BMC Cancer. 14(1):517. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2407-14-517 PMID:25037075
- Moreno-Estrada A, Gignoux CR, Fernández-López JC, Zakharia F, Sikora M, Contreras AV, et al. (2014). The genetics of Mexico recapitulates Native American substructure and affects biomedical traits. Science. 344(6189):1280–5. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1126/science.1251688</u> PMID:24926019
- Moreno-Macias H, Romieu I (2014). Reply. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 134(3):763–4. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2014.06.012 PMID:25065722
- Moreno-Macias H, Romieu I (2014). Effects of antioxidant supplements and nutrients on patients with asthma and allergies. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 133(5):1237–44, quiz 1245. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2014.03.020 PMID:24766873
- Morton LM, Sampson JN, Cerhan JR, Turner JJ, Vajdic CM, Wang SS, et al. (2014). Rationale and design of the International Lymphoma Epidemiology Consortium (InterLymph) Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma Subtypes Project. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr. 2014(48):1–14. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/jncimonographs/lgu005</u> PMID:25174022
- Morton LM, Slager SL, Cerhan JR, Wang SS, Vajdic CM, Skibola CF, et al. (2014). Etiologic heterogeneity among non-Hodgkin lymphoma subtypes: the InterLymph Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma Subtypes Project. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr. 2014(48):130–44. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/jncimonographs/lgu013</u> PMID:25174034
- Moskal A, Pisa PT, Ferrari P, Byrnes G, Freisling H, Boutron-Ruault MC, et al. (2014). Nutrient patterns and their food sources in an international study setting: report from the EPIC study. PLoS One. 9(6):e98647. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0098647</u> <u>PMID:24901309</u>
- Mühleisen TW, Leber M, Schulze TG, Strohmaier J, Degenhardt F, Treutlein J, et al. (2014). Genome-wide association study reveals two new risk loci for bipolar disorder. Nat Commun. 5:3339. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ncomms4339 PMID:24618891
- Muller DC, Fanidi A, Midttun O, Steffen A, Dossus L, Boutron-Ruault MC, et al. (2014). Circulating 25hydroxyvitamin D3 in relation to renal cell carcinoma incidence and survival in the EPIC cohort. Am J Epidemiol. 180(8):810–20. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwu204_PMID:25205830
- Murugan N, Dickens C, McCormack V, Joffe M, Jacobson J, Cubasch H (2014). Down-staging of breast cancer in the pre-screening era: experiences from Chris Hani Baragwanath Academic Hospital, Soweto, South Africa. S Afr Med J. 104(5):380. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.7196/samj.8243</u> <u>PMID:25295329</u>
- Muwonge R, Wesley RS, Nene BM, Shastri SS, Jayant K, Malvi SG, et al. (2014). Evaluation of cytology and visual triage of human papillomavirus-positive women in cervical cancer prevention in India. Int J Cancer. 134(12):2902–9. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28627</u> PMID:24272364
- Myers RA, Scott NM, Gauderman WJ, Qiu W, Mathias RA, Romieu I, et al.; GRAAD (2014). Genome-wide interaction studies reveal sex-specific asthma risk alleles. Hum Mol Genet. 23(19):5251–9. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddu222 PMID:24824216
- Newton R, Wakeham K, Bray F (2014). Cancer in the tropics. In: Farrar J, Hotez P, Junghanss T, Kang G, Lalloo D, White NJ, editors. Manson's Tropical Infectious Diseases, 23th ed. Elsevier; pp. 879–893.e1.
- Nitter M, Norgård B, de Vogel S, Eussen SJPM, Meyer K, Ulvik A, et al. (2014). Plasma methionine, choline, betaine, and dimethylglycine in relation to colorectal cancer risk in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC). Ann Oncol. 25(8):1609–15. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdu185 PMID:24827130
- Obón-Santacana M, Kaaks R, Slimani N, Lujan-Barroso L, Freisling H, Ferrari P, et al. (2014). Dietary intake of acrylamide and endometrial cancer risk in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition cohort. Br J Cancer. 111(5):987–97. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2014.328</u> <u>PMID:24937665</u>
- Ohgaki H, Burger P, Kleihues P (2014). Definition of primary and secondary glioblastoma–response. Clin Cancer Res. 20(7):2013. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-0238 PMID:24557936</u>
- Ohta T, Kim YH, Oh JE, Satomi K, Nonoguchi N, Keyvani K, et al. (2014). Alterations of the *RRAS* and *ERCC1* genes at 19q13 in gemistocytic astrocytomas. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 73(10):908–15. http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/NEN.000000000000110 PMID:25192052

- Olivier M, Weninger A, Ardin M, Huskova H, Castells X, Vallée MP, et al. (2014). Modelling mutational landscapes of human cancers in vitro. Sci Rep. 4:4482. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/srep04482</u> <u>PMID:24670820</u>
- Ostrom QT, Bauchet L, Davis FG, Deltour I, Fisher JL, Langer CE, et al. (2014). The epidemiology of glioma in adults: a "state of the science" review. Neuro Oncol. 16(7):896–913. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/neuonc/nou087 PMID:24842956
- Park DJ, Tao K, Le Calvez-Kelm F, Nguyen-Dumont T, Robinot N, Hammet F, et al. (2014). Rare mutations in *RINT1* predispose carriers to breast and Lynch syndrome-spectrum cancers. Cancer Discov. 4(7):804–15. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1158/2159-8290.CD-14-0212</u> PMID:25050558
- Park SL, Fesinmeyer MD, Timofeeva M, Caberto CP, Kocarnik JM, Han Y, et al. (2014). Pleiotropic associations of risk variants identified for other cancers with lung cancer risk: the PAGE and TRICL consortia. J Natl Cancer Inst. 106(4):dju061. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/jnci/dju061</u> <u>PMID:24681604</u>
- Park WB, Cho JS, Shin SD, Kong SY, Kim JJ, Lim YS, et al. (2014). Comparison of epidemiology, emergency care, and outcomes of acute ischemic stroke between young adults and elderly in Korean population: a multicenter observational study. J Korean Med Sci. 29(7):985–91. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3346/jkms.2014.29.7.985</u> PMID:25045232
- Parkin DM, Bray F, Ferlay J, Jemal A (2014). Cancer in Africa 2012. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 23(6):953–66. http://dx.doi.org/10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-14-0281 PMID:24700176
- Pathy S, Muwonge R, Chander S, Dadhwal V, Pandjatcharam J (2014). Predictors of tumor response in carcinoma of uterine cervix: data from tertiary cancer centre in India. Bull Cancer. 101(2):E13–8. PMID:24590357
- Pauwels S, Doperé I, Huybrechts I, Godderis L, Koppen G, Vansant G (2014). Validation of a foodfrequency questionnaire assessment of methyl-group donors using estimated diet records and plasma biomarkers: the method of triads. Int J Food Sci Nutr. 65(6):768–73. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3109/09637486.2014.917149 PMID:24827748</u>
- Pearce N, Brennan P, Foliaki S, Ellison-Loschmann L, D'Souza W, Davey Smith G (2014). The Ikale collaboration: randomized trials of beer recognition. Int J Epidemiol. 43(1):81–2. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyt258 PMID:24585855
- Pedersen C, Bräuner EV, Rod NH, Albieri V, Andersen CE, Ulbak K, et al. (2014). Distance to high-voltage power lines and risk of childhood leukemia–an analysis of confounding by and interaction with other potential risk factors. PLoS One. 9(9):e107096. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0107096</u> <u>PMID:25259740</u>
- Pedersen C, Raaschou-Nielsen O, Rod NH, Frei P, Poulsen AH, Johansen C, et al. (2014). Distance from residence to power line and risk of childhood leukemia: a population-based case-control study in Denmark. Cancer Causes Control. 25(2):171–7. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10552-013-0319-5</u> PMID:24197706
- Pelucchi C, Galeone C, Polesel J, Manzari M, Zucchetto A, Talamini R, et al. (2014). Smoking and body mass index and survival in pancreatic cancer patients. Pancreas. 43(1):47–52. http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/MPA.0b013e3182a7c74b PMID:24177141
- Pérez de Heredia F, Garaulet M, Gómez-Martínez S, Díaz LE, Wärnberg J, Androutsos O, et al.; HELENA Study Group (2014). Self-reported sleep duration, white blood cell counts and cytokine profiles in European adolescents: the HELENA study. Sleep Med. 15(10):1251–8. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.sleep.2014.04.010</u> PMID:25156749
- Peto TJ, Mendy ME, Lowe Y, Webb EL, Whittle HC, Hall AJ (2014). Efficacy and effectiveness of infant vaccination against chronic hepatitis B in the Gambia Hepatitis Intervention Study (1986–90) and in the nationwide immunisation program. BMC Infect Dis. 14(1):7. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2334-14-7 PMID:24397793</u>
- Pettersson A, Graff RE, Ursin G, Santos Silva ID, McCormack V, Baglietto L, et al. (2014). Mammographic density phenotypes and risk of breast cancer: a meta-analysis. J Natl Cancer Inst. 106(5):dju078. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/jnci/dju078 PMID:24816206
- Ponsonby AL, Dwyer T (2014). Statistics: Biomedicine must look beyond *P* values. Nature. 507(7491):169. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/507169b PMID:24622193
- Portier CJ, Goldman LR, Goldstein BD (2014). Inconclusive findings: now you see them, now you don't! Environ Health Perspect. 122(2):A36. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1408106</u> <u>PMID:24486734</u>

- Pouchieu C, Chajès V, Laporte F, Kesse-Guyot E, Galan P, Hercberg S, et al. (2014). Prospective associations between plasma saturated, monounsaturated and polyunsaturated fatty acids and overall and breast cancer risk modulation by antioxidants: a nested case-control study. PLoS One. 9(2):e90442. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0090442</u> PMID:24587366
- Rappaport SM, Barupal DK, Wishart D, Vineis P, Scalbert A (2014). The blood exposome and its role in discovering causes of disease. Environ Health Perspect. 122(8):769–74. <u>PMID:24659601</u>
- Ricceri F, Trevisan M, Fiano V, Grasso C, Fasanelli F, Scoccianti C, et al. (2014). Seasonality modifies methylation profiles in healthy people. PLoS One. 9(9):e106846. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0106846 PMID:25210735
- Rinaldi S, Biessy C, Hernandez M, Lesueur F, dos-Santos-Silva I, Rice MS, et al. (2014). Circulating concentrations of insulin-like growth factor-I, insulin-like growth factor-binding protein-3, genetic polymorphisms and mammographic density in premenopausal Mexican women: results from the ESMaestras cohort. Int J Cancer. 134(6):1436–44. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28469</u> PMID:24037648
- Rinaldi S, Kaaks R, Friedenreich CM, Key TJ, Travis R, Biessy C, et al. (2014). Physical activity, sex steroid, and growth factor concentrations in pre- and post-menopausal women: a cross-sectional study within the EPIC cohort. Cancer Causes Control. 25(1):111–24. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10552-013-0314-x</u> <u>PMID:24173534</u>
- Rinaldi S, Plummer M, Biessy C, Tsilidis KK, Østergaard JN, Overvad K, et al. (2014). Thyroid-stimulating hormone, thyroglobulin, and thyroid hormones and risk of differentiated thyroid carcinoma: the EPIC study. J Natl Cancer Inst. 106(6):dju097. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/jnci/dju097</u> <u>PMID:24824312</u>
- Robbins HA, Kemp TJ, Porras C, Rodriguez AC, Schiffman M, Wacholder S, et al. (2014). Comparison of antibody responses to human papillomavirus vaccination as measured by three assays. Front Oncol. 3:328. http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2013.00328 PMID:24455487
- Robbins HA, Li Y, Porras C, Pawlita M, Ghosh A, Rodriguez AC, et al. (2014). Glutathione S-transferase L1 multiplex serology as a measure of cumulative infection with human papillomavirus. BMC Infect Dis. 14(1):120. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2334-14-120 PMID:24588945</u>
- Rollan A, Arab JP, Camargo MC, Candia R, Harris P, Ferreccio C, et al. (2014). Management of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in Latin America: a Delphi technique-based consensus. World J Gastroenterol. 20(31):10969–83. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v20.i31.10969</u> <u>PMID:25152601</u>
- Ronco G, Dillner J, Elfström KM, Tunesi S, Snijders PJ, Arbyn M, et al.; International HPV screening working group (2014). Efficacy of HPV-based screening for prevention of invasive cervical cancer: follow-up of four European randomised controlled trials. Lancet. 383(9916):524–32. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)62218-7 PMID:24192252
- Ross H, Kostova D, Stoklosa M, Leon M (2014). The impact of cigarette excise taxes on smoking cessation rates from 1994 to 2010 in Poland, Russia, and Ukraine. Nicotine Tob Res. 16 Suppl 1:S37–43. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/ntr/ntt024 PMID:24343956
- Roswall N, Freisling H, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, Ros M, Christensen J, Overvad K, et al. (2014). Anthropometric measures and bladder cancer risk: a prospective study in the EPIC cohort. Int J Cancer. 135(12):2918–29. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28936 PMID:24771290</u>
- Roulland S, Kelly RS, Morgado E, Sungalee S, Solal-Celigny P, Colombat P, et al. (2014). t(14;18) Translocation: a predictive blood biomarker for follicular lymphoma. J Clin Oncol. 32(13):1347–55. http://dx.doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2013.52.8190 PMID:24687831
- Roura E, Castellsagué X, Pawlita M, Travier N, Waterboer T, Margall N, et al. (2014). Smoking as a major risk factor for cervical cancer and pre-cancer: results from the EPIC cohort. Int J Cancer. 135(2):453–66. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28666</u> PMID:24338632
- Routledge MN, Kimanya ME, Shirima CP, Wild CP, Gong YY (2014). Quantitative correlation of aflatoxin biomarker with dietary intake of aflatoxin in Tanzanian children. Biomarkers. 19(5):430–5. http://dx.doi.org/10.3109/1354750X.2014.924998 PMID:24902045
- Rushton L, Hutchings SJ, Straif K (2014). Occupational cancer burden. In: Anttila S, Boffetta P, editors. Occupational Cancers. Springer; pp. 531–50. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4471-2825-0_29</u>
- Saberi Hosnijeh F, Peeters P, Romieu I, Kelly R, Riboli E, Olsen A, et al. (2014). Dietary intakes and risk of lymphoid and myeloid leukemia in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC). Nutr Cancer. 66(1):14–28. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/01635581.2014.847471</u> PMID:24279598
- Sagne C, Marcel V, Bota M, Martel-Planche G, Nobrega A, Palmero EI, et al. (2014). Age at cancer onset in germline *TP53* mutation carriers: association with polymorphisms in predicted G-quadruplex structures. Carcinogenesis. 35(4):807–15. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/carcin/bgt381</u> <u>PMID:24336192</u>

- Samet JM, Straif K, Schüz J, Saracci R (2014). Commentary: mobile phones and cancer: next steps after the 2011 IARC review. Epidemiology. 25(1):23–7. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/EDE.000000000000028</u> <u>PMID:24296926</u>
- Sankaranarayanan R (2014). Cancer prevention and care in India: an unfinished agenda. Lancet Oncol. 15(6):554–5. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(14)70140-8</u> PMID:24731886
- Sankaranarayanan R (2014). Treatment of precancerous cervical lesions. In: Grigsby PW, editor. Advances in Cervical Cancer Management. London, United Kingdom: Future Medicine Ltd; pp. 100–20. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2217/fmeb2013.13.110</u>
- Sankaranarayanan R (2014). Magnivisualizer in the early detection of cervical neoplasia. J Gynecol Oncol. 25(4):263–4. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3802/jgo.2014.25.4.263</u> PMID:25310029
- Sankaranarayanan R, Esmy PO, Rajkumar R, Muwonge R, Swaminathan R (2014). Cervical cancer mortality in India - Authors' reply. Lancet. 383(9931):1804–5. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60878-3</u> PMID:24856024
- Sankaranarayanan R, Jivarajani PJ, Qiao YL (2014). Early detection of colorectal cancer at primary care level health services. In: Cancer Control 2014: Cancer Care in Emerging Health Systems. Woodbridge, United Kingdom: Global Health Dynamics; pp. 67–71.
- Sankaranarayanan R, Nene BM, Shastri S, Esmy PE, Rajkumar R, Muwonge R, et al. (2014). Response to article titled "US-funded measurements of cervical cancer death rates in India: scientific and ethical concerns" by Eric J Suba. Indian J Med Ethics. 11(3):175–8. <u>PMID:25101550</u>
- Sankaranarayanan R, Ramadas K, Qiao YL (2014). Managing the changing burden of cancer in Asia. BMC Med. 12:3. PMID:24400922
- Santaliestra-Pasías AM, Mouratidou T, Huybrechts I, Beghin L, Cuenca-García M, Castillo MJ, et al. (2014). Increased sedentary behaviour is associated with unhealthy dietary patterns in European adolescents participating in the HELENA study. Eur J Clin Nutr. 68(3):300–8. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ejcn.2013.170</u> PMID:24045790
- Scalbert A, Brennan L, Manach C, Andres-Lacueva C, Dragsted LO, Draper J, et al. (2014). The food metabolome: a window over dietary exposure. Am J Clin Nutr. 99(6):1286–308. http://dx.doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.113.076133 PMID:24760973
- Scelo G, Riazalhosseini Y, Greger L, Letourneau L, Gonzàlez-Porta M, Wozniak MB, et al. (2014). Variation in genomic landscape of clear cell renal cell carcinoma across Europe. Nat Commun. 5:5135. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ncomms6135 PMID:25351205</u>
- Schinasi L, Leon ME (2014). Non-Hodgkin lymphoma and occupational exposure to agricultural pesticide chemical groups and active ingredients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 11(4):4449–527. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ijerph110404449</u> PMID:24762670
- Schmidt JA, Allen NE, Almquist M, Franceschi S, Rinaldi S, Tipper SJ, et al. (2014). Insulin-like growth factor-i and risk of differentiated thyroid carcinoma in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 23(6):976–85. http://dx.doi.org/10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-13-1210-T PMID:24646451
- Schonfeld SJ, McCormack V, Rutherford MJ, Schüz J (2014). Regional variations in German mesothelioma mortality rates: 2000–2010. Cancer Causes Control. 25(5):615–24. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10552-014-0368-4</u> PMID:24658968
- Schonfeld SJ, Winde F, Albrecht C, Kielkowski D, Liefferink M, Patel M, et al.; workshop participants (2014). Health effects in populations living around the uraniferous gold mine tailings in South Africa: gaps and opportunities for research. Cancer Epidemiol. 38(5):628–32. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.canep.2014.06.003</u> PMID:25023081
- Schüz J (2014). Airline crew cohorts: is there more to learn regarding their cancer risk? Occup Environ Med. 71(5):307. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/oemed-2013-102026 PMID:24627305</u>
- Scoccianti C, Lauby-Secretan B, Bello PY, Chajes V, Romieu I (2014). Female breast cancer and alcohol consumption: a review of the literature. Am J Prev Med. 46(3) Suppl 1:S16–25. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2013.10.031 PMID:24512927
- Seidler A, Brüning T, Taeger D, Möhner M, Gawrych K, Bergmann A, et al. (2014). Cancer incidence among workers occupationally exposed to dinitrotoluene in the copper mining industry. Int Arch Occup Environ Health. 87(2):117–24. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00420-012-0842-9 PMID:23274286</u>

- Seidler A, Harth V, Taeger D, Möhner M, Gawrych K, Bergmann A, et al. (2014). Dinitrotoluene exposure in the copper mining industry and renal cancer: a case-cohort study. Occup Environ Med. 71(4):259– 65. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/oemed-2013-101850</u> PMID:24486554
- Seitz H, Canali E, Ribeiro-Müller L, Pàlfi A, Bolchi A, Tommasino M, et al. (2014). A three component mix of thioredoxin-L2 antigens elicits broadly neutralizing responses against oncogenic human papillomaviruses. Vaccine. 32(22):2610–7. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2014.03.033</u> PMID:24662712
- Shimakawa Y, Bottomley C, Njie R, Mendy M (2014). The association between maternal hepatitis B e antigen status, as a proxy for perinatal transmission, and the risk of hepatitis B e antigenaemia in Gambian children. BMC Public Health. 14(1):532. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-14-532</u> PMID:24885392
- Shu X, Prochazka M, Lannering B, Schüz J, Röösli M, Tynes T, et al. (2014). Atopic conditions and brain tumor risk in children and adolescents–an international case-control study (CEFALO). Ann Oncol. 25(4):902–8. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdu048 PMID:24608192</u>
- Shui IM, Lindström S, Kibel AS, Berndt SI, Campa D, Gerke T, et al. (2014). Prostate cancer (PCa) risk variants and risk of fatal PCa in the National Cancer Institute Breast and Prostate Cancer Cohort Consortium. Eur Urol. 65(6):1069–75. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.eururo.2013.12.058</u> <u>PMID:24411283</u>
- Sieri S, Chiodini P, Agnoli C, Pala V, Berrino F, Trichopoulou A, et al. (2014). Dietary fat intake and development of specific breast cancer subtypes. J Natl Cancer Inst. 106(5):dju068. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/jnci/dju068</u> PMID:24718872
- Simbiri KO, Biddle J, Kinyera T, Were PA, Tenge C, Kawira E, et al. (2014). Burkitt lymphoma research in East Africa: highlights from the 9th African organization for research and training in cancer conference held in Durban, South Africa in 2013. Infect Agent Cancer. 9:32. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1750-9378-9-32</u>
- Siouda M, Frecha C, Accardi R, Yue J, Cuenin C, Gruffat H, et al. (2014). Epstein-Barr virus downregulates tumor suppressor DOK1 expression. PLoS Pathog. 10(5):e1004125. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1004125 PMID:24809689
- Skibola CF, Berndt SI, Vijai J, Conde L, Wang Z, Yeager M, et al. (2014). Genome-wide association study identifies five susceptibility loci for follicular lymphoma outside the HLA region. Am J Hum Genet. 95(4):462–71. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2014.09.004</u> PMID:25279986
- Skyrud KD, Bray F, Møller B (2014). A comparison of relative and cause-specific survival by cancer site, age and time since diagnosis. Int J Cancer. 135(1):196–203. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28645</u> <u>PMID:24302538</u>
- Sovio U, Li J, Aitken Z, Humphreys K, Czene K, Moss S, et al. (2014). Comparison of fully and semiautomated area-based methods for measuring mammographic density and predicting breast cancer risk. Br J Cancer. 110(7):1908–16. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2014.82</u> PMID:24556624
- Steins Bisschop CN, van Gils CH, Emaus MJ, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, Monninkhof EM, Boeing H, et al. (2014). Weight change later in life and colon and rectal cancer risk in participants in the EPIC-PANACEA study. Am J Clin Nutr. 99(1):139–47. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.113.066530</u> <u>PMID:24225355</u>
- Straif K, Loomis D, Guyton K, Grosse Y, Lauby-Secretan B, El Ghissassi F, et al. (2014). Future priorities for the IARC Monographs. Lancet Oncol. 15(7):683–4. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(14)70168-8</u>
- Su Z, Łabaj PP, Li S, Thierry-Mieg J, Thierry-Mieg D, Shi W, et al.; SEQC/MAQC-III Consortium (2014). A comprehensive assessment of RNA-seq accuracy, reproducibility and information content by the Sequencing Quality Control Consortium. Nat Biotechnol. 32(9):903–14. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nbt.2957 PMID:25150838
- Suzuki A, Nobusawa S, Natsume A, Suzuki H, Kim YH, Yokoo H, et al. (2014). Olig2 labeling index is correlated with histological and molecular classifications in low-grade diffuse gliomas. J Neurooncol. 120(2):283–91. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11060-014-1568-1</u> PMID:25085214
- Svensson A, Larsson C, Eiben G, Lanfer A, Pala V, Hebestreit A, et al.; IDEFICS consortium (2014). European children's sugar intake on weekdays versus weekends: the IDEFICS study. Eur J Clin Nutr. 68(7):822–8. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ejcn.2014.87</u> PMID:24824016

- Tang H, Wei P, Duell EJ, Risch HA, Olson SH, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, et al. (2014). Genes-environment interactions in obesity- and diabetes-associated pancreatic cancer: a GWAS data analysis. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 23(1):98–106. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-13-0437-T</u> <u>PMID:24136929</u>
- Tang H, Wei P, Duell EJ, Risch HA, Olson SH, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, et al. (2014). Axonal guidance signaling pathway interacting with smoking in modifying the risk of pancreatic cancer: a gene- and pathway-based interaction analysis of GWAS data. Carcinogenesis. 35(5):1039–45. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/carcin/bgu010 PMID:24419231
- Tao MH, Zhou J, Rialdi AP, Martinez R, Dabek J, Scelo G, et al. (2014). Indoor air pollution from solid fuels and peripheral blood DNA methylation: findings from a population study in Warsaw, Poland. Environ Res. 134:325–30. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2014.08.017</u> <u>PMID:25199973</u>
- Tapias A, Zhou ZW, Shi Y, Chong Z, Wang P, Groth M, et al. (2014). Trrap-dependent histone acetylation specifically regulates cell-cycle gene transcription to control neural progenitor fate decisions. Cell Stem Cell. 14(5):632–43. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2014.04.001</u> PMID:24792116
- Tchounga BK, Jaquet A, Coffie PA, Horo A, Sauvaget C, Adoubi I, et al. (2014). Cervical cancer prevention in reproductive health services: knowledge, attitudes and practices of midwives in Côte d'Ivoire, West Africa. BMC Health Serv Res. 14(1):165. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-14-165</u> <u>PMID:24721621</u>
- Tikk K, Sookthai D, Johnson T, Rinaldi S, Romieu I, Tjønneland A, et al. (2014). Circulating prolactin and breast cancer risk among pre- and postmenopausal women in the EPIC cohort. Ann Oncol. 25(7):1422–8. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdu150</u> <u>PMID:24718887</u>
- Toll A, Lloveras B, Masferrer E, Ferrándiz-Pulido C, García-Patos V, Gheit T, et al. (2014). Human beta papillomavirus DNA study in primary cutaneous squamous cell carcinomas and their corresponding metastases. Arch Dermatol Res. 306(1):93–5. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00403-013-1424-8</u> PMID:24173126
- Tommasino M (2014). The human papillomavirus family and its role in carcinogenesis. Semin Cancer Biol. 26:13–21. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.semcancer.2013.11.002</u> PMID:24316445
- Tshomo U, Franceschi S, Dorji D, Baussano I, Tenet V, Snijders PJ, et al. (2014). Human papillomavirus infection in Bhutan at the moment of implementation of a national HPV vaccination programme. BMC Infect Dis. 14(1):408. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2334-14-408</u> <u>PMID:25047665</u>
- Turati F, Trichopoulos D, Polesel J, Bravi F, Rossi M, Talamini R, et al. (2014). Mediterranean diet and hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol. 60(3):606–11. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jhep.2013.10.034</u> PMID:24240052
- Turner MC, Benke G, Bowman JD, Figuerola J, Fleming S, Hours M, et al. (2014). Occupational exposure to extremely low-frequency magnetic fields and brain tumor risks in the INTEROCC study. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 23(9):1863–72. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-14-0102</u> <u>PMID:24935666</u>
- Vaccarella S, Franceschi S, Engholm G, Lönnberg S, Khan S, Bray F (2014). 50 years of screening in the Nordic countries: quantifying the effects on cervical cancer incidence. Br J Cancer. 111(5):965–9. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2014.362 PMID:24992581</u>
- Valery PC, Moore SP, Meiklejohn J, Bray F (2014). International variations in childhood cancer in indigenous populations: a systematic review. Lancet Oncol. 15(2):e90–103. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(13)70553-9</u> PMID:24480559
- van den Broek EC, Liu L, Posthuma EF, Janssen-Heijnen ML, Coebergh JW, Soerjomataram I (2014). Increased risk of chronic lymphocytic leukaemia among cancer survivors in the Netherlands: increased detection, causal factors or both? Ann Hematol. 93(1):157–62. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00277-013-1929-4 PMID:24381068</u>
- van Nielen M, Feskens EJ, Mensink M, Sluijs I, Molina E, Amiano P, et al.; InterAct Consortium (2014). Dietary protein intake and incidence of type 2 diabetes in Europe: the EPIC-InterAct Case-Cohort Study. Diabetes Care. 37(7):1854–62. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2337/dc13-2627</u> <u>PMID:24722499</u>
- Vanaelst B, Michels N, Clays E, Herrmann D, Huybrechts I, Sioen I, et al. (2014). The association between childhood stress and body composition, and the role of stress-related lifestyle factors–cross-sectional findings from the baseline ChiBSD survey. Int J Behav Med. 21(2):292–301. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12529-013-9294-1 PMID:23377786
- Vereecken C, Covents M, Huybrechts I, Kelly C, Maes L (2014). Changes in children's food group intake from age 3 to 7 years: comparison of a FFQ with an online food record. Br J Nutr. 112(2):269–76. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0007114514000762 PMID:24780104</u>

- Vermeulen R, Silverman DT, Garshick E, Vlaanderen J, Portengen L, Steenland K (2014). Exposureresponse estimates for diesel engine exhaust and lung cancer mortality based on data from three occupational cohorts. Environ Health Perspect. 122(2):172–7. <u>PMID:24273233</u>
- Villeneuve PJ, Jerrett M, Brenner D, Su J, Chen H, McLaughlin JR (2014). A case-control study of longterm exposure to ambient volatile organic compounds and lung cancer in Toronto, Ontario, Canada. Am J Epidemiol. 179(4):443–51. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwt289 PMID:24287467</u>
- Villeneuve PJ, Jerrett M, Brenner D, Su J, Chen H, McLaughlin JR (2014). Villeneuve et al. Respond to "impact of air pollution on lung cancer". Am J Epidemiol. 179(4):455–6. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwt291 PMID:24287469
- Vineis P, Wild CP (2014). Global cancer patterns: causes and prevention. Lancet. 383(9916):549–57. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)62224-2 PMID:24351322
- Vlaanderen J, Portengen L, Schüz J, Olsson A, Pesch B, Kendzia B, et al. (2014). Effect modification of the association of cumulative exposure and cancer risk by intensity of exposure and time since exposure cessation: a flexible method applied to cigarette smoking and lung cancer in the SYNERGY Study. Am J Epidemiol. 179(3):290–8. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwt273 PMID:24355332</u>
- Vlaanderen J, Straif K, Ruder A, Blair A, Hansen J, Lynge E, et al. (2014). Tetrachloroethylene exposure and bladder cancer risk: a meta-analysis of dry-cleaning-worker studies. Environ Health Perspect. 122(7):661–6. <u>PMID:24659585</u>
- Vorsters A, Van Damme P, Clifford G (2014). Urine testing for HPV: rationale for using first void. BMJ. 349:g6252. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmj.g6252</u> PMID:25319476
- Vyncke K, Huybrechts I, Van Winckel M, Cuenca Garcia M, Labayen I, Gottrand F, et al. (2014). Dietary lipid intake only partially influences variance in serum phospholipid fatty acid composition in adolescents: impact of other dietary factors. Lipids. 49(9):881–93. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11745-014-3935-2 PMID:25119486</u>
- Wang N, Tikellis G, Sun C, Pezic A, Wang L, Wells JC, et al. (2014). The effect of maternal prenatal smoking and alcohol consumption on the placenta-to-birth weight ratio. Placenta. 35(7):437–41. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.placenta.2014.04.006 PMID:24816479
- Wang Y, McKay JD, Rafnar T, Wang Z, Timofeeva MN, Broderick P, et al. (2014). Rare variants of large effect in *BRCA2* and *CHEK2* affect risk of lung cancer. Nat Genet. 46(7):736–41. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ng.3002</u> <u>PMID:24880342</u>
- Weiderpass E, Antoine J, Bray FI, Oh JK, Arbyn M (2014). Trends in corpus uteri cancer mortality in member states of the European Union. Eur J Cancer. 50(9):1675–84. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2014.02.020</u> PMID:24656568
- Wild CP (2014). Cancer control: a reminder of the need for a balanced approach between prevention and treatment. East Mediterr Health J. 20(6):360–2. <u>PMID:24960511</u>
- Wolpin BM, Rizzato C, Kraft P, Kooperberg C, Petersen GM, Wang Z, et al. (2014). Genome-wide association study identifies multiple susceptibility loci for pancreatic cancer. Nat Genet. 46(9):994– 1000. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ng.3052</u> PMID:25086665
- Wu C, Kraft P, Stolzenberg-Solomon R, Steplowski E, Brotzman M, Xu M, et al. (2014). Genome-wide association study of survival in patients with pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Gut. 63(1):152–60. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2012-303477</u> PMID:23180869
- Xu QF, Pan YW, Li LC, Zhou Z, Huang QL, Pang JC, et al. (2014). MiR-22 is frequently downregulated in medulloblastomas and inhibits cell proliferation via the novel target *PAPST1*. Brain Pathol. 24(6):568–83. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/bpa.12136</u> <u>PMID:24576181</u>
- Zamora-Ros R, Forouhi NG, Sharp SJ, González CA, Buijsse B, Guevara M, et al. (2014). Dietary intakes of individual flavanols and flavonols are inversely associated with incident type 2 diabetes in European populations. J Nutr. 144(3):335–43. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3945/jn.113.184945</u> <u>PMID:24368432</u>
- Zamora-Ros R, Luján-Barroso L, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, Dik VK, Boeing H, Steffen A, et al. (2014). Tea and coffee consumption and risk of esophageal cancer: the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition study. Int J Cancer. 135(6):1470–9. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28789</u> <u>PMID:24535727</u>
- Zamora-Ros R, Sacerdote C, Ricceri F, Weiderpass E, Roswall N, Buckland G, et al. (2014). Flavonoid and lignan intake in relation to bladder cancer risk in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) study. Br J Cancer. 111(9):1870–80. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2014.459</u> PMID:25121955

- Zamora-Ros R, Touillaud M, Rothwell JA, Romieu I, Scalbert A (2014). Measuring exposure to the polyphenol metabolome in observational epidemiologic studies: current tools and applications and their limits. Am J Clin Nutr. 100(1):11–26. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.113.077743</u> PMID:24787490
- Zaridze D, Lewington S, Boroda A, Scélo G, Karpov R, Lazarev A, et al. (2014). Alcohol and mortality in Russia: prospective observational study of 151,000 adults. Lancet. 383(9927):1465–73. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)62247-3 PMID:24486187
- Zheng W, McLerran DF, Rolland BA, Fu Z, Boffetta P, He J, et al. (2014). Burden of total and causespecific mortality related to tobacco smoking among adults aged 45 years in Asia: a pooled analysis of 21 cohorts. PLoS Med. 11(4):e1001631. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001631</u> <u>PMID:24756146</u>
- Znaor A, Lortet-Tieulent J, Jemal A, Bray F (2014). International variations and trends in testicular cancer incidence and mortality. Eur Urol. 65(6):1095–106. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.eururo.2013.11.004</u> <u>PMID:24268506</u>